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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caled,onia

11-15 September 2006
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Agenda Item 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda Item 4: Action Taken on Matters Arising from Sixteenth SPREP Meeting

Agenda Item 5: Performance Review/Overview of Developments in 2005

5.1 Presentation of Annual Report for 2005 and Director's Overview of Progress
since the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting

5.2 Performance Monitoring and Evaluation Report on the 2005 Annual Work
Programme and Budget

5.3 Financial Reports

5.3.1 Report on Members' Contributions
5.3.2 Audited Annual Accounts for 2005

Agenda Item 6: StaffRemuneration - Triennial Reviews

6.1 Triennial CROP Remuneration Review on Professional Staff

6.2 Triennial Remuneration Review on Support Staff

Agenda Item 7: Regional Conventions

7.1, Report of the Conference of Plenipotentiaries of the SPREP
Convention

7.2 Report of the Joint Conference of the Parties of the Noumea
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 2: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair

;

Purpose of Paper

I . The " Rules of Procedure of the SPREP Meeting" (Rules 8.1 and 8.2), provides that
where the Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall rotate alphabetically, and

, where the Meeting is not hosted by the Secretariat, the Chair shall be provided by the host
country.

' 2. Accordingly, the Chair of the Seventeenth SPREP Meeting shall be New
Caledonia, the host country.

3. Rule 8.3 also provide that the Vice-Chair shall rotate alphabetically whether or not
the Meeting is hosted by the Secretariat. The Vice-Chair of the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
was Niue. Under the principle of alphabetical rotation, therefore, Northern Mariana
Islands should be appointed Vice-Chair of the Seventeenth SPREP Meeting.

' Recommendation
I

4. The Meeting is invited to:

13 June 2006

@
SPREP



@
SPREP

lTStWOfficials/lVP.3
Page I

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonio

1,1-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 3: Adoption of Agenda and Working Procedures

Agenda

l. The Revised Provisional Agenda appears in the Working Paper documentation as

I TSIv[/Offi cials/Provisional Agenda/Rev. L

Ifours of Work

2. Suggested hours of work for the Meeting are contained in the attached
( 1 TSIWOffi cials/WP. 3/Att. I ).

Sub-committees

3. A Report Drafting Committee would need to be appointed to assist with the
preparation of the report of the Meeting. While the membership of the Committee is open-
ended it should comprise a core of 5 or 6 members at least one of which should be from a
French speaking member. The Vice-Chair would chair the Report Drafting Committee.

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

l3 June 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nountea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 4: Action Taken on Decisions Made by
Sixteenth SPREP Meeting

Purpose ofPaper

I . To report on action taken on the decisions of the 16e SPREP Meeting as outlined below.

Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Item 7.1.1:
Island Biodiversity
Programme of Work

223 The Meeting:
(i) Endorsed the approach ofthe Secretariat

in supporting the ongoing development
of the IBPOW and in its strategy to
support its implementation;

(ii) Noted the upcoming CBD Pacific
preparatory meeting and COP meeting as

opportunities for Pacific input to further
the IBPOW;

(iii) Recognised that biodiversity is a

fundamental underpinning of island
well-being, productive lifestyles and
livelihoods, and that the rate of loss of
species in the Pacific is currortly among
the highest in the world; and

(iv) Commended the proposed new IBPOW,
recognising the important contribution it
will make to support the Pacific region's
goal of sigrrificantly reducing the rate of
loss ofbiodiversity.

The Secretariat organised a

regional preparatory meeting,
produced a draft Pacific brief and
led by the Director attended COPS
of CBD to provide support to the
very high level and effective
representation by the region.

The IBPOW took on board many
recommendations from PICs and
has now been formally
incorporated by the CBD
Secretariat and efforts both by
Pacific islands Parties and the
SPREP Secretariat should now
focus on having the IBPOW
effectively irnplernented.

This issue will again be addressed
more substantively in a later
agarda items and at the Ministers
Segment.

Item 7.1.4:
SPREP/Convention

for Migratory Species
Secretariat
collaboration to
Assist PICTs on
Marine Mammals

269 The Meeting:
(i) Endorsed the joint SPREP/CMS process

to date towards the development of a

CMS MoU for the Conservation of
Cetaceans and their Habitats in the
Pacific Islands Region;

Provided advise to the CMS
Segretariat on comments received
towards finalization of the MoU.
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

(ii) Agreed to forward official coilrments on
the MoU no later than tbe 30 October
2005 deadline;

(iii) Directed the Secretariat to progress
regional arrangements for dugongs and
marine turtles including under the
auspices of the CMS; and

(vi) Noted progress for the Year of the Sea

Turtle 2006.

Facilitated timely receipt of
commsnts frorn mernbers. All
official comments received from
members and otha organizations
promptly forwarded to the CMS
Secretariat.

Ensured participation of all
SPREP dugong rang€ stat€s and
territories in the Second Meeting
on the MoU for Dugong
Conservation and Managonent
under CMS, 15-18 May 2006,
Bangkok, Thailand.

Collaboration with Australia and
CMS Secretariat to conduct first
meeting to negotiate a turtle
conservation arrangement under
CMS in the Pacific.

Secured funding to assist members
to participate in this meeting.

. Year of the Sea Turtle (YOST)
Campaigr regional Coordinating
Committee established and
Campaign PIan finalized;

. Secured funding for YOST
activities;

. Year of the Sea Turtle campaign
successfully launched as

planned on I March 2006;
r Developed/produced/distributed

YOST campaign material;
. Assistance provided for national

launches;
. Secured short-term intern

position as campaign
coordinator.

Item: 7.2.1:
Climate Change
/ssues

303 The Meeting:
(i) Endorsed the Pacific Islands

Framework for Action on Climate
Change 2006-2015 to be forwarded to
the Pacific Forum Leaders in 2005;

(ii) Endorsed the Regional Meteorological
Directors Meeting's Alofi Statement
2005 for the Secretariat to bring to the
attention of the Pacific Forum Leaders
in 2005;

The Pacific Islands Framework for
Action on Climate Change 2006 -
2015 had been endorsed by the
Pacific Forum Leaders in 2005.

The Alofi Statement was

submitted by SPREP for
consideration at the Pacific Forum
Leaders.
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

(iii) Noted with appreciation the effective
partnership between SPREP, UNDP,
GEF and the PICs on sourcing funds
for regional greenhouse gas mitigation
activities and r€quest a continued
partnership to source more funds for
more regional and national greenhouse
gas mitigation activities;

(iv) Noted the work done by the Secretariat
to progress Second National
Communications;

(u) Endorsed the need for adaptation for
local communities to be further
continued and request other
development partners to assist with the
continuation of adaptation
implementation;

(vi) Endorsed the need for effective Pacific
islands representation to tbe 12

Conference of the Parties to the
UNFCCC and its Kyoto Protocol and
the proposed preparatory workshop
being planned by the Secretariat in this
regard; and

(vii) Agreed with the need for the work of
the Secretariat to complete the current
phase of the Pacific ODS Froject and
request participating countries to
establish and implement ODS
regulations within the extended
timeframe.

The PIGGAREP Project
Document (US$s.224 million) was
cornpleted and submitted for the
final endorsernent of the CEO of
the GEF Secretariat.

Assistance was provided to RMI
to draft their US$l million
Operational Programme 6 (OP6)
Medium Size Project (MSP).
Proposal has been submitted to the
GEF Secretariat.

A concept paper was drafted for a
OP 5 MSP for the Solomon Is.

Current discussions are underway
to draft a proposal for Tonga to be
funded under the European
Union's Energy Initiative.

Countries were assisted to carry
out their Stocktaking and Froposal
Developmant for their Second
National Communication.

The CIDA/SPREP CBDAMPIC
Project has been successfully
completed and a follow-up
adaptation implementation project
is currently being developed
collaboratively with UNDP.

The Preparatory Workshop for the
I l' UNFCCC COP had been
carried out and PIC representatives
were well equipped to negotiate
critical issues for PICs at the COP.

FSM - Regulations approval in
process to Congress via hesident.

Kiribati - ODS Bill is dependent
on the Environment Bill which is
expected to be passed at end of
2006.

Palau - Ozone Layer protection
Regulations established in 2005.
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Solomon Islands Move to
repositioning the existing draft of
the ODS regulations under the
Work and Safety Act to the
Customs and Excise Act.

Tonga - Draft Bill completed. Is
still pending approval by
Parliament.

Tuvalu - Drafting of Bill is still in
process with the Attomey Generals
Office.

Vanuatu - Currerrt reports indicate
a lack of information on tlre exact
status ofthis progress since 2004.
Attempts to make contact have
beer made.

Cook Islands (new member) -
Active consultation in process.

Niue (new member) - first draft
cornpleted.

Nauru (new member) - active
consultation in process.

Item7.2.2:
Strategt for Solid
Waste Management
in PaciJic Island
Counlries and
Territories

333 The Meeting:
(i) Endorsed the draft Strategy for Solid

Waste Management in Pacific Island
Countries and Territories; and,

2 Senior waste officers from each

SPREP member were sponsored
by JICA and NZAID to Apia to
draft the implernentation Waste
Action Plan. All members
attended with the exception of
CNMI, Guam, New Caledcnia and
French Polynesia. Observers from
JICA, NZ, WHO and IH (Aust
NGO) also assisted in production
of the Waste Action Plan.

(ii) Committed itself and all Members to
fully support and participate in
implementing the activities contained in
the sffategy

Waste Action Plan, and guidelines
on Asbestos (as requested by
Mue) and other waste issues have

besn distributed. These have also
beer made available through the
SPREP waste website.

Country visits to follow up have

commenced - with country visits
to Tuvalu and Tonga. More are

now being planned.
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Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Item 7.2.3:
Increasing
Integration of PactJic
Island Temitories
into the lVork
Programtne of the
Secretariat

340 The Meeting:
(i) Noted the report of the Meeting with the

territories;
(ii) Urged the Secretariat to pursue efforts in

promoting $eatsr involvernent of the
Pacific island territories in the work
programme of SPREP; and

(iii) Requested the Secretariat to report to the
next SPREP meeting on the steps

undertaken to address the identified
opportunities and mechanisms for
greater involvement and participation of
the Pacific island territories into the
work programme of SPREP.

The Secretariat has redoubled its
efforts to involve as much as

possible Pacific island tenitories
across the range of its work
programmes and a detailed paper
will be tabled under a separate
agenda item.

Item 7.4:
Consideration and
Approval of
Proposed Work
Programme and
Budgetfor 2006 and
Indicative Budgets

for 2007 and 2008

352 The representative of Samoa commended the
improvernents in the budget and suggested

an exha column be added to the schedule on
page 3 to allow the Secretariat to report the
current year's financial out turn as well as a
proiection to the year's end.

This has now been incorporated
into the proposed 2007 Work
Programme and Budget.357 The Secretariat also took on board the

suggestion by Samoa to improve page three
of the work programme and budget; and will
work towards including this in future
budgets.

Item 8.2:
Proposed Procedures

for Reappointment of
Incumbent Directors
in the Future

387 The Chair thanked Australia for the
commsnts. He conceded that it is good to
take stock ofissues and look at evaluation at
a regular basis, especially in situations that
are difficult to appraise. He suggested taking
on board comments by Australia and asked

the Meeting to consider setting up a working
group to develop a process for evaluating the

work of the Director. The process would be

submitted to the next SPREP meeting for
consideration by Members.

Australia has advised that it would
table an information paper on this
at the l7s SPREP Meeting.388 The Meeting agreed:

(i) To establish a working group facilitated
through email by Australia and a core
group comprising Samoa, Tonga, FSM,
French Polynesia and any other
interested Members to allow
consideration of a system for evaluating
the Direclor's performance and to report
to the 176 SPREP Meeting; and

(ii) That on the second year of the Director's
first term, the Members evaluate his/her
performance and decide on whether to
offer a second term or advertise the post.



l6SlWOfficialsA;llP.4
Page 6

Recommendation

2. The Meeting is invited to:

Meeting.

Agenda Topic Report
Paragraph
Number

Matters Arising Action Taken

Item l0: Items
Proposed by Members

Members' Reporting
on National Activities

413 The Chair proposed that the next SPREP
Meeting would be a forum to discuss a
mechanism for developing and presanting
Members' reports and decide on a therne for
the l8th SPREP Meerine.

The Secretariat will prepare a
short background paper on this for
the l7'n SPREP Meeting.

under SPREP Action
Plan (NZ)

415 The Meeting endorsed the proposal for the
next meeting.

Future of the Apia
Convention
(Austalia)

418 The representative ofAustralia proposed that
the Apia Convention be examined. He said
that, although innovafive when first
introduced, the issues it covers are now also
covered by the Convention on Biological
Diversity (CBD) with the GEF as the main
financial mechanism. In the lead-up to the
l7'h SPREP meeting, Members were
requested to indicate or confirm their support
for a review of the Apia Convention. If the
Convention was considered no longer
relevant, then the Parties might support its
folding and focus instead on supporting
SPREP's work Drosrammes.

This matter will be addressed at
the biennial Meeting of the Parties
to the Apia Convention scheduled
to meet prior to the 176 SPREP
Meeting and its report will be
available to the SPREP Meeting.

421 The Chair summarised that, given the small
number of parties to the Convention and the
fact that many of the issues are covered
through the CBD, there may no longer be a
reason to keep it working, He encouraged
Members to consider this issue in the lead-up
to the next Conference of the Parties in 2006.

GEF Position in
SPREP (Niue)

434 The Director responded that following from
the CEF-OPS 3 rer.iew and the request from
its Members for a GEF position within the
Secretariat, the Secretariat has been in
consultation with bilateral donors. The
Director reported that the GEF has responded
positively in support of this position. The
Secretariat is currently awaiting feedback
from the GEF and the donors and hopes this
might come into fruition early in 2006.

Negotiations are confinuing with
the GEF and Ausaid and NZaid
which have indicated a willingness
to fund the GEF post.

Mernbers will be kept informed of
developments. Positive progress

had been made.

4 June 2006



l7SlWOfficialslfrIP.5.l
Page I

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC RECIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 5.1: Presentation of the Director's Annual Report for 2005 and
Overview of Progress since the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting

Purpose of the Paper

1. To table the Director's Annual Report for 2005 and to present his Overwiew of
progress since the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting.

Comment

2. The Annual Report for 2005 is attached. The Director will verbally present his
Overview, a copy of which will be distributed immediately following his presentation.
As well as providing an overview on progress, the Director's presentation is also
intended to alert Members to emerging issues and trends and to raise matters on which
he and the Secretariat will need further direction and advice.

Recommendation

3. The Meeting is invited to:

comment as necessary on the issues raised by the Director in his Overview;

provide any necessary advice and direction to the Secretariat; and

adopt the 2005 Annual Report.

04 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 5.2: Performance Monitoring and Evaluation Report (PMER)

on the 2005 Work Programme and Budget

Purpose of Paper

1. To present to the Meeting the Secretariat's internal monitoring and evaluation of
its work programme performance for 2005.

Background

2. The SPREP Meeting (SM) Rules of Procedure require that the Secretariat
include in the SM agenda "a review by the Secretariat of progress with the

implementation of the SPREP work prografirme..." The Performance Monitoring and

Evaluation Report however does not only serve to meet this requirement but it also

enables the Secretariat itself particularly its Executive and Managers to identiff areas

where it would need to improve as well as emerging issues and challenges. This
experience guides the formulation of work progranrmes and budgets for ensuing years.

3. The report provides details of what had been achieved under each prograrrme
and each output and performance indicator set for those outputs comprising the

Secretariat's work programme for the year 2005. These outputs and performance
indicators are drawn from the Secretariat's Strategic Programmes approved by the 2004
SPREP Meeting in Tahiti. The Strategic Programmes represent the Secretariat's
contribution to achieving the Outcomes of the Region's Action Plan for Managing the

Environment of the Pacific Islands Region (2005 - 2009) also approved in Tatriti. The
perforrnance monitoring and evaluation report is contained in Attachment l.

3. This evaluation is useful for management, members and donors. The
Secretariat's intention is that with available funding in the future this internal
assessment would be supplemented with independent evaluations of aspects of its work
on a rolling basis.

Recommendation

4. The Meeting is invited to:

2 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumna, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 5.3.1 : Report on Members'Contributions

Purpose of Paper

1. To report to the Meeting on the receipt of Members' contributions.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 14 requires the Director to submit to each SPREP Meeting a

report on the receipt of Members' contributions. This report provides an update on the
status of Members' contributions received in 2006, (up to 30 June) as well as sharing the
status of members' contributions as at the end of 2005.

Members' Contributions received in 2005 and 2006 (to 30 June 2006)

3. Attached for members' information is a statement, which shows the amounts due
from respective members as at 30 June 2006. Total contributions outstanding as at 30 June
2006 is USD$754,358, made up of USD$324,210 unpaid as at the end of 2005 for that
year and prior years and USD$430,148 for 2006 contributions.

4. As the table indicate, a total of USD$929,845 was received by the Secretariat in
2005 leaving a balance USD$324,210 of unpaid conhibution as at 31 Decernber 2005.

5. Contributions due for 2006, is $935,572 and so far this year, (as at 30 June 2006),
the Secretariat has received only US$505,424 in respect of 2006 and prior years unpaid
contributions.
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Outstandin g Contributions:

6. Other than members with small adjusting balances, the following member
countries are in arrears as at l0 July 2006 for both 2006 and prior years contributions:

Member Country
2005 and
prior year
liabilities

2006
contributions

payable

Payments to 30-
Jun-O6

Balance as at
30-Jun-06

American Samoa 0 l0,l 84 (5,092) 5,092

Cook Islands 0 10,184 10,184

FSM 2,625 10, I 84 (2,625) 10,184

FUi 0 20,360 (l I,146) 9,214

French Polynesia 0 20,360 20,360

Guam 0 20,360 20,360

Kiribati 3l 10, I 84 10,215

Marshall Islands 10,184 10,184 20,368

Nauru 128,051 10,184 138,235

New Caledonia 1,189 20,360 21,549

Niue 10,185 10,184 20,369

Nth Marianas 37,112 10,184 47,296

Palau 10,185 10,184 20,369

Papua New Guinea 20,708 20,360 41,068

Samoa 0 20,360 20,360

Solomon Islands 83,763 20,360 104,123

Tokelau 0 10,184 1 0,1 84

Tonga 0 10,184 10, I 84

USA (1,213) 186,787 185,574

Wallis & Futuna 18,999 10,184 29,183

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

arrears in full in 2006

I I July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPRE P Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 5.3.2: Audited Annual Accounts for 2005

Purpose of Paper

l. To present the Audited Annual Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2005.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 27(e) requires the Director to submit audited financial
statements to the SPREP Meeting, while Regulations 30-32 prescribes the manner in
which the financial statements are to be presented and audited. Financial Regulation 33

requires the Director to circulate to each SPREP Meeting, the Auditors Report on the
financial operations of SPREP, together with such remarks as the Director may wish to
offer, prior to the SPREP Meeting.

3. The audited Financial Statements for the year ended 3l December 2005 have
been prepared in accordanse with the Financial Regulations and comprise the following
documents:

. Audit Opinion

. Balance Sheet
o Income and Expenditure Statement
. Statement of Cash Flows
r Notes and Supporting Papers to the Accounts
o Auditors' Report to Management

4. The auditors' report provide a clean and unqualified opinion of the Secretariat's
financial operations.

Recommendation

5. The Meeting is invited to:

I 3 June 2006
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AUDTTORS'REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME
(SPREP)

We have audited the financial statements of SPREP as set out on pages 3 to 11, for the

year ended 3L December 2005. The financial statemenb provide information on the

iinanciat perforrrance of the organisatiory and ib financial position as at 31 December

2005.

Management responsibilities
lhe nianagem.ni is responsible for the preparation and Presentation of- the financial

statements that comply with generally accepted accounting practice, and that gives a

true and fair view oi the financial position of SPREP as at 3L December 2005, and its

financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

Auditors responsibilities
It is our responsibility to express an independent opinion on the financial statements

presented by managerrent, and to report our opinion to you.

Lesd ms Penn
Lesama Pcon Conpormd
Fugalei Suect by ttle Bridgc
Fugalei

PO Bor 1599

Apia, Samoa

Basis of Opinion
An audit indudes examining on a test basis, evidence relevant to
disclosures in the financial statements. It also indudes assessing:

Teleplrooe: (685) 20321
(68s)203?2

Fax: (685)23722
(6E5) 21335

&nail: lcsrpenn@;saooa.rrs

the amounts, and

o The significant estimates and judgements made by management in the preparation
of the financial statements; and

. Whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the

organisatioru consistently applied and adequately disdosed.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. We

planned and perforrred our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations,

-t ictr we considered necessary to provide us with sufficient evidence, to grve

reasonable assurance that the financiat statements are free from material misstatemmts,
whether caused by fraud and error. ln forndng our opinion, we also evaluated the

overall adequary of the presmtation of inforrration in the financial statements.

Specific reporting requirmrents
In accordance with the specific audit reporting requiremmts of SPREPs Financial

Regulation 32 (a) to (0, we report as follows:



(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

extent and character of examination is as explained in the section above under

the heading "Basis of OPinion" ,.

matters affecting the completeness and accuracy of the accounb, refer to our

report to management which is attached, titled Management report.

the accurary or otherwise of the supplies and equipment records as detemrined

by stocktaking and examination of the records. The fixed assets register has been

completed foltowing the physical count of all SPREP assets carried out in August

2005.

financial procedures of SPREP induding internal controls and adherence to dr#t
financial procedures are satisfactory. The Draft Financial Rules and Procedures

Manual lbfnnU;, Administration Manual and Desk Files are currenfly being

revised by the organization and should be completed by the end of 2006.

the adequacy of influance cover for the buildings, stotes, fumiture, equipment

and other property of SPREP. lnzurance cover for buildings, furnihrre,

equipment and other property is adequate.

Other mattets, the matters raised in our report to management have been

addressed.

We also examined on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounb of funds received by

the Organization from NZAID and AUSAID. We confinn that funds were spent in
accordance with the Memorandum Of Understandi"g MOU) signed between the

respective parties.

Unqualified Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of Ure Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP) as of

31 December 2005, and of the results of its operations for the year then ended in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and in accordance with the

SPREP Financial Regulations as amended.

Our audit was completed on 25 Aprrl2005 and our opinion is expressed as at that date.

4d*b
Apia, Samoa Certified Public Accountants

(")

(0



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

2004
$

4,620,716

4,620,716

791,543
5,464,977

123,172

6,379,592

$11,000,309

501,425
4,591,313

799,892

5,992,630

70,905

70,805

1,810,935
722,001

2,503,937

5,036,873

$11,ooo,3og

NON.CURRENT ASSETS

Property, Plant and Equipment

Total Non-Current Assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash at Bank and on Hand
Bank Term Deposits
Accounts Receivables

Total Gurrent Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

REPRESENTED BY:

FUNDS AND RESERVES
Reserve Fund
Capital Reserve
Exchange Variation Reserve

Total Funds and Reseryes

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred lncome

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Advance Funding
Creditors and Accruals
Programme & Core Funds

2005
$

4,683,707

4,683,707

540,496
3,751,694

86,203

4,379,393

$9,062,090

501,425
4,591,313

583,468

5,676,206

70,805

70,805

702,966
2,612,113

3,315,079

_99,062,09O_

4
5
6

7

I
9

10

11

12
13

The balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements, which
form an integral part of the financial statements.



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

2004
Actual

$
1,036,202

282,062
16,761

267,761

125,593
665,126

2,393,505

(1,748,750)

(1,748,750)

644,755
124,697

(269,1 13)

500,339

6,052,231

(6,087,685)

(6,087,685)

(35,454)
1,769,939

1,734,485
269,113

2,003,598
500,339

2005
Actual

$

Notes

929,846
386,946

290,873
1,963

50,627
98,777

1,759,932

(1,646,064) 15116

(1,646,064)

112,868
500,339

613,207

5,573,613

(5,578,3O5) 15/16

(5,578,305)

(4,6e21
2,003,598

1,998,906

1,998,906
613,207

$2,612,113

TCORE FUNDS
INCOME
Members Contribution
Program me Management Charge
Exchange Gain
lnterest
Gain on sale of Fixed Assets
Other income
Donor Funds

TOTAL INCOME

EXPENDITURE
Executive Management & Corporate Support

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

EXCESS OF TNCOME(EXPENDTTURE)
Executive Mgt & Corp Support funds from prior years
Programme Funds held under Exec Mgt & Corp Support

Funds to be carried forward

PROGRAMME FUNDS
Funds received during the year

EXPENDITURE
Program me lmplementation

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Excess of expenditure over funds received
Programme funds brought forward from prior year

Programme funds brought forward from prior year

Programme Funds at year end
Core Funds at year end

TOTAL FUNDS TO BE CARRIED FORWARD

14

_$?f9!f9z-

The income and expenditure statement should be read in conjunction with the notes to financial
statement, which form an integral part of the financial statements.



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGR^AMME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3t DECEMBER 2OO5

2004
$

8,528,292
1,036,202

282,062
255,075
142,354

10,243,985

(2,372,979)
(5,334,082)

_2,537,O24

(54,687)

(54,687)

2,492,337

3,774,093

$6,256,420

791,543

5,464,977

_s6,2s6,139_

cAsH FLOWS FROM(TO) OPERATTNG ACTtVtTtES

INFLOWS
Donor Funds
Members Contributions
Program Management Charge
lnterest receipts
Miscellaneous receipts

OUTFLOWS
Salaries and related costs
Other operating expenses

Net Cash Flows provided to Operating Activities

GASH FLOWS FROM(TO) TNVEST|NG ACTtVtTtES

INFLOWS
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment

OUTFLOWS
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Net Gash Flows provided to Investing Activities

Net (Decrease)/lncrease in cash held

Cash at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at year end

Represented By:
Cash on hand and at banks

Term deposits

Cash at end of year

2005
$

5,672,390
929,846
396,946
299,994
134,163

7,422,339

(2,528,789)
(6,694,288)

17,496

(180,988)

(163,502)

(1,964,240)

6,256,420

_i4,?g2J80

540,486

3,751,694

_q4,2%1gg_

I



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following summary of significant accounting policies is given in order to assist in understanding
(a) Accounting System

(i) The financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical costs and do
not take into account current valuation of non-current assets.

(ii) The concepts of the accrual method and going concern basis of accounting are
applied.

(iii) The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting standards
and disclosure requirements of the International Accounting Standards, except
where stated otherwise.

(iv) All amount shown in the financial statements are expressed in US dollars.

The Secretariat has adopted a fund accounting system, as considerable part of its
annual fund, comprises of aid funds for specified projects and programmes.

The identification of funds is maintained throughout the accounting system thus
providing the control necessary to ensure that each fund is used only for the purpose,
which it is received.

Depreciation
Fixed Assets are not being depreciated as from 2003 to coincide with the Fund
Accounting policy and to recognise the fact that to replace and maintain the fixed
assets expenditure, provisions are included in the annual budget.

Comparative Figures
The 2004 audited Income and Expenditure have been reclassified to conform to the
changes in presentation of accounts into programmes in the current financial year as
per 2005 financial regulations. The 2004 Income and Expenditure had been presented
in functions; Project lmplementation, Project Management and Primary Function.

Foreig n Currency Transactions
Allforeign currency transactions during 2005 have been brought to account using
the bank exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. Realised exchange
gain/losses on term deposits matured during the year have been taken to the
statement of income and expenditure. Foreign currency monetary items at balance
date are translated at the closing exchange rate existing at that date.

Unrealised exchange gains and losses, arising on translation of monetary items
at balance sheet date are taken to the Exchange Variation Reserve to accommodate
future losses or gains due to fluctuation of rates in the foreign currency market. The
decrease In the exchange variation reserve in 2005-year was due to the weakening
of various currencies used for operations against the United States currency.

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

t



SECRETARIAT OF THE PAGIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

(0 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised in the accounts using the cash basis concept of
for interest income. Expenditure is accounted for on an accrual basis.

(g) Donor Funds
Donations from Aid Agencies are usually for specified purposes. These funds are separately
identified in the accounting system and expenditure recorded against each fund. Donor Funds,
which are applied to capital items of programmes are charged to expenditure at time of
acquisition and are brought into the accounts as fixed assets at the completion of programmes
and are valued at their carrying value.

(h) GommitmentAccounting
The Secretariat operates a system of commitment accounting for its non-salary expenditure.
Expenditure is recognised when purchase orders are placed and charged against the appropriate
code.

(i) Donor Funded Assets
Assets acquired by programmes during the year are not included in SPREP's balance sheet as
the ownership of these assets remains with the donor. The treatment at this level is to expense
these assets in the Income Statement as the disbursement is inquned, At the completion of
these programmes, donors generally donate these assets to SPREP, at which time the assets
will be included on the Balance Sheet at their carrying value.

0) Capital Funds
Capital Funds of $52,867 has been amalgamated with Reserve Funds under the heading Reserve
Funds.

NOTE 2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
There have been no significant changes in the Accounting Policies

NOTES 3. NON.CURRENT ASSETS . PROPERW, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

)escrlptlon

trop6rty

:ompuler Equip

:quipment
:umiture

r'ehides

Accumulatad Depr€clatlon wDv
l.Jan{4 DePn )l3posel 3l-D6c{rt 3t-Dec.ol

(263,067)

(40,55e)

(68,6411

(e3,004)

(16-2911 9,045

(263,0671

(40,5591

(68,6,11

(93,004'

(7.248"

3,959,674

145,602

482,462

?? n47

62,902

(9481,s62) $0 G9.045 |.s172.517 $/1,683,707

Fixed assets are not being depreciated in 2005 in accordance with the Secretariat policy
adopted in 2003. Assets are shown at the balance sheet at their written down value at
31 December 2OO2 while assets purchased since 2003 are recorded at their historical value.

E5.1 02.278



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

2004

NOTE 4.

6,097
12,295

28
187

18,597

49,395
23,693
29,175

316,912
189,722
116,036
49,023

772,946

$791,543

NOTE 5.

1,759,959
1,136,359

948,355
3,843,572

778,345
842,960

1,621,305

_$s,464!Zz-

NOTE 6.

2005

CASH AT BANK AND ON HAND
LocalCurrency
ANZ - SAT Account
WBC - Int Waters SAT Account
WBC - EU PEIN SAT Account
Petty Gash

Foreign Currency
ANZ - USD Account
ANZ - AUD Account
ANZ - NZD Account
WBC - USD Account
WBC - lnt Waters USD Account
WBC - lnt Maritime Org Account
WBC - NZD CallAccount

Closing Balances as at 3{ December 2005

BANK TERM DEPOSITS

LocalGurrency
WBC - SAT Account
SCB - SAT Account
NBS - SAT Account

Foreign Currency
WBC - AUD Account
WBC - NZD Account

Close Balance as at 31 December 2005

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Debtors
Staff Accounts
Other
Accrued Interest
Withholding tax
lnterbank
Prepayments
Closing Balance as at 31 December 2005

57,060
31,244
96,',172

181-i8-aFfl

26,707
22,894

2,808
(9,131)

217,651
46,229
48,671

355.829

$540,485

798,476
936,827
398,187

2,133,490

767,096
851,108

1,618,204

2,076
314

10,517
72,030
'18,907

117
19,211

$123,172

_$3,7s1991_

1,996
279

63,909

nuo
19,085

$86,203



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

2004

NOTE 7.

449,559

2005

448,558

_t50r1?!_
Primary
in cases

RESERVE FUND
Opening balances as at 1 January 2005
Add: Capital Funds balance

_q501,429_ Closing balance as at 31 December 2005

The General Reserve Fund represents the sum total of accumulated results arising from
Function and Project Management activities for the purpose of covering the organisation
of emergencies or unforeseen circumstances and unexpected budget shortfalls.

NOTE 8.

1,870,480
2,370,833

350,000
$4,591,313

NOTE 9.
593,374
206,518

$799,892

NOTE 11.
763,035

1,047,900
${,810,935

NOTE 12.
143,799
136,662
366,343

CAPITAL RESERVE
Capital Reserve is represented by the following capitaldonations:

SPREP Complex by Donor Governments
Training and Education Centre Project by Japan
Information Resource Centre by European Union
Closing Balance as at 31 December 2005

EXCHANG E VARIATION RESERVE
Opening Balances as at 1 January 2005
Less: Exchange difference arising from translation
Glosing Balances as at 31 December 2005

DEFERRED INGOME LIABILITY
Represents Deferred Income andAssets acquired through Donor Funds
Less: Accum ulated Amortisation
Closing Balances as at 31 December 2005

ADVANCE FUNDING
Australia Funding towards 2005 program strategy
New Zealand Funding towards 2005 program strategy
Closing Balances as at 31 December 2005

CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS
Provision for Leave Entitlement
Provision for Repatriation
Trade Creditors
Payroll Creditors
Other Creditors and Accruals
Closing Balance as at 31 December 2005

1,870,480
2,370,833

350,000

NOTE 10.
99,506

(17,701)
$70,805

$4,591,313

799,892
(216,424)

_q583,199_

88,506
(17,701)
$70,805

129,822
124,472
423,548

274
24,85075,197

$722,001 $702,966



SECRETARIAT OF TTIE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIROI{MENT PROGRAMME

I{OTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEi'IENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

)ETAILS
Eatance
lJan-05

lncome Expenses Othor
Adis

natance
I'i-Ftm-Oi

(13.1 5l 645 (4.5081

\usAlD Extra Budoet 255.209 s65.1 E1 151 6.380 275.6
\usAlD Extra Extra Budoet 25.362 34.898 1.72 5.229 17.7
lioNet 10.016 10.01(
lanadian Intemational Develooment Aoencv 478.755 25,282 G79.4Ot 24.633
:ommonwealth Secretariat 8.932 8.932
)eoartment of lntemational Develooment 1 0,1 66 (2.083' E2 8.136
iurooean Union 139 491 (49.7661 49.725
3ovemment of Denmark 2.227 Q,227
3ovemment of France 217 623 (67.339' 180.284
3overnment of JaDan 2.455 1 89.376 (126.431', (3.550' 61.850
overnmenl of the United Kinddom 8,800 8.806

87.015 72. (1 1 3,0491 46.209
n D & Cathefine T MacArthur Founclation ?R7 (el 20.378

te Donors 4 550.411 lTnt o11' (30.4 246.454
Netherlands Red crDss societv 7.746 7.746
NZ Aid PIE I 05.577 07E (81.321 (1. 27.520
NZAid Exltir Eudoet 48.206 626.633 (663. 933 15.670
NZAid Exlra Extra Budoet 1.053 684.1 60 H75 7,008 227.212
Pacific Develooment & Conservation Trust 7.704 {7Et 6.920
Peoole's Reoublic of China 160.000 160.000
Cther Funds (include core) 432.617 1.500.828 185.91i 12.655 760.1 83
Ramsar Secretariat ll tna 33.805 @0.476',, 4.E32
Ihe Nature Conservancl/ 45j22 (1 8.7561 26.366
Jnited Nations Convenlion to Combat Desertificalion 1.592 1.592

1 31.589 1.661.326 1.638.5391 154 476
73.574 535.939 H25.117', (4.272) 14O.124

nited Nations Tech co-oo Activities (oart of (6_5401 (14.12 (20.6681

JN Economics & Soclal Commission for Asia & the Pacifrc (UNESC 3.146 3.500 6.646
JN Omce of Proiect services 49.689 (45,5E( 4.1 03
JS Additional Member Contributions 3.482 2.577
JS DeDt of Enerov/Los Alamos Universiw 4.601 4.601
JS Fish & Wildlife AfnosDheric Administration 14.943 (31 8l 14.625

64.455 102.654 (1 1 6.9471 (28.01 3) 22 149
JS Westem Pacific Reoional Fisheries Manaoement Council 10.637 74.649 (65.22'l 20.085

.367.530 (535. $2.51 2.113

Core fu nds income/expenditure
Programme fu nds income/expenditure

ln@me as per above schedule
Less other crediydebit ad.iustments
As Der income statement

1,758,932 1,646,064

7,367,6s0
(3s,085)

7.332,54s



SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENOED 31 DECEMBER 2OO5

2005

NOTE 14.
3,47',!
1,730

17,589
66,107
18,859
10,950

NOTE 15.

s,248,357
2,796,179

134,881
1,657,018

Tz"B-3il5s-

NOTE 16.

3,248,357
2,796,179

134,88't
1,657,018

_9?,$elg!_

NOTE 17.

350
535

33,54s
4,251
2,544
3,252
6,150

$50,627

OTHER INGOME
Insurance Recovery
Publication Sale
Rental income
Miscellaneous
Prior Year adjustments
Commission
Travel & Other Recoveries
Total

EXPENDITURE SUMMARY

lsland Ecosystem Programme
Pacific Futures Programme
Core - Programme Funds
Executive Mgt & Corp Support
Total

ACTUAL VS BUDGET EXPENDITURES

lsland Ecosystem Programme
Pacific Futures Programme
Core - Prog Funds
Executive Mgt & Corp Support
Total

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Personnel Operating Total
Cost CosG
7U,107 2,118,922 2,903,029
751 ,045 '1,886,51 1 2,637,556

- 37,720 37,720
967,744 678,320 1,646,064

$2,502,896 $4,721ffi

Personnel Cost
Budget Actual
791,030 7Uj07
882,498 751,045

Operting Gost
Budget Actual

Capital Costs
Budget Actual

2,346,950 2,084,940 20,436 33,982
2,006,900 1,856,435 12,839 30,076

- 37.720
921,651 967,744 544,400 498,604 76,500 179,716

$2,595,1?9 $2,502

December 2005.The Secretariat has no contingent liabilities as at 31

NOTE 18. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Secretariat has no commitments with respect to capital expenditure.

11
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.1.1(a) : Final Status Report on International Waters Project

Purpose of Paper

l. This paper provides a Status Report for the Intemational Waters Project (IWP) that
is implementing the Strategic Action Programme (the SAP) for the Intemational Waters of
the Pacific Small Island Developing States. This is the final status report on the fWP to the

SPREP Meeting before it concludes in December 2006. As such the report includes not only
activities in 2005 but also work carried out to June 2006.

Background

2. Thirteen SPREP Members are participating in this Projectr. It is funded by the
Global Environment Facility (GEF), implemented by the United Nations Development
Programme (tlNDP) and executed by the Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment
Programme (SPREP). It commenced in February 2000.

3. The IWP was originally envisaged as a 5-year Project. However, implementation did
not commence until July 2000. This delay resulted in a decision to extend the life of the
Project for another two years. The IWP is now scheduled for completion in December 2006.

4. The IWP had two components. The Oceanic Fisheries Management (OFM)
component focused on the management and conservation of tuna stocks in the westem
central Pacific and was executed by the Secretariat for the Pacific Community (SPC) and the
Forum Fisheries Agency (FFA). This component was completed in June 2005. This Status
Report is confined to the lntegrated Coastal and Waste Management (ICWM) component of
the Programme, which is implemented through SPREP.

5. The ICWM component supports pilot activities at both the community and national
levels to address the root causes for environmental concerns relating to the protection of
freshwater, securing sustainable coastal fisheries and/or managing community wastes.

t C*k lslands, Federated Slates of Micronesia, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall lslands, Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa,
Solomon lslands, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu.

SPREP
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Status

The main achievements and highlights of the ICWM component at the community, national

and regionaVinternational levels for 2005 and to June 2006 are summarized below:

At the Community Level

o There is an increased awareness in all participating communities about the adverse

impacts of human activities on the environment and natural resources;

o fWP host communities in Tonga, Fiji, Kiribati and the Republic of the Marshall
Islands (RMI) continue to be actively involved in waste recycling activities;

o IWP host communities are actively participating in ecological surveys and water

quality monitoring in RMI, PNG, Niue, Tonga, Samoa and Vanuatu;

o Community-based management plans have been prepared with village inputs for the

sustainable management of a marine protected area in Niue and bech de mer in the 
I

Solomon Islands;

. Neighboring communities to IWP pilot project sites in Fiji, Tonga, Niue and FSM
have expressed interest in replicating the work of the IWP pilots. This suggests that

IWP work is continuing to address the needs and concerns of these island

communities;

o Waste collection systems have been established for pilot communities in PNG,

Palau, Fiji and Kiribati and composting of organic wastes is on the increase; 
I

o lnterest in compost toilets as a substitute to 'drop toilets' on the sea or poorly
constructed flush toilets that are contributing to water pollution in rural
communities is also increasing in PNG, Fiji and Palau;

o Traditional methods to regulate resource use (e.g. taboo areas) by local communities
have been revived to ensure the sustainable harvesting of land and marine resources

such as land crabs in Crab Bay, Vanuatu.

At the National Level

r In Fiji, data collection for the economic analysis of rural waste management is
continuing. A draft National Liquid Waste Management Shategy has been prepared

with the assistance of the lnstitute of Applied Science of the University of the South

Pacific (USP), and pilot socio-economic surveys have been conducted in two rural
settlements at the project site. A cloth bag project to replace plastic shopping bags

has started and about 90o/o of households in project site are composting their green

wastes.



I TSlWOfficialsAVP. 8. I . 1 (a)

Page 3

In Tonga, the tWP facilitated the drafting of the Water Resource Management Bill
2006, which is now ready for consideration by Cabinet. A Sustainability Strategy to
guide project implementation towards the end of IWP support in December 2006 has

been prepared and implemented. Discussions relating to the integration of IWP work
on wastes to the National Waste Management Plan of Tonga are underway.

In the Solomon Islands, new alternative livelihood initiatives focusing on seaweed
farming and spat collection have been introduced to the communities of Chea. The
demonstration was made by the Aquaculture Division of the Department of Fisheries
and Marine Resources in conjunction with the IWP project. A mangrove replanting
project at the Lagoon Lodge log pond was also successfully launched in
collaboration with the Forestry Department to demonstrate to local people the
importance of mangroves to marine and coastal environments.

In Tuvalu, a cost benefit analysis of alternative sanitation systems for Funafuti has

been completed and work on the National Integrated Water Resource Management
Plan is continuing. A three months national environmental awareness campaign was
facilitated by the project and has been approved by the National Task Force.

o ln Kiribati, a trial use of biodegradable plastic bags was carried out and an
assessment of their impact conducted. The Green Bag User Pay System (GUPS) was
officially launched and tWP concepts such as the GUPS and the 'Banana Circle'
composting system are being promoted for replication on South Tarawa. A premier
screening of the IWP film "Solid Waste and Our Water" was arranged for the
Minister and senior officials of the Department of Environment, Lands and
Agriculture Development and a teenager RAP song competition to promote the use
of the Green Bag was successfully organized.

ln Niue, Village Fisheries Management Plans have been prepared for the pilot
villages of Makefu and North Alofi and the lessons learned during the preparation of
the plans have been documented. Students from the Niue High School and Primary
School designed as part of the IW'P Awareness Program posters on the theme
'Sustainable Coastal Fisheries'. These posters are now displayed at the arrival
terminal of the Niue airport as well as the local bank.

In the Republic of Palau, 14 recycling bins have been set up in Chollei and a waste
segregation center established in the city of Koror. Three composting sites have also
been established in Chollei and composting toilets have been built at an all girls high
school in the nearby village. As a result of the IWP work in Chollei, the Ngarchelong
State Govemment has established, and is subsidizing, a regular rubbish collection
system available to all households who now pay $5 per month for this service.
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[r Papua New Guinea, the IWP project helped start a waste collection and disposal
system in the village of Barakau. Households were provided rubbish bins and now
pay 1 kina (USD0,30) to a private collector to pick up their rubbish. Although there
is still strong belief in sorcery in the area (which people blame for sickness and

death), villagers are slowly realizing, through education and awareness work of the
project, the link between indiscriminate waste disposal, environmental degradation
and their health. The success of the tWP pilot project work on waste in Barakau has

aroused interest in neighboring communities to manage their own waste problems in
a similar manner.

In Samoa, the participatory technique used to analyse problems and develop
community management plans to implement lodno cost solutions to the problems
affecting water quality and quantity is inlluencing the more traditional 'top-down'
approaches of the past. Water quality and quantity monitoring programs are

continuing and plans are underway for the conduct of an economic evaluation of the
Apolima-tai catchment area.

In the Cook Islands, meetings between the Court and the landowners to prepare for
the endorsement of the Management Regime for the Takuvaine Water Catchment
area are continuing. Community land rules for the improved managernent of the
catchment have been set and are being enforced by the local residents themselves.
Animals are no longer allowed to roam in the catchment area and there are plans to
regulate the use of the area for tourist related activities.

In the Republic of the Marshall Islands, a 'waste stream analysis' carried out in
Jenrok resulted in a better understanding of the types and volume of waste being
dumped into the landfrll sites. In the pilot villages of Jenrok and Muro, all aluminum
cans are now recycled, two households in Jenrok and one in Muro have started
composting of green waste. The project plans to complement these initial initiatives
with the building of compost toilets in both villages.

ln the Federated States of Micronesi4 the tWP project has been working with the
village of Rifkin to build capacity and local ownership of the Marine Protected Area.
The villagers have developed their own MPA regulations and some young men have
been trained in monitoring fish stocks. Five other municipalities on the island of Yap
have expressed to the IWP project their desire to replicate the work of the project in
their own communities and legislative changes to the Yap Fisheries Act are being
investigated to ensure legal recognition of the Rifkin MPA and its local enforcement
processes.

I
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At the Regional and International Levels

o Not'withstanding the significant progress made by the fWP over the years, the

departure via individual resignations of the entire technical team of staff responsible
for managing the project from SPREP caused disruption to the operations of the
project in late 2005 and early 2006. The Pacific Environment Consultants Ltd
(PECL) was subcontracted in November 2005 to manage the IWP till the end in
December 2006.

o Two regional workshops were organized to capture and document the issues,
problems and lessons learned from the experience of 13 pilot projects supported by
the IWP over the past few years. This document is a legacy of the [WP to be passed

on for use by SPREP and other organizations in the Pacific region.

o Lo recognition of the progress made by the Pacific IWP on the development of
communication strategies as a means to raise awareness and promote IWP results,
the GEF/IW: Learn project sponsored the participation of National Coordinators
from Kiribati, Tuvalu and the Cook Islands to a two-day stakeholders
Communications Workshop to improve the communication planning tools available
to all IWP projects world-wide. A range of photographs and stories from the Pacific
fWP were submitted to [WP: Learn for an intemational "kaveling" exhibition on
Water and Sanitation. The workshop was held in Vienn4 Austria on 19-20 January
2006. The same group from the Pacific also attended the Global Forum on Oceans,
Coasts and Islands held on 23-25 January in Paris, France.

National Coordinators from Vanuatu, Kiribati and the Cook Islands contributed
towards the development of the Communications Guide "Communicating for
Results: A Planning Guide and Resource Kit. Using Communications in GEFAJNDP
International Waters Projects" which is being finalized by IW: Learn. The Guide is
expected to be circulated at the end of May or early June 2006.

The National Coordinator from Fiji was nominated by SOPAC to attend the World
Water Forum in Mexico as a key representative of the Pacific Region. The National
Coordinator assisted fW: Learn present an exhibition of display panels from Samoa,
Vanuatu, Kiribati, Papua New Guinea and Tonga.

Five papers from the Pacific IWP have been completed, finalized and accepted for
presentation at the World Congress on Communications for Development to be held
in Rome, Italy from 25 - 27 October 2006. The papers are from Khibati, Vanuatu,
Fiji, Cook Islands and from the tWP Project Coordinating Unit (PC[D.
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The IWP has been assisting SPREP's Waste Unit in the Pacific Futures Programme
with a project to develop and produce a waste resource kit for use by individuals
from governments, the community and others interested in improving solid waste
management. The Kit is intended to perpetuate the work done by the IWP by
capturing the practical lessons learned, suggesting opportunities for expansion and
mainstreaming the pilot projects. IWP has also provided input to the development of
SPREP's Communications Strategy.

An article highlighting the global benefits derived from the Pacific IWP has been
prepared and circulated widely. The article has been provided for publication by a
number of regional magazines and is also available on the SPREP website.

IWP work is gradually being incorporated into SPREP's work programme.
Ecological baseline work, participatory approaches, watershed managernent, waste
management and freshwater management now form an important part of SPREP's
work programme. Of particular note is IWP's work on solid waste management.
lW'P made a significant contribution to the development and implementation of
SPREP's Regional Solid Waste Master Plan and some National Coordinators
provided communications materials for the "Year of Action Against Waste".

Looking Ahead

7. The ICWM component of the IWP is scheduled to conclude in December 2006.
Hence support for pilot projects for the whole of 2006 has, and will continue to focus on
those activities considered critical to the sustainability of the pilot projects after December
2006.

8. Key to the achievement of project sustainability is the preparation of strategies that
will help achieve smooth transitions from IWP support for all projects. Exploring
opportunities for integrating IWP work to ongoing and relevant initiatives at the local,
national and regional levels is an important part of this process. At the time of writing, only
Tonga has completed its strategy. Strategies for Palau, Tuvalu, FSM, PNG and Marshall
Island are progressing while Fiji, Samoa and Solomon Islands will begin work on their
strategies soon.

9. Documenting the experience of the IWP is crucial to the success of future GEF or
other donor-funded initiatives of this nature in the Pacific. The project had made a

significant investment in documenting lessons leamed from its experience and this
information should help the replication of IWP activities in other areas or the design and
implementation of any new projects in future.
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10. Despite the impressive results achieved especially at the local and national levels,
the IWP was not able, nor was it designed, to provide solutions to all the issues and
concerns affecting the sustainable management of wastes, watersheds, fisheries and marine
protected areas in the Pacific region. It did not induce effective cross-regional learning or
the sharing of lessons and best practices between lead agencies supporting the same focal
area. It did not facilitate access by National Coordinators to expertise available in other
CROP agencies nor did it provide adequate support for building the capacity of lead
agencies to effectively lead project implementation.

11. Regardless of the shortcomings outlined above, there is much to celebrate from the
work of the IWP. A number of IWP counfies feel that the pilot projects have already
achieved a lot. The sustainability of some areas of the work is already seemingly ensured.
Many underlying problems experienced by the IWP have been related to lack of time and
clarity about what the project was trying to achieve. Given more time, more focus and
further support, the long term benefits of the IWP pilot projects could certainly grow.

Recommendation

The Meeting is invited to:

Project at the National and regional levels post-December 2006.

I June 2006

12.

I
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFTC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, Neut Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Aeenda ltem 8.i.2 : Invasive Species - Developments and Update

Purpose of Paper

1. To update the Meeting of efforts being undertaken in relation to invasive species in
the region and complementary efforts to address the threats to island biodiversity as

contained in the Island Biodiversity Programme of Work of the CBD and to propose the

recognition of invasive species as one of the three key threats to island biodiversity and as

having a major impact on economic development, people's lifestyles and livelihoods and

general way of life. The IBPoW, identifies invasives as one of the most important issues

for island biodiversity, which needs urgent, concerted and sustained action

Background

Preventing Invasive Species Management Programme (PISMP)

2. Funding for the phase of work (PDF-B) to develop a GEF full sized project
proposal is anticipated to arrive in 2006 through LTNDP. This project plans to work with
the 14 GEF-eligible countries on an individual basis to define their national needs to be

able to better prevent the arrival of new invasive species and to deal with invasive species

that they already have. The Government of France has given support to the inclusion of
non-GEF eligible territories in this activity. The PDF-B will undertake national
assessments, along with identifying priority regional needs (eg invasive species control
method development, analysis of pathways and means of spread of invasive species,

training programmes). The focus of this PDF-B phase is on consultation and priority
identification rather than implementation which will take place in the next phase.

SPREP Preventing Invasive Species Course - rollout phase

3. This course was developed by SPREP with the funding assistance of the United
States and New Zealand governments in 2002-3 and the second phase of the rollout of the

course, was funded by US. It was designed to be customised to the needs of the recipient
country and to work across all sectors with a role to prevent the introduction of invasive
species. The course also provides opportunities for participants to consider the needs of
their own sector and country and to make recornmendations that are conveyed to their
national governments.
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4. The course has now been delivered to Niue, Vanuatu, Palau, American Sano4
Samoa, Tokelau, and twice in PNG (Port Moresby and Rabaul). The final course of this
phase is currently being planned to be held in French Polynesia (delivered in French) in
2007. Unfortunately funds do not allow the course to be rolled out to any further countries
at this stage (each customised course costs about $25,000 USD) but work is being
undertaken to source funds to continue this important work.

Pacifc Invasives Learning Network (PILN)

5. This is a peer-learning network designed to build the skills of multi-agency teams

in the Pacific to address the threats posed by invasive species. The aim is to empower
effective invasive species management in countries through a participant-driven network
that meets priority needs, rapidly shares skills and resources, provides links to technical
expertise, increases information exchange and accelerates on-the-ground action. The
network has been established at SPREP by eight partner organisations - The Nature
Conservancy, SPREP, the Cooperative Islands Initiative on Invasive Species, ruCN
Invasive Species Specialist Group, Conservation International, the Palau Office of
Environmental Response and Coordination, the University of the South Pacific, US
Department of Agriculture Forest Service and the Secretariat of the Pacific Community.

6. The official launch of PILN and first annual meeting was held in May 2006 and

hosted by Palau, involving 42 people from 1 I countries. Members of the initial group of
six founding teams from American Samoa, Guam, Niue, Palau, Pohnpei and Samoa
participated. Critical Ecosystem Partnership Fund grantees working on invasive species

management demonstration projects from Palau, Samoa, FSM, the Cook Islands, Fiji, and

French Polynesia, together with representatives of the eight partners and two close

collaborators also participated. This meeting was able to analyse lessons learned in four
key technical areas: public awareness, strategic planning, weed management and island
restoration. The Meeting also developed action plans for a priority project by each team,

identified capacity building needs, input into the revision of the regional invasive species

strategy, and launched and evaluated the CD-ROM version of the Global Invasive Species
Database.

7. Considerable momentum has now been generated, both among the meeting
participants as a result of the week's activities and also more widely, due to the wide
media coverage for the meeting, locally, regionally and internationally. PILN now has a
new logo design and an unofficial motto, "Failure is not an option". The second group of
founding teams (Fiji, Hawaii, Kiribati, Kosrae, Marshall Islands and New Caledonia) will
be incorporated into the network early next year and the American Samoa Invasive Species
Team has formally offered to host the PILN second annual meeting in August 2007.
Lessons learned in technical areas will be reviewed and expanded and the draft Action
Plans produced at the first meeting developed and revised.
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8. PILN needs secure resourcing to continue, with approximately USD$300,000
needed for the next two years.

Partnerships

Invasive Species Working Group (ISWG)

9. The Invasive Species Working Group under the Roundtable for Nature

Conservation is responsible for monitoring implementation, identifying gaps and coming
up with ways to deal with these in relation to the invasive species objectives of the Action
Strategy for Nature Conservation. It also addresses implementation gaps and looks at ways
to support PICT-level implementation. Organisations represented include
intergovernmental organisations, donors, international and national NGOs, research

agencies, invasive species programmes, and donor and local government departments.

10. Another partnership on invasives is focussed on invasives demonstration projects,

called the Pacific Partnership of the Cooperative Islands initiative (Ptr).

I l. The Ptr comprises a project coordination group in Auckland working on behalf of
eight partner organisations - ruCN Invasive Species Specialist Group, NZAID, SPREP,

SPC, NZ Department of Conservation, Conservation lntemational, The Nature
Conservancy, Auckland University, the Global Invasive Species Program and IUCN
Species Survival Commission. The Ptr is facilitating demonstration projects
demonstrating well-planned scientifically and technically valid invasive species

eradication, prevention and control methods.

12. To date key species being addressed under this programme include rats, ants and

cane toads. For example, customising rat eradication approaches successfully and

routinely used in New Zealand. Pn and PILN are working very closely together as PILN
provides the mechanism to upscale lessons learned from the demonstration projects.

The Regional Invasive Species Strategt

13. The present Regional Invasive Species Strategy was approved by the SPREP

meeting in 2000. It was to have been reviewed in 2006 but has been defened until the new
lnvasive Species Officer is on board hopefully before the end of the year.

14. Major gaps in the strategy, in particular the issue of marine invasive species will be
addressed and included during the review and the development of an implementable
strategy which is able to be regularly monitored and reviewed.

15. A Shipping-related Marine Invasive Species Strategy is being presented to this
SPREP meeting for approval and will contribute to the wider regional invasive species

strategy once that strategy is revised.
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Next steps

16. Capacity in SPREP to deal with invasive species has improved with the new

position of PILN Coordinator (partially funded) as well as refocussing the Invasive Species

Officer position from being both bird conservation and invasives to only focus on invasive

species.

17. A range of invasive species related activities are underway but suffer from lack of

18. Invasive species are a cross-cutting issue with major impacts: international trade

through trade barriers created by the presence of quarantine pests, agricultural
development and food security, protected area management, conservation of endangered

species, public health and ultimately poverty alleviation. For these reasons it is critical that

invasive species be adequately prioritised, resourced and addressed.

Recommendation

19. The Meeting is invited to:

species work that is often dealt with at different levels and different sectors

locally, nationally and regionally;

threat;

Pacific Invasives Learning Network and its innovative approach to building
capacity to manage invasive species issues in the Pacific islands region; and

Paci fic islands region.

5 July, 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nountea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.1.3 : lsland Biodiversity - Update on Regional Progress

Purpose ofPaper

1. To advise the Meeting on the status of the Island Biodiversity Programme of Work
(IBPoW) under the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), related issues of the CBD
Eighth Conference of the Parties (COP 8) and to highlight developments in relation to
island biodiversity across the region.

Island Biodiversity Programme of Work and CBD COP 8

2. At the l6th SPREP Meeting, Members were informed of the development of the
Island IBPoW and endorsed preparations for the upcoming CBD COPS which took place

in Curitiba, Brazil in May 2006. A COP 8 Pacific Preparatory Meeting (supported by
NZAID) in Fiji, and other regional discussions, preceded the Brazil meeting to consolidate
Member views on and support for the IBPoW. The CBD COPS adopted the Programme of
Work. The Pacific Islands region was well represented with assistance from the
Governments of New Zealand and France as well as support from a range of CROP
agencies including SPREP, SPC, USP and the Forum Secretariat. In an effort to show the
capacity and opportunities in the Pacific islands region for progressing the island
biodiversity agend4 a number of side events were held- including a high level Ministerial
dinner hosted by the President of Palau, a day long island biodiversity community side

event and input into many other activities.

3. The challenge now for SPREP Member countries is to move from advocating for
the specific IBPoW into implementation. Member countries and tenitories have a range of
strategies and action plans that they have developed that provide and enable biobiversity
conservation to be implemented at the local, national and regional level as well as

intemational obligations. The Secretariat believes that the IBPoW offers an opportunity to
begin to harmonise and rank issues of the IBPoW in line with national priorities in order to
make progress in implementation. The Secretariat and the region are undertaking a number
of activities that contribute to these goals (some new ones are identified later in this paper)

and will continue to pursue options to assist national implementation.
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GEF Advocacy

4. Noting the influence of resource availability on the implementation of activities at

the national level, a considerable effort to link policy agreements with resourcing
opportunities was made by Pacific delegations and CROP advisors at COP8. A number of
important decisions and direction to the financial mechanism were agreed to that should

enhance PIC's abilities to leverage resources to help implement their priorities. Amongst
these was the agreement for COP9 to review the Global Benefits Index for Biodiversity
(GBIbio) that forms part of the scoring system of the new Resource Allocation Framework
(RAF) of the GEF. Furthernore, direction to the GEF that calls for the capacity and access

issues of small island .developing states (SIDS) to be addressed, as per the

recommendations of the 3'o Overall Performance Study of the GEF (OPS3), paves the way
for working towards a more flexible modality of access for SIDS. This is particularly
important in light of the RAF as it limits the funds available, therefore a system that is
more flexible and tailored to the capacity of SIDS would be desirable.

5. The decisions from COP8 will be discussed at the GEF Council in November
2006, where a paper on 'GEF Management response to guidelines of COP8' will be tabled.

The Pacific islands must ensure that the direction secured at COP8 is taken on board by the

GEF during the Council Meeting.

Commitments to island biodiversity

6. A number of SPREP Member countries have shown strong leadership in island
biodiversity over the past year through commitments and concrete actions - with important
announcements taking place at COP 8 by Micronesian countries through the Micronesia
Challenge as well as Kiribati and Fiji.

Regional conservation partnerships

7. We have learned that long-term programmatic approaches and partnerships

between government, regional institutions, NGOs, private sector and local cornmunities
are essential to sustainable conservation outcomes in islands. One of the key ways that

many of these national initiatives and the new programme of work can be progressed is

through the fostering of partnerships at all levels to focus resources on where they are

needed the most and in ways which address national and regional priorities and in
identiffing gaps.

8. One such partnership is the Pacific Islands Roundtable for Nature Conservation,
which is in its 8th year of existence. This group operates with a specific mandate from the

regional conservation conference which requested organisations (including the diverse

range of organisations involved in nature conservation, protection, environmental
management and sustainable resource use) that are active in conservation across the region
to develop more effective, collaborative approaches for supporting the implementation of
the regional Action Strategy for Nature Conservation which is the conference's main
output.

I

T
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9. The next Pacific Nature Conservation and Protected Areas Conference will be

hosted by the Government of Papua New Guinea in 2007 and will be an opportunity to

revise the Action Strategy. Options including the integration of the IBPoW into the

current Action Strategy will be discussed by participants.

10. In preparation for this, SPREP, with assistance from the World Bank, Asian
Development Bank and NZAID, has undertaken an activity to monitor and evaluate the

Action Strategy for Nature Conservation and to report to stakeholders at the regional
conference and SPREP Meeting in2007 on what progress has been made in conseration
across the region. This includes reporting based on a set of outcome indicators measuring
overall impact including:

o t}re total area under conservation (in hectares);

o a threat reduction index, measured at a sample of conservation sites;

o the amount of long-term funding commitments to nature conservation;

r the degree to which nature conservation has been mainstreamed into national
development plans, budgets and sectoral plans.

11. A number of options for improving the ability of the Roundtable to monitor and

implement the Action Strategy were discussed at its 10'n meeting in July.

Pacific Biodiversity Information Forum

12. SPREP has also recently entered into a framework for collaboration with the

Pacific Biodiversity Infonnation Forum (PBF) based on the outcomes of a series of
regional meetings involving country representatives to consider the value and need for the

development of a regional information system for biodiversity science and conservation.

PBIF is convened through the US Geological Survey and the Pacific Science Association
and plays an important role as the chair of the Data and Information Working Group for
the Roundtable for Nature Conservation. This Working Group manages the online
inventory of conservation activities in the Pacific, the Pacific Protected Areas Database

and other Roundtable tools. Its key focus is on improving access to biodiversity related

information, removing duplication and in developing ways and means of making relevant
biodiversity data and expertise systematically available to countries in the Pacific. It was

developed in response to the fact that much important information was contained in
existing collections and that there was a need to access, record and mobilise this
information as a basis for national and regional inventories and as a basis for biodiversity
conservation and sustainable use.
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Pacinet (Pacific taxonomic capacity building activity)

13. Since 2005, SPREP, SPC and USP have been supporting a position based at USP

to develop regional capacity in taxonomy. PACINET is a network of organizations and

individuals focused on helping the Pacific islands region meet its taxonomic needs by
promoting self-reliance through building local capacity and by enhancing the ability of the

region to access and use taxonomic skills, resources and information needed to meet

conservation and development priorities. Taxonomic capacity needs to be built to include

identification services and support tools, access to taxonomists and parataxonomists,

curators and collections and to have available and be able to effectively use digitally
available information on species of the region. An initial activity was undertaken in early

2006 to train national participants in developing and using identification keys for a range

of taxa. Plans have been developed for a follow-up training workshop in Samoa rn2007.

IUCN Oceania new programme

14. As one of the activities related to the signing of an MOU between SPREP and the

World Conservation Union (ruCI.D, the Secretariat was actively involved in working with
the new ruCN Oceania Office (in Fiji) to develop its work prograrnme such that its work
programme supplements SPREP's work with particular focus on enhancing cooperation
between conservation and environment agencies and initiatives across the region, making
concerted efforts to facilitate local capacity development for nature conservation,

environmental management and sustainable development in the PICTs These would be

achieved through long-term support for the essential foundations of environmental
governance, knowledge management and generation and capacity building. IUCN and

SPREP will continue to work closely on activities of mutual benefit which will initially
include: environmental legal activities, marine invasive species and economic valuation
but expected to broaden over the next two years.

Next steps

15. The significance of the IBPoW is recognised in addressing SPREP Action Plan

goals, in particular that of significantly reducing biodiversity loss.

16. SPREP has prioritised support to the implementation of island biodiversity
initiatives and has reprioritised positions in the Secretariat to employ an Island

Biodiversity Officer. Along with other staff of the Island Ecosystems and Pacific Futures

Programmes, this new position will work to develop a mechanism to assist Members with
the implementation of the IBPoW and other related biodiversity initiatives and agenda.

SPREP will also continue to develop partnerships that advances its mandate and ensure

that these lead to progress at the national level in SPREP member countries and territories,

t
I
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Recommendation

The Meeting is invited to:

commend the N[icro.uesia Challenrgn counties, and Kiribati and Fiji, for their
leadership in biodiversity oonservation;

support the need to oontinue to advscate and develop paftierships to attact
resouro€s and support for the implementation of this prsgranme of work and
related biodiversity csnsef,vation activities;

note that tbp 2007 Pac.ifro Islanils NaturE Conqervation and lhotected Areas,

Conferenoe will be held in PapuaNew Guinoa;

,note partnerships with the World Cotmcil of Churchee" the Roundtable for
NaturE Conservation, IUCN Oceania Regional Offi,cq Pacific Biodiversity
Idotqation Forum, Pacinet and others as a key rn,eans to deal with many
regioaal capaoity issuesg and

note the importanoe of the noxt GEF Govendng Council in November 2006
with regards to responding to tlre deoisions reaohed at COPB of,the CBD and
€osur€ tbatissues of finportance to Pacific SIDS, as higbli$hted. in this paper,

re supported for irnplerrrntation.

03 JttlY ?006
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Suva Declaration

We, the participants at the joint SPREP and Birdlife Pacific meetings in Suva" Fiji,z7
June - 2 July 2005, noting with mounting alarm:

1. that the Pacific region has more threatened species per unit area of land than any

other region in the world; and

2. the most extinctions;

and recognizing that birds have long been indicators of wider biodiversity concerns;

therefore resolve:

. that no more bird species must be allowed to become extinct in the Pacific Region;

and

. that the conservation status of all threatened birds must be improved.

We therefore:

. welcome initiatives taken for stronger collaboration between SPREP member

countries and Birdlife's Pacific Partners in working together to achieve these

goals;

. r€corlrlend that bird conservation actions be integrated into the Action Strategy

for Nature Conservation at the regional level and NBSAPs (or similar plans) at the

national level;

. request the Roundtable for Nature Conservation to establish a new working Foup
within the Threatened Species and Ecosystems working goup focusing on

improving collaboration and coordination of bird conservation activities in the

region and on monitoring progress;

. acknowledge the contribution made to the implementation of SPREP's Regional

Bird Conservation Strategy by Birdlife's Pacific Regional Strategy, and in
particular Birdlife International's Important Bird Area and Globally Threatened

Species Programmes; and

. request that this resolution be placed before the 16tr' SPREP meeting for
consideration and endorsement and that regular progress reports be provided to

each SPREP meeting and to Birdlife International's Global Council.

I
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Naurnea, New Caledonia

11-15 Septerrber 2006

I

Agenda ltem 8.1.4 : Strategic Priorities for Biodiversity Conservation:
Regional Framework for Marine Protected Areas

Purpose ofthe paper

1. To seek support from the SPREP Meeting on the development of a regional
framework to support the establishment and management of marine protected areas,

including community-conserved and managed areas as a tool to protect and

sustainably manage the marine biodiversity of coasts and oceans as part of an overall
eco systems-based approach.

Background

2. The Pacific islands region encompasses an ocean expanse that stretches some

10,000 kilometres from east to west and 5,000 kilometres from north to south, with a

combined EEZ close to 38.5 million km2. In contrast, the total land area is just over

500,000 km2, of which Papua New Guinea accounts for 83%, while Nauru, Tokelau
and Tuvalu are each smaller than 30 square kilometres.

3. Coasts and oceans provide a broad range of socio-economic benefits (e.g.,

fisheries, towisrn, transport, bioprospecting) as well as essential ecosystem services,
such as climate regulation, erosion control, waste assimilation, and by virtue of their
high biotogical diversity and abundance are essential to the resilience of oceans to

changing conditions both natural and human induced (e.g., climate change).

4. While the biodiversity of coastal and inshore marine areas is comparatively
well documented (e.g., coral reef ecosystems), the biodiversity of oceans is poorly
known with less than 10% of the world's oceans being explored. There is, in
particular, limited knowledge of open ocean and deep sea environments.

5. Research over the last 10 years has shown that deep seabed environments such

as seamounts, hydrothermal vents, cold water coral and sponge reef ecosystems host

long lived and unique species and communities. Through satellite imagery, some 100,

000 seamounts have been recorded, with only 200 studied to date - of which 5O'/o ate

found in the Pacific region. These ecosystems have great potential value for both
scientific research and commercial use.
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6. These ecosystems are under threat from human activities including fishing
marine pollution, mineral exploration and climate change. Those activities present a
unique challenge when they are undertaken beyond the limits of national jurisdiction
and control.

trssues

7. Over the last decade community-based marine protected areas in coastal and

coral reefs areas have been established in SPREP member countries and territories as

a tool for protecting marine environments and for providing sustainable livelihoods.
Those initiatives have been focused on protecting inshore marine resources and in
particular fishing resources. A SPREP recent survey of marine protected area (MPAs)
in the Pacific islands region shows that they cover less that lo/o of total EEZ of PICTs.

8. A number of SPREP Members have recognized the need for integrated MPA
networks as a mechanism to build resilience of marine ecosystems to human-induced
and natural threats over the long tenn. Some Members have also passed legislation to
ensure those initiatives are fully integrated and part of their suite of tools for ocean
and coastal management (e.g., Palau, Vanuatu and Fiji).

9. However, so far there has been limited focus in the region for establishrnent of
MPAs beyond coastal areas, despite the high biodiversity of oceans and their
economic importance to PICTs. A significant exception has been the protection of
marine mammals as 9 PICTs have declared their EEZs as whale sanctuaries.

10. The time is opportune to consider a regional approach to support the design
and management of the various forms of MPAs for a number of reasons

Commitment and leadership

1 1. Several PICs have made significant commitments at international fora towards
the protection of island biodiversity including MPAs as a means to protect their
marine ecosystems and resources, consistent with National Biodiversity Strategy and
Action Plans (NBSAPs):

o The Micronesia Challenge countries committed at the 8ft Conference of I

the Parties of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD COPS) to the
protection of 20Yo of their inshore marine biodiversity by 2020;

. Fiji committed at the l0 Year Review meeting of the Barbados Programme
of Action for SIDs in Mauritius in 2005 to manage 30% of its waters as a
network of MPAs by 2020. For exarnple, the Great Sea Reef Marine I

Protected Area covers some 380,000 square kilometres. No-take zones
have been put in place; and

/
J
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o Kiribati announced at the CBD COP8 the declaration of the Phoenix
Islands Protected Area. The area covers some 184,700 square kilometres
and represents 8% of the area of MPAs currently designated globally and
the third largest MPA behind the Northwestern Hawaiian Islands and the
Great Barrier Reef Marine Park. The area includes a range of marine
habitats from coral reefs to deep seamounts. Management planning is
under way with a Memorandum of Understanding between the
Government of Kiribati, the New England Aquarium and Conservation
lnternational for the design of a range of protection zones. A trust fund is
also being developed.

Regional initiatives and partnerships

r Pacific Island Leaders endorsed in 2002 the Pacific Islands Regional
Oceans Policy (PIROP) and in 2004 noted the Framework for Integrated
Strategic Action (PIROF-ISA), which calls for the establishment of a

network of MPAs as a tool for the protection of coastal and ocean

biodiversity.

o SPREP members endorsed in 2003 the Action Strategt for Nature
Conservation in the Pacific Islands Region 2003-2007 which sets 3O-year
goals for the environment, economy and society including increasing the
areas under effective conservation regimes. Both PIROF-ISA and the
Action Strategy are regional partnership mechanisms to support national
implementation.

o In 2005, the Pacific Islands Leaders Forum, concerned about the impacts
of high seas bottom trawling on marine biodiversity, directed SPC and

FFA to develop an appropriate legal framework to manage this fishing
.method. At the FFC61, FFA ministers endorsed a draft declaration on
"Deep-sea Bottom Trawling to protect Biodiversity in the High Seas" for
consideration by the Pacific Islands Forum when it meets in October 2006
(Annex). The draft declaration proposes consideration of a range of
options for marine biodiversity protection including the use of MPAs.

o A South Pacific Fisheries Management Organisation is being discussed for
the conservation and management of living marine resources other than
those listed in Annex I of UNCLOS in the highs seas. It is understood that
conservation and management includes the sustainable utilization of
resources and the protection of the marine environment.

o PICs have developed a draft Memorandum of Understanding for the
protection of cetaceans under the auspices of the Convention on Migratory
Species and Wild Animals, to be open for signature at the SPREP Meeting.
Similar developments on turtles and dugongs are underway.



I 7SM/Offi cials/WP.8, I .4
Page 4

I nternation al dev el op ments

1,2. The CBD COP8, which was attended by many PIC delegations, endorsed a
number of important decisions on islands biodiversity, coastal and marine biodiversity
and protected areas including beyond national jurisdictions which provide guidance,
mechanisms and tools for building capacity for implementing Pacific island countries'
commitments to the CBD and WSSD biodiversity targets to significantly reduce
biodiversity loss by 2010 (terrestrial) 12012 (marine).

13. The Pacific islands region has an opportunity to take a leadership role in the
development of MPA networks because of the extensive area of EEZs relative to high
seas areas, which are small and enclosed. This, and the fact that most PIC EEZs are

contiguous and together provide a collective jurisdiction over alarge area of ocean,

offers the opportunity for achieving significant reduction in biodiversity loss, thus

contributing to global biodiversity benefits as well as protecting important future
economic resources.

Proposed action

14. SPREP Members have an opportunity to contribute to those significant
developments now taking place, by expressing their strong support for regional
initiatives and contributing expertise and experience in biodiversity conservation
nationally and regionally within the Pacific islands context, as well as internationally.
Lessons leamt in conserving coastal waters can be adapted and applied across the

marine realm, including beyond national jurisdiction.

15. The Secretariat proposes the development of a regional framework to support
the establishment of MPA networks as a strategic planning response to the priorities
and commitments made by countries in regional and international fora and to support
the implementation of NB SAPs.

16. A regional framework will:

. identify common priorities for action at regional level, to support national
actions and plans consistent with national policies expressed through, for
example, NBSAPs and National Sustainable Development Strategies
(NSDS);

. build on, share and strengthen experiences, models and activities in coastal
and inshore MPA design and management;

r provide a forum for sharing knowledge and experience and for acquiring
and disseminating scientific and technical information best practice and

lessons leamt:
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o ensure a consistent approach to establishing IvIPA networks and a forum
for considering transboundary biodiversity issues (e.g., across

neighbouri ng EEZs, migratory species);

r foster partnership arrangements and mobilize international and regional
technical and financial resources for implementation; and

o facilitate the engagement of the region in regional and intemational
meetings related to marine conservation and management.

17. To initiate this process, the Secretariat proposes to convene a regional

workshop n 2007 in collaboration with relevant CROP organizations, potential

international donors and partners to scope and develop a programme of work,

including a resourcing strategy for its implementation. Prefiminary discussions with

SPC, the CBD Secretariat, LJNEP Regional Seas Programme and other partners on

convening the workshop have been positive to date.

Recommendation

The SPREP Meeting is invited to:

in marine biodiversity conservation,

Meeting also endorse the FFA/SPC draft declaration on "Deep-Sea

bottom Trawling To Protect Biodiversity of the High Seas" for
consideration by the Pacific Islands Leaders at their meeting in October;

establishment and management of MPAs to strengthen the conservation
of marine biodiversity of coasts and oceans, and

collaboration with relevant CROP agencies and intemational partners, to

scope and develop a programme of work, including a resourcing strategy
for the implementation of a regional framework to support the

establishment of MPA5 and report on outcomes to the l8m SPREP

Meeting.

03 July 2006
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DRAFT

Declaration on Deep-Sea Bottom Trawling to

Protect Biodiversity in the High Seas

RECALLING the decision of the 36th Pacific Islands Forum leaders in Port

Moresby, Papua New Guinea in October 2005 to develop an appropriate legal

framework to manage deep-sea bottom trawling to protect biodiversity in the high

seas;

FLJRTIIER RECALLING the 4ft Pacific Commrurity Conference in Palau in

November 2005 that agreed with respect to deep-sea bottom hawling and high seas

seamounts that SPC should work with FFA and other parfirers to develop an

appropriate management framework for consideration by members;

RECALLING the Pacific Islands Regional Oceans Policy endorsed by Pacific

Islands Forum leaders in2002 which aims to ensure the future sustainable use of our

oceans and its resources by Pacific Island communities and partners, and the need to

establish high-level leadership on oceans issues;

RECOGMSING the critical importance of rnarine resources to the Pacific

Island peoples;

SERIOUSLY CONCERNED about the sustainability of fish stocks and the

effects of destructive fishing practices on the marine environment, including high seas

bottom trawling that has adverse impacts on vulnerable marine ecosystems;

CONSCIOUS of the need to avoid adverse impacts on the marine

environment, preserve biodiversity, maintain the integrity of marine ecosystems and

minimize the risk of long-term or irreversible effects of fishing operations;

NOTING that it is in the mutual interest of all fishing nations active in the

region, and the Pacific Islands, to protect and preserve the marine environment;
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FURTIIER NOTING the conservation and sustainable use of marine biological

diversity beyond areas of national jurisdiction should be based on the precautionary and

ecosystem approaches using the best available science and prior environmental impact

assessments

RECALLING the United Nations General Assembly resolution 59/25 which

called upon States, either by themselves or through regional fisheries management

organizations or arrangements, where these are competent to do so, to take action urgently,

and consider on a case-by-case basis and on a scientific basis, including the application of

the precautionary approach, the interim prohibition of destructive fishing practices,

including bottom trawling that has adverse impacts on vulnerable marine ecosystems,

including seamounts, hydrothermal vents and cold water corals located beyond national

jurisdiction, until such time as appropriate conservation and management measures have

been adopted in accordance with intemational law; (2004 LINGA Resolution 59/25)

RECALLING the relevant provisions of the 1982 United Nations Convention on

the Law of the Sea, and in particular Articles 717,718, 119, 192,194(5),197 and 206;

FLJRTHER RECALLING the relevant provisions of the United Nations

Agreement to Implement the relevant provisions of the 1982 Law of the Sea Convention

relating to straddling fish stocks and highly migratory fish stocks, ffid in particular

Articles 5 and 6;

WELCOMING the ongoing discussions to establish a South Pacific RFMO, and

supportive of efforts to cooperate to establish interim targeted protection mechanisms for

vulnerable marine ecosystems:

COMMITS the members of the Pacific Islands Forum to urgently take actions to

prevent destructive fishing practices on seamounts in the "Western Tropical Pacific Island

Area"l and to prevent destructive fishing practices in other areas of high seas in the

WTPIA until an appropriate environmental impact assessment has been carried out and

conservation and management measures are implemented in respect of that location;

t The Westem Tropical Pacific lslands Area (WTPIA) is defined by the exclusive economic zones of Pacific lsland countries
and territories in the tropical region and any high seas enclaves enclosed by those excluslve emnomic zones.

I
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DETERMINES, to this end, to convene a meeting of regional fisheries

management experts and legal advisers to contribute to the development of model

Iegislation to guide the domestic implementation of this commitment, taking into account

relevant intemational developments in respect of destructive fishing practices and

international best practice guidelines.

RECOMMENDS that consideration is also given to the use of other options to

give greater international effect to the intent of this Declaration including;

the possible inclusion of the high seas areas in the tropical Pacific within

the area covered by the proposed South Pacific Regional Fisheries

Management Organisation or another RFMO with the necessary

competence;

the possible development of a separate arrangement for the WTPIA area

including relevant areas of the high seas and the Pacific Island countries

and territories' EEZs in the forrn of a convention to address the irnpacts of

destructive fi shin g practices;

where t}re science supports, the development of multi-use Marine Protected

Areas to provide for international contols to prevent destructive fishing

practices in the high seas enclosures beyond the limits of national

jurisdiction.

CALLS on the international community to support, and cooperate in, the

implementation of this commiffnent to sustainable fisheries and, in particular urges flag

states whose vessels operate in the WTPIA to promptly implernent measures to ensure

their vessels and nationals do not engage in destructive fishing practices in the WTPIA.

1.

2.

J.
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.1.5 : Regional Arrangements for the Conservation of
Marine Species of Special Interests and the

Regional Marine Species Programme Framework 2003-2007

Purpose of paper

l. To update the Meeting on the development of regional arrangements for the
conservation of cetaceans, turtles and dugongs under the auspices of the Convention for
the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS) in the Pacific islands
region. The paper also seeks the support of the Meeting for the review of the Regional
Marine Speci es Programme Framework (RMSPF) 2003 -2007 .

Background

2. SPREP submitted a Working Paper WP.7.1.4 to the Sixteenth SPREP Meeting
(l6SM) in 2005 providing an update on progress in the collaborative work between
SPREP and CMS including an account of the progress in the development of the MoU for
the Conservation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific Islands Region under the
auspices of CMS. The Meeting made the following decision with respect to that paper:

. Endorsed the joint SPREP/CMS process towards the development of a CMS
MoU for the Conservation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific
Islands Region;

. Agtreed to forward offrcial comments on the MoU no later than the 30 October
2005 deadline;

. Directed the Secretariat to progress regional arrangements for dugongs and
marine turtles including under the auspices of the CMS;

. Noted progress for the Year of the Sea Turtle 2006.

3. Lr November 2005, SPREP and CMS signed a Memorandum of Co-operation
(MoC) in recognition that both organizations pursue common goals in the conservation of
ecosystems and the protection of migrating species, which can only be successfully met by
enhanced and concerted actions on difflerent levels and between all sectors. The MoC
recognises that activities under SPREP concern migratory species and issues that are also
covered by the CMS or agreements concluded under its auspices. The MoC highlights
agreement on certain aspects including, policy compatibility, institutional cooperationn
exchange of experience and information, coordination of programmes of work, joint
conservation action, consultation, reporting and further guidance on new areas of co-
operation and action.
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4. The current RMSPF 2003-2007 with Action Plans for Dugongs, Whales and

Dolphins and Marine Turtle is up for review next year. A successor Framework for the
ensuing 5 years is expected to result from this review. The framework is limited to only
the three groups of marine animals of special interest as mentioned above.

Regional arrangements for cetaceans, marine turtles and dugongs under the auspices
of CMS

5. As noted in paragraph 2, 16SM endorsed the joint SPREP/CMS process towards
the development of a CMS MoU for the Conservation of Cetaceans and their llabitats in
the Pacific Islands Region and directed the Secretariat "to progress regional arrangements
for dugongs and marine turtles including under the auspices of the CMS".

MoUfor the Conservation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific Islands region

6. The draft MoU was circulated jointly by SPREP and the CMS Secretariats to
members and partners in August 2005 for comments before its finalization. SPREP
facilitated receipt of comments and onward transmission to the CMS Secretariat and also

provided advice and comments to the CMS Secretariat on certain issues raised.

7. The CMS Secretariat compiled and reviewed the comments and made

recofirmendations to the working group Convener (Samoa) for the final version of the
MoU. The final MoU incorporates comments, where appropriate, from mernbers and
partners and has been sent to members for consideration for signing. The MoU is open for
signing during this meeting.

8. During the CMS Conference of Parties in November 2005, a resolution on the
Implementation of Existing Agreements and Development of Future Agreement included
the MoU on Cetaceans in the Pacific islands region. The Conference:

. Welcomed the significant progress made to date to develop the Mernorandum
of Understanding for the Conservation of Cetaceans and their Habitats in the
Pacific Islands Region;

. Urged Party and non-Party Range States to ensure its early conclusion and

entry into effect as a key initiative to conserve cetaceans and their habitats in
the Pacific Islands Region;

. Endorsed the joint approach by CMS and Pacific Regional Environment
Programme (SPREP) to develop this instrument and invites their further close

collaboration once the implementation phase begins;
. Supported the Secretariat's commitrnent to work closely with the Range States

and SPREP to revise the SPREP Whale and Dolphin Action Plan (2003-2007);
and

. Urged Parties, interested States and organisations to generously support these

efforts by providing financial and in-kind resources.
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MoUfor the Conservation of Marine Turtles in the Pacific

9. In line with the l6SM decision, a proposal was submitted by Aushalia during the
Sth CMS Conference of Parties in November 2005, which was adopted, encouraging
Parties and range states in the Pacific to cooperate to develop and conclude a MoU and

associated conservation plan for the conservation and management of marine turtles under
the CMS. It also encouraged existing Pacific regional conservation programmes and

instruments relevant to marine turtles to participate in the development and

implementation of a regional conservation arrangement for marine turtles in the Pacific.
The CMS CoP Resolution 8.5 supported the development of an appropriate CMS
instrument on marine turtles for the Pacific islands region; requested a Range State Party
to act as the lead country to support the insfument's preparatory phase as a threshold
condition of CMS's continued support for the initiative, and urged Parties, interested
States and organizations to generously support this effort by providing financial and in-
kind resources.

10. SPREP has been collaborating with both the CMS Secretariat and Australia to
progress the MoU for the conservation of marine turtles in the Pacific. The first meeting to
discuss the MoU has been negotiated and due to the migratory nature of turtles in different
phases of their life cycle, this meeting is envisaged to include Pacific Rim countries and

distant water fishing nations that impact on turtle populations in the region. However, the
first meeting will provide an opportunity for members to decide whether a Pacific-wide
MoU would be wa:ranted. The first meeting is scheduled in Apia and will be co-hosted by
SPREP, the CMS Secretariat, Australia and other donors.

Dugong Conservation and Management

11. Dugongs only occur in six countries and tenitories in the SPREP region, namely,
Australia, PNG, Solomon Islands, Palau, Vanuatu and New Caledonia.

12. The First Meeting on Dugong Conservation and Management in the South-east
Asian region under the auspices of CMS was held in Thailand from 23 to 25 August 2005.
Even though all SPREP dugong range states and territories were invited with full funding,
only one was able to attend that meeting.

13. During the CMS COP 8 in November 2005, a resolution was adopted which
included encouraging Parties to continue to cooperate amongst themselves and with other
non-Party Range States to further develop and conclude the Dugong MoU and

Conservation Plan. The resolution also urged all partners, such as national governments,
international and non-govemmental organizations, including regional economic and

environmental bodies to provide appropriate assistance towards the conclusion and

subsequent implementation of the MoU.
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14. The second intergovemmental meeting on dugong conservation was held in
Thailand from 25 to 28 April 2006. SPREP communicated with organizers of this meeting

to ensure participation of all SPREP dugong range members. SPREP was also represented

in this meeting, working with SPREP dugong range members. An agreed draft MoU and

Conservation and Management Plan, which will be circulated for consideration by range

states, was produced.

15. Given the limited number of SPREP dugong range members, a separate MoU for
the Pacific islands region under CMS is not warranted. SPREP will continue to provide
advice to members involved that need it, and to ensure their participation in all meetings

leading to the finalization and opening of the MoU for signing.

Regional Marine Species Programme Framework 2003-2007

Review of the Regional Marine Species Programme Framework (RMSPF) 2003-2007

16. The current 5-year Marine Species Programme Framework, which encompasses

the Dugong, Marine Turtles, and Whale and Dolphin Action Plans, is up for review next
year. Species within these groups are in various status of conservation concem globally.
Certain species from these groups continue to be listed in Appendix I of the Convention
on International Trade of Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES),
Appendix I of the Convention for the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals
(CMS) and the ruCN Red List of Threatened Animals.

17. There is a need to assess the implementation of the RMSPF 2003-2007 to make

any necessary revision for a successor framework. In preparation for the region wide
review of the framework, technical meetings have been scheduled. The technical meeting

to update available information on cetaceans in the region is scheduled to take place in
Apia, in August 2006. This meeting will involve experts working on cetaceans in the

region. Similar technical workshops are being planned for turtles and dugongs either at the

end of the year or at the beginning of 2007. The results from these workshops will provide
updated information for the region wide review of the Action Plans.

Consideration for inclusion of other marine species in a successor Regional Marine
Species Programme Framework

18. The SPREP Marine Species Programme has been concentrating on the three
groups of marine animals mentioned above. However, there is growing concern on the
status of other marine species becoming threatened in the wild of which the Pacific islands
region is an important habitat, e.g. sharks. In addition, SPREP plans to seek from members
their list of other marine species of national conservation priority to be considered for
inclusion in the regional marine species programme framework for 2008-2012.



I TSlWOfficialslfrtP. 8. 1.5

Page 5

Recommendation

19. The Meeting is invited to:

Cetaceans and their Habitats in the Pacific islands region under the auspices

of CMS;

Marine Turtles in the Pacific under the auspices of CMS;

development and finalization of the MoU on the conservation of marine
hrrtles;

development of the MoU for conservation and management of dugongs in the

South-east Asian region under the auspices of CMS;

2003-2007 and to consider inclusion of other marine species of special

interest to the region;

Framework to the 2007 SPREP Meeting for endorsement by me,lnbers; and

glven the relevance of CMS to the region.

03 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.2.1 : Regional Strategy on Shipping Related
lntroduced Marine Pests (lMP)

Purpose of Paper

1. To provide an overview of the contents of the draft'?egzonal Strategt on Shipping
Related Introduced Marine Pests " and to seek the Meetings approval of the draft Strategy.

Background

2. lnvasive Marine Species have been globally identified as one of the four main
threats to the world's oceans and marine environment. The Secretariat of the Pacific
Regional Environment Programme (SPREP), has responded to the threat posed by IMPs,
by developing a Regional Strategy for the Members consideration. Development of the

Strategy is an activity under the joint IMO/SPREP Pacific Ocean Pollution Prevention
Programme (PACPOL).

3. The trans-boundary nature of shipping and the inter-connectedness of the seas and

oceans dictate that no one port or country can effectively control the spread of IMPs via
shipping. In order to be effective, countries must work cooperatively with both their
neighbours and the broader global community to implement harmonized measures. The

SRIMP-PAC Strategy provides a regional framework for cooperation between Pacific
Island countries and territories and Pacific-Rim countries, including through Asia Pacific
Economic Cooperation (APEC).

4. The Strategy has undergone a thorough consultative process during its formulation
through discussions with experts from member countries and territories, CROP agencies,

IMO, and UNEP. The Strategy was also reviewed and endorsed by a Joint Working Group

of the Association of Pacific Ports (APP) and the Pacific Maritime Association (PacMA).

Aim and objectives

5. The aim of SRIMP-PAC is:

o To maintain, protect and enhance the quality of coastal and marine

environments in the Pacific islands region by preventing, minimising and

controlling the introduction of shipping-related marine pests to Pacific island
countries and territories (PICTs).
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6. The objectives of SRIMP-PAC are:

o To assess and monitor the current and potential risks of shipping-related ,

Introduced Marine Pests (IMPs) in the Pacific islands region.

o To assist PICTs to develop better capacity to effectively prevent and respond to

shipping-related IMPs,

o To provide a financing and sustainability plan, which allows effective
implementation of SRIMP-PAC actions and activities. I

o To provide a framework and mesfuanism for regional cooperation, coordination
and harmonization of shipping related IMP management activities in particular
ballast water and hull fouling, and also to provide links with similar activities
that address non-shipping vectors, both within the region and with Pacific-Rim
countries.

Layered Defence

7. The SRIMP-PAC Shategy is based on the principle of 'layered defence', with
management arangements organized along established world's best practice in the fields
of bio-security and quarantine, as follows:

o Pre-border (incursionprevention)

o At-Border (incursion interdiction)

o Post-border (incursion response, control and mitigation)

8. The principle of layered defence is based on the premise that prevention is always

better than cure, and that prevention of shipping-related IMPs is best addressed by
preventing them from being taken-on / attaching to vessels at their points of origin / source

ports, ttrough' pre-border' management efforts.

9. The principle recognizes however, that despite best pre-border efforts, some IMPs
may well arrive at ports in the Pacific islands region, and 'at-border' interdiction efforts are

therefore also required.

10. Finally, this approach recognizes that some IMPs may still invade past a country's
border, and 'post-border' incursion response, control and mitigation plans are therefore
needed to supplement pre- and at-border incursion prevention efforts.

11. In order to allow PICTS to implement practical management measures to prevent
shipping-related bio-invasions, SRIMP-PAC includes standard templates outlining what
actions countries need to take, in relation to both ballast water and hull-fouling
management.

12. The SRMP-PAC budget and workplan includes a major capacity building
component, aimed at equipping Pacific island port state control agencies with the skills
and resources needed to implement these measures.

I

I
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Institution al Strengthenin g and Capacity Buildin g

13. The Strategy recognises the curent limitations on the capacity of PICTs to manage

IMPs, and seeks to address these through capacity building and institutional shengthening,
with a long-term view to self-sufficiency in IMP management. All technical activities
under SRMP-PAC include capacity building and institutional strengthening elements.

Technical Activities

14. Based on experience in other parts of the world, SRIMP-PAC proposes a number
of foundation activities that need to be undertaken in order for the region to begin to
address IMPs. These include:

o Communication and awareness

. Risk assessment

o Port surveys and monitoring

o Legislation and regulations

r Compliance monitoring and enforcement

o Technical training and capacity building

o Informationmanagement

Regional & National Coordination

15. The development and implementation of SRIMP-PAC is being coordinated at the

regional level by SPREP, and will involve the establishment of a Regional Co-ordination
Body comprising SPREP member States and other stakeholders (e.g. port and shipping
industries), as well as an Ad-[Ioc Technical Advisory Group.

16. At the national level, each PICT will designate a National Lead Agency and

establish an inter-ministerial task force to oversee implementation of in-country activities.

Funding & Timeline

17. Full implementation of all SRIMP-PAC projects as outlined in the Workplan
requires a core total budget of US$3.9 million over five years. When considering that this
applies to 21 separate countries and territories spread over the world's largest ocean, this is
not a particularly large amount of money. The benefits that will accrue in terms of
increased protection of coastal and marine resources make such an investuent highly
worthwhile.

I

t

I
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18. Extension of an IMP management regime over the Pacific islands region will also

have major benefits for the larger economies of the Pacific-Rim, in terms of increased
protection of their resources and ecosystems. Pacific-Rim countries will be approached to
become active partners in the Strategy and implementation of its Workplan.

19. The Secretariat has also begun to explore possible links with other multilateral
funding initiatives, including three relevant GEF proposals:

o The proposed GEF / SPREP project Pactfic Invasive Species Management,

o The proposed GEF / GISP project Building Capacitlt and Raising Awareness in
Invasive Alien Species Prevention and Managenent; and

o The proposed GEF / MO project Building Regional Partnerships for Effective
Ballast Water Control and Management in Developing Countries (GloBallast
Partnerships).

Recommendation

20. The Meeting is invited to:

Marine Pests (SRIMP-PAC); and

the Strategy.

28 June 2006
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"I do not exaggerate the problenl when I compare it (biological invasion) to the scope
and devastation wrought by nattral disasters like hurricanes. It r /ess dramatic but

just as destructive"

(Admiral Janres M. Loy, Cornmandant, United States Coast Guard, 2000).

Anril 2006
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EXEGUTIVE SUMMARY

The lssue

The importance of coastal and marine environments to every aspect of the lives of Pacific
Islanders cannot be overstated. Pacific Island Countries and Territories (PICTs) maintain resource

rights and management responsibilities over 30 million square kilometres of ocean, equivalent to
the total land area of Canada, China and the USA combined. The total population of coastal

Pacific Islanders is only 2.6 million. There are I I square kilometres of ocean for each Pacific
Islander. Jurisdictionally, the ocean is 200 times more significant to the average Pacific Islander
than it is to the average global citizen (Adams et al 1995). Anthropogenic impacts on coastal and

marine resources and ecosystems are a major concern for Pacific Island peoples.

Over the last fifteen years, the introduction of exotic (non-native) species, including aquatic
species, to new environments by human activities, both intentionally and accidentally, has been

identified by scientists, environmentalists, governments and industry as a major and increasing
concern. Marine bio-invasions, including via vessel-related vectors such as ballast water and hull
fouling, have been identified as one of the four greatest threats to global marine bio-diversity and

ecosystems, and are also a significant threat to coastal economies and even public health. Global
economic impacts from invasive aquatic species, including through disruption to f,rsheries, fouling
of coastal industry and infrastructure and interference with human amenity, are estimated to
exceed 100 billion US dollars per year (Chisholm, in prep). The US General Accounting Office
(2003) has identified biological invasions as one of the greatest environmental threats of the 21"
Century. The United Nations Environment Programme (IJNEP) and World Conservation Union
(ruCN announced at the World Summit on Sustainable Developmenl (WSSD) in Johannesburg in
2002,that invasive species are the second greatest threat to global bio-diversity after habiat loss.

The impacts are set to increase in coming years as global economic activity and therefore the
movement of goods and materials around the world increases.

Developing countries are at particular risk as economic globalisation continues and new markets
and therefore ports and shipping routes are opened in these areas. Small Island Developing States
(SIDS), including PICTs, are also at particular risk as they are totally shipping dependant, are often
located adjacent to major trans-oceanic shipping lanes and are often favoured destinations for
cruising yachts (which present particular problems in relation to transfer of species by hull
fouling). There are a large number of shipping routes and a variety of ports throughout the Pacific
and the Pacific islands are at risk from both ballast and fouling mediated bio-invasions. A number
ofintroduced species ofconcern and potentially significant concem have been found in the region,
and have become or are threatening to become invasive, including the barnacle Chthalamus
proteus, several macro-algae species, harmful planktonic algae species and the Black Striped
Mussel Mytolopsis sallei from the Gulf of Mexico / Caribbean.

The potentially serious threats posed by IMPs, combined with the extremely high value and

significance of coastal and marine resources to Pacific islands peoples, highlights the importance
of vigilance against marine introductions.

Anril 2006
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The Strategy

The Members of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme have responded to the threat posed
by IMPs, by developing a Regional Strategt on Shipping-Related Introduced Marine Pests in the
P acifi c Is lands (SRIMP-PAC).

Development of the Stategy is an activity under SPREP's Pacific Ocean Pollution Prevention
Programme (PACPOL), and is funded by the Intemational Maritime Organization (IMO). It aims
to assist PICTs to protect their marine environments from shipping related marine bio-invasions.
The two key vectors that are being targeted are ships' ballast water and vessel fouling, with
particular emphasis on cruising yachts, that visit the region in significant numbers.

The transboundary nature of shipping and the inter-connectedness of the seas and oceans dictate
that no one port or country can effectively conrol the spread of IMPs via shipping. In order to be
effective, countries must work cooperatively with both their neighbours and the broader global
community to implement harmonized measures. The SRIMP-PAC Strategy provides a regional
framework for cooperation between Pacific Island countries and territories and also with Pacific-
Rim countries, including through APEC.

The Pacific Islands are fortunate in that three key SPREP members are world leaders in addressing
IMPs - including being the major driving force on the issue at IMO - Australia, New Zealand and
the USA. The SRIMP-PAC Strategy therefore seeks to maximize links with these three counhies,
including joint firnding and implementation of technical activities in the region.

Aim and objectives

The aim of SRIMP-PAC is:

o To maintain, protect and enhance the quality of coastal and marine environments in the
Pacific islands region by preventing, minimising and controlling the introduction of
shipping-related marine pests to Pacific Island Countries and Territories @ICTs).

The objectives of SRIMP-PAC are:

To assess and monitor the current and potential risks of shipping-related Introduced Marine
Pests (IMPs) in the Pacific islands region.

To assist PICTs to develop better capacity to effectively prevent and respond to shipping-
related IMPs.

To assist Pacific Island Countries to ratiff and implement the new MO Convention on
Ballast Water Management

To provide a financing and sustainability plan, which allows effective implementation of
SRMP-PAC actions and activities.

To provide a framework and mechanism for regional cooperation, coordination and
harmonization of IMP management activities, including linls with similar activities that
address non-shipping vectors, both within the region and with Pacifrc-Rim countries.

Anril2006
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Layered Defence

The SRMP-PAC Strategy is based on the 'layered defence' approach, with management

arrangements organized along established world's best practice in the fields of bio-security and

quarantine, as follows:

r Pre-border(incursionprevention)
o At-Border(incursion interdiction)
r Post-border (incursion response, control and mitigation)

The layered defence approach is based on the premise that prevention is always better than cure,

and that prevention of shipping-related IMPs is best addressed by preventing them from being
taken-on / attaching to vessels at their points of origin / source ports, through 'pre-border'
management efforts. However it is recognised that despite best pre-border efforts, some IMPs will
arrive at pacific island ports, and 'at-border' interdiction efforts are also required. Finally, this
approach recognizes that some IMPs may still invade past a counfiry's border, and 'post-border'
incursion response, control and mitigation plans are therefore needed to supplement pre- and at-

border incursion prevention efforts.

Regional & National Goordination

The development and implementation of SRMP-PAC is being coordinated at the regional level by
SPREP, and will involve the establishment of a Regional Co-ordination Body comprising SPREP

member States and other stakeholders (e.g. port and shipping industries), as well as an Ad-Hoc
Technical Advisory Group.

At the National level, each Pacific island country will designate a National Lead Agency and

establish an inter-disciplinary task force to oversee implementation of in-country activities.

Institutional Strengthening and Capacity Building

The Strategy recognises the current limitations on the capacity of Pacific island countries to

manage MPs, and seeks to address these through capacity building and institutional shengthening,
with a long-term view to self-sufficiency in IMP management. All technical actirrities under

SRIMP-PAC include capacity building and institutional strengthening elements.

Technical Activities t
Based on experience in other parts of the world, SRIMP-PAC proposes a number of foundation
activities that need to be undertaken in order to address IMPs. These include:

r Communication and awareness
o Risk assessment
o Port surveys and monitoring
o Legislation and regulations
. Compliance monitoring and enforcement
r Technical training and capacity building
o lnformationmanagement

'lAnril 2006
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Practical Management Measures

In order to allow PICTS to implement practical management measures to prevention shipping-
related bio-invasions, SRIMP-PAC includes standard templates outlining what actions countries
need to take, in relation to both ballast water and hull-fouling management.

The SRIMP-PAC budget and workplan includes a major capacity building component, aimed at
equipping Pacific Island Port State Control agencies with the skills and resources needed to
implement these measures.

Funding & Timeline

Full implementation of all SRIMP-PAC projects as outlined in the Workplan requires a core total
budget of US$3.9 million over five years. When considering that this applies to 22 separate
counffies and territories spread over the world's largest ocean, this is not a particularly large
amount of money. The benefits that will accrue in terms of increased protection of coastal and
marine resources make such an investment highly worthwhile.

Extension of an IMP management regime over the Pacific Islands region will also have major
benefits for the larger economies of the Pacific-Rim, in terms of increased protection of their
resources and ecosystems. Pacific-Rim countries will be approached to become active parhers in
the Strategy and implementation of its Workplan.

It is also important to explore possible links with other multi-lateral fimding initiatives, including
three relevant GEF proposals:

r The proposed GEF / SPREP project Pacific Invasive Species Management,
r The proposed GEF / GISP project Building Capacity and Raising Awareness in Invasive

Alien Species Prevention and Management; and
. The proposed GEF / IMO project Building Regional Partnerships for Efective Ballast

Water Control and Management in Developing Countries (GloBallast Partnerships).

Anril 2006



DRAFT ONLY

I 7SM/Offi cialsAMP. 8.2. l/Att. I
Page 8

AGKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The following organisations are thanked for their valuable contributions to the development of
SRIMP.PAC:

. The Intemational Maritime Organization (IMO) for funding the development of SRIMP-PAC
through its Integrated Technical Cooperation Programme (ITCP).

o The GEFruNDP/MO Global Ballast Water Management Programme (GloBallast) Programme

Coordination Unit (PCU) at IMO for providing supporting information and materials.

. The Governments of all SPREP member countries, through relevant agencies, for contributing
to the development of SRIMP-PAC, by facilitating identification of country needs and priorities

and reviewing the draft of SRMP-PAC, and for being key partners for its implementation.

. Staff at the Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (DAFF) in Australia and the

Ministry of Fisheries (MFish), the National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Science

(NIWA) and the Camhron Institute in New Zealand, as well as at the Bishop Museum in
Hawaii, for providing supporting references, information and material and for their specific
efforts in reviewing the draft SRIMP-PAC document in detail, and providing extrernely useful

and constructive inputs.

r The regional shipping and port industries, as represented tlrough the Pacific Maritime
Association (PacMA), for reviewing the draft of SRIMP-PAC and being key partners for its
implementation.

. Council of Regional Organisations in the Pacific (CROP) colleagues.

o SPREP Staff for their support, advice and guidance during the development of the Strategy.

Anril 2006



1 TSIlOOfficials/lVP - 8.2. I /Att. I
Page 9

DRAF"T ONLY

ACRONYMS

AQIS Australian Quarantine and Inspection Service

AMSA Australian Maritime Safety Authority

APEC Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation

APP Association of Pacific Ports

ASEAN Association of South East Asian Nations

ATC Australian Transport Council (ofMinisters)

AusAID Australian Agency for lnternational Development

BW Ballast water

BW Convention International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships'
Ballast Water and Sediments

BWM Ballast water management

BWRA Ballast Water Risk Assessment

BWRF Ballast Water Reporting Form (as per MO BW Guidelines A.868(20))

CBD Convention on Biological Diversity

CCIMPE Consultative Committee on Introduced Marine Pest Emergencies
(Australia)

CI Conservation International

CIDA Canadian International Development Agency

CME Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement

CRIMP Centre for Research on Introduced Marine Pests (now CSIRO Marine
Research, Hobart, Tasmania)

CROP Council of Regional Organizations in the Pacific

CSIRO Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation
(Australia)

DAFF Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry (Australia)

DEH Deparlment of the Environment and Heritage (Australia)

DSS Decision support system (for BW management)

DWT Deadweight torurage (typically reported in metric tonnes)

EEZ Exclusive Economic Zone

ESD Ecologically Sustainable Development

EU European Union

FAO Food and Agriculture Organization (of the United Nations)

FFA (Pacific lslands) Forum Fisheries Agency

Anril 2006
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FORSEC (Pacific Islands)Forum Secretariat

FSM Federated States of Micronesia

GEF Global Environment Facility

GIS Geographic information system

GISP Global Invasive Species hogramme

GloBallast GEFruNDPAMO Global Ballast Water Management Programme

GT Gross tonnage (usually recorded in metric tonnes)

HLG High Level Officials Working Group (Aushalia)

ICES lnternational Council for the Exploration of the Seas

IGA Inter-govemmental Agreement (Australia)

IMO International Maritime Organization

IMP Introduced Marine Pest

IOC-GOOS Inter-governmental Oceanographic Commission - Global Ocean
Observing System

ITCP ([vIO) Integrated Technical Co-operation Programme

ISSG Invasive Species Specialist Group (of IUCN)

ruCN The World Conservation Union

MAF-NZ Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry-New Zealand

MARPOL International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution frorn Ships

MEPC Marine Environment Protection Committee (of the IMO)

MERCOSLIR Southern Common Market (Argentina, Brazil, Paraguay and Uruguay)

MFish Ministry of Fisheries - New Zealand

MPA Marine Pollution Adviser

NANPACA National Aquatic Nuisance Species hevention and Control Act (USA)

NBIC National Ballast lnformation Clearinghouse (managed by SERC)

NEMISIS National Estuarine & Marine Invasive Species Information System
(managed by SERC)

NGO Non-Government Organization

NIMPCG National Introduced Marine Pests Coordination Group (Australia)

NMPIS National lntroduced Marine Pests Information System (managed by
CSIRO, Australia)

MS Non-indigenous species

NISA National Invasive Species Act (USA)

NIWA National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Science (NZ)

NRMMC Natural Resource Management Ministerial Council (Australia)

Anril 2006
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NTF National Task Force

NZ New Zealand

NZAid New Zealand Agency for Intemational Development

PAC-IMPIS Pacific Introduced Marine Pests Information Svstem

PacMA Pacific Maritime Association

PACPOL Pacific Ocean Pollution Prevention Programme

PCU Programme Coordination Unit (of the GloBallast Programme at IMO)

PICTs Pacific Island Countries and Territories

PNG Papua New Guinea

PSC Port State Control

R&D Research and Development

RMP Regional Maritime Programme (of SPC)

RTF Regional Task Force

SERC Smithsonian Environmental Research Center (IJSA)

SIDS Small Island Developing States

SPACI{EE South Pacific Action Committee for Human Ecology and
Environment

SPC Secretariat of the Pacific Community

SPREP Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Programme

SPREP Convention Convention for the Protection of the Nafural Resources and

Environment of the South Pacific Region and related protocols

SRIMP-PAC (Regional Strategy on) Shipping-Related Intoduced Marine Pests in
the Pacific Islands

STCW International Convention on Standards and Training for Crews and
Watchkeeping

TNC The Nahre Conservancy

UNCLOS UnitedNations Convention on the Law of the Sea

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

IJNEP United Nations Environment Programme

US United States (of America)

USA United States of America

USAid US Agency for International Development

USP University of the South Pacific

WSSD World Summit on Sustainable Development

WWF World Wide Fund for the Conservation of Nature and Natural
Resources

Anril 2006
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DEFINITIONS

NB: These definitions are for the purposes of SRIMP-PAC only

Ballast water Any water and associated sediment used to manipulate the trim and stability of a
vessel.

Bio-invasion A broad based term that refers to both human-assisted introductions and natural
range expansions.

Border The first entrance point into a countriesjurisdicfion.

Cryptogenic A species that is not demonstrably native or introduced.

Domestic routes/shipping lntra-national coastal voyages (between domesticports).

Estabtished introduction A non-indigenous species that has produced at least one self-sustaining population
in its introduced range.

Foreign routes/shipping International voyages (between countries).

Fouling organism Any plant or animal that attaches, during at-least one stage of its life cycle, to
natural and man-made substrates.

Harmful marine species A non-indigenous species that threatens human health, economic or environmental
values,

Intentional introduction The purposeful transfer or deliberate telease ofa non-indiganous species into a

natural or semi-natural habitat located beyond its natural range.

Introduced species A species that has been intentionally or unintentionally transferred by human
activity into a region beyond its natural range.

Introduced marine pest A harmful introduced species (i.e. an introduced species that threatens human
health, economic or environmental values).

Invasive species An established introduced species that spreads rapidly through a range of natural or
semi-natural habitats and ecosystems, mostly by its own means.

Non-invasive An established introduced species that remains localised within its new environment
and shows minimal ability to spread despite several decades of opportunity.

Pathogen A virus, bacteria or other agent that causes disease or illness.

Pathway (Route) The geographic route or corridor from point A to point B (see Vector).

Risk The likelihood and magnitude of a harmful event.

Risk assessment Methodology to assess the risk of an invent or activity

Risk analysis Evaluating a risk to determine if, and what type of, actions are worth taking to
reduce the risk.

Risk management The organisational framework and activities that are directed towards identifyng
and reducing risks.

Ship (vessel) Any vessel used by humans for transport, commerce, recreafion or any other
purpose on the sea, including but not restricted to all types and sizes of cargo
vessels, passenger vessels, fishing vessels, research vessels, naval vessels, barges,
pontoons, dry-docks, drilling rigs and other floating platforms, boats, yachts,
launches, dinghies and canoes.

Translocation The transfer ofan organism or its propagules into a location outside its natural range

by a human activity.

Unintentional An unwitting (and typically unknowing) introduction resulting from a human
introduction activity unrelated to the introduced species involved (e.g. via water used for

ballasting a ship or for transferring an aquaculture species).

Vector The physical means or agent by which a species is transferred from one place to
another (e.g. BW, a ship's hull, or inside a shipment of commercial oysters)

Anril2006
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lntroduction - the lssue

I The importance of coastal and marine environments to every aspect of the lives of Pacific
Islanders cannot be overstated. Pacific Island Countries and Territories (PICTs) maintain resource
rights and management responsibilities over 30 million square kilomekes of ocean, equivalent to
the total land area of Canada, China and the USA combined. The total population of coastal
Pacific Islanders is only 2.6 million. There are 1l square kilometres of ocean for each Pacific
Islander. Jurisdictionally, the ocean is 200 times more significant to the average Pacific Islander
than it is to the average global citizen (Adams et al 1995). Anthropogenic impacts on coastal and
marine resources and ecosystems are a major concem for Pacific Island peoples.

Over the last fifteen years, the introduction of exotic (non-native) species to new environments by
human activities, both intentionally and accidentally, has been identified as a major and increasing
concern. Marine bio-invasions, including via vessel-related vectors such as ballast water and hull
fouling, have been identified as one of the four greatest threats to global marine bio-diversity and
ecosystems (Carlton per somms), and are also a significant threat to coastal economies and even
public health. Global economic impacts from invasive aquatic species, including through
disruption to fisheries, fouling of coastal industry and infrastructure and interference with human
amenity, are estimated to exceed 100 billion US dollars per year (Chisholm, in prep). The US
General Accounting Office (2003) has identified biological invasions as one of the greatest
environmental threats of the 21't Century. The United Nations Environment Programrne (JNEP)
and World Conservation Union (ruCI.D, announced at the World Summit on Sustainable
Development (WSSD) in Johannesburg in 2002, that invasive species are the second greatest threat
to global bio-diversity after habitat loss. The impacts are set to increase in coming years as global
economic activity and therefore the movement of goods and materials around the world increases.

Isolated island environments such as those found in the Pacific are considered to be particularly
vulnerable to the impacts of biological invasions. Very little is known about the distribution and
impacts of Introduced Marine Pests (IMPs) in the Pacific Islands region, with very few sites
having been surveyed (some of the US territories). A number of intoduced species of concem and
potentially significant concem have been found in the region, and have become or are threatening
to become invasive, including the barnacle Chthalamus proteus, several macro-algae species,
harmful planktonic algae species and the Black Striped Mussel Mytolopsis sallei from the Gulf of
Mexico / Caribbean.

The potentially serious threats posed by IMPs, combined with the extremely high value and
significance of coastal and marine resources to Pacific islands peoples, highlights the importance
of vigilance against marine introductions, the need for baseline and monitoring surveys to allow
early detection and control and the need for a prevention and rnanagement strategy to be
implemented, as provided for by this document.
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2. The SPREP Response

The Secretariat of the Pacific Regional Environment Program (SPREP) in partnership with the
International Maritime Organization (MO) is implementing the PaciJic Ocean Pollution
Prevention Programme (PACPOL). PACPOL addresses shipping related marine environment
protection issues throughout the Pacific Islands region. Management of Introduced Marine Pests
(IMPs) in Pacific Island ports is one of the focal areas of PACPOL.

Table One: SPREP Members

SPREP members endorsed the Regional lnvasive Species Strategy in 2000. The Regional Invasive
Species Strategy does not address marine species but it recognized the need to develop a separate
but complementary Strategy for marine invasive species. This Regional Strategt on Shipping-
Related Introduced Marine Pests in the Pacific Islands Region (SRIMP-PAC) is designed to fill
that gap and to complement the existing Regional Invasive Species Strategy.

The SRIMP-PAC Strategy addresses shipping-related vectors only (vessel fouling and ballast
water). Other marine vectors in the region (e.g. fisheries and aquaculture) are addressed by related
initiatives, such as those of the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) Marine Resources
Division. Additionally, SRMP-PAC is restricted to the marine (saltrvater) environment, given the
overwhelmingly marine nature of the Pacific Islands region, the fact that the freshwater
ecosystems in the region are highly unlikely to receive biological invasions through shipping
vectors and that the existing Regional Invasive Species Strategy covers fresh water species.

SRIMP-PAC is also designed to provide a framework for harmonized regional implementation of
the global regime for the control and management of shipping-related IMPs, including the
International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and Sediments
(BW Convention) as adopted by IMO member States in February 2004. lt is also intended to link
with other relevant initiatives, such as the MP activities being developed by Pacific-Rirn countries
through Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation (APEC), the IUCN's Cooperative Initiative on
Islands and the GEF / UNDP / IMO GloBallast Partnerships project.

Pacific Island Countries Pacific Island Territories Non-Island Members

Cook Islands
Fiji Islands
Kiribati
Marshall Islands

Fed. States of Micronesia
Nauru
Niue
Palau

Papua New Guinea
Samoa
Solomon Islands
Tonga
Tuvalu
Vanuatu

American Samoa (US)
Northern Mariana Islands (US)
French Polynesia (France)
Guam (US)

New Caledonia (France)
Tokelau Islands (NZ)
Wallis & Futuna (France)

Australia
France
New Zealand
United States of America
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The Need for a Regional Strategy

The trans-boundary nature of shipping and the inter-connectedness of seas and oceans dictate that
no one port or counhy can on its own effectively control the spread of shipping related IMPs. In
order for nunagement to be effective, counfuies must work cooperatively with both their
neighbours and the broader global community to implement harmonized measures.

The need for regional cooperation on this issue is recognized in Article 13.3 of the recently
adopted International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water and
Sediments (BW Convention), which states;

"In order to further the objectives of this Convention, Parties with common tnterests to
protect tlrc environment, human health, property and resources in a given geographical
area, in particular, those Parties bordering enclosed and semi-enclosed seas, shall
endeavour, taking into account characteristic regional features, to enhance regional co-
operation, including through the conclusion of regional agreements consistent with this
Convention. Parties shall seek to co-operate with the Parties to regional agreements to
develop harmonized pro cedures. "

The countries and territories of the Pacific Islands region have a long history of working
cooperatively and multilaterally to manage and protect their marine resources and have
established a number of regional mechanisms and organizafions with this objective in rnind. They
certainly have common interests to protect the environment, human health, property and resowces
of the region.

A significant feature of shipping in the Pacific Islands is transit ships trading between the major
economies of the Pacific-Rirn, that pass through their 200 nautical mile Exclusive Economic
Zones. The need to address biological invasions at-source, requires the SRIMP-PAC Strategy to
be coordinated with relevant activities of the Pacific-Rim counFies, including through forums such
as APEC Heads of Maritime Meetings.

Further, it is worth noting that the 2000-2004 I't phase of the GEF / UNDP / IMO Global Ballast
Water Management Programme (GloBallast), inter a/ia assisted several regions of the world to
develop and implement regional sfategies and action plans similar to that being developed by
SPREP under this project. Under the planned 2"d phase of this prograrnme, called GloBallast
Partnerships, IMO intends to invite the SPREP Member Countries to become a new beneficiary
region. Development of SRIMP-PAC is therefore extremely timely and will place the region in a
strong position for the implementation of the BW Convention and to benefit frorn technical
assistance under GloBallast P artners hips.
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Strategy Development - Outline of Approach

Development of SRMP-PAC is an activity under the SPREP/MO PACPOL Programme, and was
funded under the MO lntegrated Technical Cooperation Programme (ITCP).

The background research and drafting of the shategy document was carried out by a SPREP

consultant (Steve Raaymakers - EcoStrategic Consultants) with support from and managed by the
SPREP Marine Pollution Adviser (Sefanaia Nawadra). There was significant input and assistance

from individuals and parties consulted during the drafting process.

As the SPREP Member Countries are the n'owners" of the Regional Sffategy, their views,
perspectives, priorities and needs are vital, and including the countries in developrnent of the

Regional Srategy from the earliest stages was important for generating ownership and n'buy-in".

Technical consultations with the responsible maritime sector authorities in SPREP Member
Countries were ca:ried out through a joint working group of the Pacific Maritime Association
(PacMA) and the Association of Pacific Ports (APP).

Given that the management of marine invasives is a relatively new issue for PICTs, development
of the Strategy also involved wide consultations with organisations that have management and
technical expertise in this area. These included other regional organizations, APEC, relevant
ministries, institutions, organizations and individuals in Pacific-Rim countriesn the IMO-
GloBallast Demonstration Site in China, various IIN agencies including MO, the Global Invasive
Species Programme (GISP), ruCN Species Survival Commission Invasive Species Specialist
Group (ISSG) and many otherso to gain their inputs to the Regional Strategy.

Strategy development was divided into eight discrete steps, as outlined below.

. Step One: Information gathering / background research

. Step Two: Initial Consultations with individuals and agencies

. Step Three: Produce First Draft

. Step Four: Review by SPREP

. Step Five: Produce Second Draft

. Step Six: Review by Technical Groups and agencies

. Step Seven: Produce Final Draft and formally circulate to countries

. Step Eight: Formal Discussion with view to endorsement at 17s SPREP Meeting

5. Aim & Objectives

The aim of SRIMP-PAC is:

o To maintain, protect and enhance the quality of coastal and marine environments in the Pacific
islands region by preventing, minimising and controlling the introduction of shipping-related
marine pests to Pacific Island Countries and Territories (PICTs).
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The objectives of SRIMP-PAC are:

To assess and monitor the current and potential risks of shipping-related Introduced Marine
Pests (IMPs) in the Pacific islands region.

To assist PICTs to develop better capacity to effectively prevent and
related IMPs, including:

r Encouraging ratification and effective implementation of the
Convention and other relevant international conventions.

r Developing regional and national vessel-fouling management plans and systems.
r Building the necessary institutional arrangements, both administrative and legislative.
o Raising awareness about shipping-related IMPs amongst all relevant stakeholders.
o Developing effective regulatory compliance monitoring and enforcement systems.
r Providing education and training in ballast and vessel-fouling management practices.

o Developing information systems to support IMPs management in the region.

r Targeting projects to address identified high priority IMP problems in the region.

o To provide a financing and sustainability plan, which allows effective implementation of
SRIMP-PAC actions and activities.

r To provide a framework and mechanism for regional cooperation, coordinafion and
harmonization of IMP management activities, including links with similar activities that
address non-shipping vectors, both within the region and with Pacific-Rim countries.

Mandate

respond to shipping-

MO ballast water

6.

The mandate for SRIMP-PAC is derived from a number of sources, including:

Lesal mandate:

The Conventionfor the Protection of the Natural Resources and Environment in the South
Pacific Region (SPREP Convention) has a general provision in Article 4 that "Parties shall
endeavour to conclude agreements.... for the protection, development and management of
the marine and coastal environment" and Article 6 addresses discharges from vessels.

The United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea (JNCLOS), in particular Article 196
which provides that "States shall take all measures necessary to prevent, reduce and
control the intentional or accidental introduction of species, alien or new, to a particular
part of the marine environment, which may cause significant and harmful changes
thereto. "
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r The Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD), in particular Article 8(h) which states
"Contacting Parties to the Convention should, as far as possible and appropriate, prevent
the introduction of, control or eradicate those alien species which threaten ectystems,
habitats or species. "

r The International Convention for the Control and Management of Ships' Ballast Water
and Sedimenls (BW Convention), in particular Article 13.3 which states '?n order to
further the objectives of this Convention, Parties with common interests to protect the
environment, human health, property and resources in a given geographical area, In
particular, those Parties bordering enclosed and semi-enclosed seas, shall endeavour,
taking into account characteristic regional features, to enhance regional co-operation,
including through the conclusion of regional agreements consistent with this Convention.
Parties shall seek to co-operate with the Parties to regional agreements to develop
harmonized procedures. "

Programmatic mandate:

r The SPREP / IMO PACPOL Strategt & WorlElan, which was approved by SPREP

Members at the 1999 SPREP Meeting in Samoa, which identifies the need to fiJrther
develop capacity in the area of IMPs management in PICTs, and under which SRIMP-PAC
is an initiative.

. The SPREP Regional Invasive Species Stategt, which was endorsed by SPREP Members
in 2000, and which focuses on terrestrial and freshwater eco-systems and identifies the

need to address the marine'gap'.

Scope7.

7.1 Geographical scope

The geographical scope of SRMP-PAC is the Pacific islands region, defined as the coastlines and

all marine waters within the Exclusive Economic Zones (EEZs) of the 21 PICTs that are members
ofSPREP.

In addition to the PICTs, there are four developed countries that are members of SPREP (Ausfralia,
France, New Zealand and USA - Table One). These counfies are referred to as SPREP non-island
or metropolitan members and are key parfners in SRIMP-PAC

7.2 Technical scope

SRIMP-PAC is designed to address IMPs carried by shipping-related vectors only (ballast water
and fouling). SRIMP-PAC does not address IMPs that may be introduced by other vectors such as

fisheries and aquaculture, nor does it address freshwater species. These are addressed by other,
related and coordinated initiatives in the region, as part of the integrated'three-pronged' approach
described in Section 8.
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For the purposes of SRIMP-PAC, 'ship' is defined as any vessel used by humans for bansport,
commerce, recreation or any other purpose on the sea, including but not restricted to all types and
sizes of cargo vessels, passenger vessels, fishing vessels, research vessels, naval vessels, barges,
pontoons, dry-docks, drilling rigs and other floating platforms, boats, yachts, launches, dinghies
and canoes. SRIMP-PAC is designed to address IMPS carried by all ship types.

8. Underlying Principles

The SRIMP-PAC Strategy is based on the following underlying principles:

Ecosystem Approach: The majority of major aquatic bio-invasions documented globally
to date have occurred in ecosystems that are already disturbed and degraded by other
human impacts, such as physical alteration, pollution and over-fishing. Many invasive
species are 'colonisers' which benefit from the reduced competition that follows habitat
degradation and reduced native biodiversity. One of the best ways to prevent bio-
invasions is therefore to take an 'ecosystem approach', managing marine human activities
so as to maintain natural biodiversity and 'healthy' ecosystem function. If PICTs
effectively manage and protect their coastal and marine environments and resources in
general, including through implementation of the CBD, adoption of integrated coastal and
ocean management practices and application of the Precautionary Principle (see below),
they will effectively reduce their vulnerability to IMPs.

Prevention is the priority: While a number of introduced marine species of concern and
potentially significant concem have been found in the region, and have become or are
threatening to become invasive, the Strategy is based on the assumption that the marine
environment in the Pacific islands region is relatively free of IMPs, and that the best
approach is to keep it this way, through prevention efforts.

Need for data: The Stratega recognises that the presence, distribution and impacts of
IMPs in the region are poorly understood and that detailed studies or surveys have not
been conducted for the vast majority of ports and islands in the region. A much larger
number of introductions, including potentially invasive pests, would almost certainly be
detected with a more comprehensive and systematic survey effort.

Precautionary Principle: The Precautionary Principle, as one of the basic principles of
Ecologically Sustainable Development (ESD), states that lack of data should not be used
as a reason for avoiding or postponing management actions, where the potential for
irreversible ecological impacts exists, even if there is uncertainty about that potential.
Because the impacts of biological invasions are very often irreversible, and as it is almost
impossible to predict in advance, what marine species may or may not be invasive, and
what their impacts might be if introduced to a new environment, in the absence of data all
introductions should be heated as potentially harmful.
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Layered Defence: The Strategy is based on the approach of 'layered defence' (as used in
New Zealand's biosecurity arrangements), with management arrangements organized
along established world's best practice in the fields of bio-security and quarantine, as
follows:

o Pre-border (incursion prevention)
o At-Border (incursion interdiction)
o Post-border (incursion response, control and mitigation)

The layered defence approach is based on the premise that prevention is always better than
cure, and that prevention of shipping-related MPs is best addressed by preventing them
from being taken-on / attaching to vessels at their points of origin / source ports, through
'pre-border' management efforts.

The approach recognizes however, that despite best pre-border efforts, some IMPs may
well arrive at ports in the Pacific islands region, and 'at-border' interdiction efforts are
therefore also required.

Finally, this approach recognizes that some IMPs may still invade past a countqr's border, l

and 'post-border' incursion response, control and mitigation plans are therefore needed to
supplement pre- and at-border incursion prevention efforts.

Consistent with Global regime: The Snategy seeks to implement the global shipping-
related IMP management regime at the regional and national level, including the rapid
ratification and implementation of the IMO BW Convention by PICTs.

Regionally & nationally relevant: The Shategy reflects the needs and priorities of PICTs.
The Snategy considers the regional context but considers the need for national-level
implementation, and reflects world's-best-practice adapted for realistic application in
PICTS.

'Three-pronged' integrated approach: The Shategy is regionally co-ordinated and
integrated with other related programmes and initiatives, and includes collaboration
between relevant programmes within SPREP, between SPREP and other regional
organisations which are members of the Committee of Regional Organizations in the
Pacific (CROP), and with Pacific-Rim countries and broader regional bodies such as

APEC. Within the region SRIMP-PAC is one 'prong' of a 'thee-pronged' approach to the
overall issue of invasive species, where terrestrial and freshwater vectors are addressed by
SPREP's Regional Invasive Species Programme, fisheries and aquaculture wectors are
addressed by relevant initiatives of the SPC Marine Resources Division and shipping- I
related vectors are addressed by SRIMP-PAC, thereby providing a comprehensive, t
integrated and holistic approach to all vectors and pathways in the region.

Industry involvement: The Strategy is endorsed and supported by the private sector, in
particular the shipping and port industries, and seeks to encourage private sector solutions
to IMPs. The private sector must be fully integrated into regional and national IMP
management plans.

(
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Capacity building: The Strategy recognises the current limitations on the capacity of
Pacific island countries to manage IMPs, and seeks to address these through capacity
building and institutional strengthening, with a long-term view to self-sufFrciency in IMP
management.

Importance of shipping: Whilst the over-riding aim of SRIMP-PAC is protection of
coastal and marine environments from shipping-related IMPs, the vital role of shipping in
the region and the need for the shipping industry to further develop should be considered at
all times.

I nstitutional Arrangements

The effective implementation of any natural resource management / environmental protection
Strategy such as SRIMP-PAC, requires appropriately designed institutional arrangements,
including clearly defined management frameworks and administrative procedures and designation
of roles and responsibilities.

The institutional arrangements for the effective coordination and management of SRIMP-PAC are
based on those developed and applied successfully in six other regions of the world by the IMO-
GloBallast Programme, and are divided into regional and national level arrangements. They
include progranrme management, Regional and National Task Forces (with sectoral and
organisational linkages) and reporting requirements, as outlined below.

9.1 Regional arrangements

9.1.1 Overall Strategy Coordination

Responsibility for the development and ongoing management of SRIMP-PAC rests with the
SPREP Secretariat in Apia, Samoa, as part of the SPREP / IMO PACPOL Programme.

SPREP's responsibility includes managing the implementation of SRIMP-PAC projects and
ensuring the delivery of outputs and benefits to SPREP island members, coordination at the
regional level, seeking and managing funding for SRIMP-PAC projects and reporting progress to
SPREP members, donors and other stakeholders. The SPREP Marine Pollution Adviser is
responsible for day-today coordination of these activities within SPREP, and will work with the
SPREP Invasive Species Officer to ensure internal coordination between SRIMP-PAC and the
terrestrially focused SPREP Invasive Species Programme.

9.1.2 Regional Co-ordination

It is vital that SRIMP-PAC is not just a SPREP initiative but a regional programme, co-ordinated
and consistent with other regional and international activities relating to IMPs. Based on the
model applied successfully by the MO-GloBallast hogramme in other regions, this is best
achieved through the formation of a co-ordinating body, which meets at least annually.
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For cost-effectiveness oversight of SRIM-PAC would be through the SPREP Meeting. Regional
co-ordination of activities would be carried out in conjunction with and/or as part of other relevant
regional groups such as PacMa, APP, the CROP Marine Sector Working Group, APEC Heads of
Maritime Meeting and the Nature Conservation Round Table. The SPREP Marine Pollution
Adviser would be responsible for co-ordinating submissions and making presentations to these
groups.

Reeional co-ordination functions are:

To review and approve annual SRIMP-PAC budgets and workplans.
To coordinate SRIMP-PAC activities across the region and with relevant activities of other
bodies (e.g. other regional organizations, APEC and Pacific-Rim countries).
To provide a forum for PICTs and Pacific-Rim countries to report on progress with IMP
issues in their respective jurisdictions, and to share information and news on latest
developments.
To seek and secure funding and support-in-kind for SRIMP-PAC activities.

To periodically review the overall progress of SRIMP-PAC against its stated aim and
objectives, and recommend any necessary changes and realignments to the SPREP
Meeting.

9.1.3 Ad-hoc Technical Advisory Group

Issues may arise that necessitate the convening of ad-hoc technical advisory groups to guide the
implementation of various SRIMP-PAC activities. The composition of the Advisory Group will
be approved by the SPREP Meeting and would be depend on the technical and managernent needs
of the issues at hand. Membership of the Group would be drawn from all stakeholders including
member governments, CROP, UN agencies, academic and research institutions, industry
associations and NGOs. The recommendations of the Advisory Group are to be submitted to the
SPREP Meeting.

9.1.4 Reporting Requirements

As part of its programme management responsibilities, SPREP will regularly report on progress
with the implementation of SRIMP-PAC to SPREP members, to programme donors, to other
regional organisations, the IMO, the regional shipping and port industries and the cornmunity in
general. This will be achieved through:

o The normal SPREP reporting process to members, including publication and distribution of
the SPREP Annual Reports.

r The reporting requirements of individual funding arangements with programme donors.
o Presentations at relevant meetings, conferences, workshops and seminars.
r The regional news media.

a

a

a

a
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9.2 National arrangements

While the regional institutional arrangements outlined above ate vital to ensure overall regional
coordination, ultimately, practical measures to ensure the prevention, control and management of
IMPs need to be implemented by individual govemments at the national level. The national-level
institutional arrangements recommended by SRMP-PAC are based on those developed and
successfully applied by the IMO-GloBallast Programme and are similar to those in place in
countries such as Aushalia, as follows:

9.2.1 National Responsible Authority

9.2.1 National Lead Agency

Each govemment should designate a National Lead Agency (NLA) as the focal point for shipping-
related MP issues in the country. Given that SRIMP-PAC deals with shipping vectors, ideally the
NLA should be the transport/shipping administration, although some countries may designate the
marine resources/fisheries administration or the environment protection administration. Other
government ministries, departments and agencies must also play a role and assurne certain
responsibilities for IMP prevention, control and management.

9.2.2 National Task Forces

To ensure an integrated approach to IMP prevention, control and management, a multi-disciplinary
National Task Force (NTF) should be formed in each country and territory. Recognizing the
capacities and resources available in PICTs, the NTF could be integrated into existing groups such
as the national marine pollution committees. The NTF should comprise agencies such as:

r The NLA (Secretariat to the NTF).
r The Maritime transport administration
o The marine resources/fisheries administration.
r The environment protection adminisftation.
r The health and quarantine administrations.
r The port authority.
r The shipping industry.
o The main national-level marine environment NGO.
. Any national-level marine science body.
. The Ministry of Finance or equivalent.

The functions of the NTF are:

a

o

To review and approve national-level SRIMP-PAC budgets and workplans.
To coordinate national-level SRIMP-PAC activities with relevant activities of other
bodies.
To provide a forum for all relevant govemment bodies and other national stakeholders to
report on progress with IMP issues in their respective jurisdictions, and to share
information and news on latest developments.
To seek and secure national funding and support-in-kind for SRIMP-PAC activities.
To periodically review the overall national-level progress of SRIMP-PAC against its
stated aim and objectives, and recommend any necessary changes and realignments to the
biennial RTF Meetings.

a

o
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10. Foundation Activities

The experience of the MO-GloBallast Programme found that once institutional arrangements are
established at the national and regional levels, a number of basic and standard 'foundation
activities' need to be carried out when providing technical assistance, institutional strengthening
and capacity building to developing countries and regions to address shipping related IMPs. These
include communication and awareness, risk assessment, surveys and monitoring, legislation and
regulations, compliance and enforcement, technical taining and education, evaluation and review,
research and information management. The development of marine pest management
arrangements in countries such as Australia and New Zealandhas revealed similar issues.

SRIMP-PAC activities follow a similar approach, while adapting each element to the Pacific
islands context as outlined below.

10.1 Communication and awareness

A general lack of awareness amongst all sectors of society about the issue of IMPs has been
identified as one of the main barriers to the development and implementation of effective MP
prevention and control measures (IMO-GloBallast Programme, 2000). The 'awareness barrier' is
compounded by the fact that IMPs are not a highly visible phenomena which attract major media
attention, compared to major oil spill emergencies or similar environmental 'catastrophes'
(although the chronic impacts of IMPs can be far more severe than these acute pollution events).

While concerted awareness campaigns such as that carried out internationally by the GloBallast
Programme from 2000 to 2004 have significantly reduced this barrier, the lack of awareness still
persists in many sectors and in many parts of the world, including in the Pacific islands. Because
there has been a significant history of intentional introductions and ffanslocations of aquatic
species for fisheries and aquaculture production in the Pacific, there is often a positive perception
about introduced species amongst some stakeholders in the region.

A basic starting point for SRIMP-PAC is therefore to carry out a comprehensive communication
and awareness campaign, both regionally and in each country. This campaign comprises:

o Establishment of a SRMP-PAC page on the SPREP web site - linked to other relevant
sites such as MO-GloBallast, SPC and sites in Pacific-Rim countries.

o Development of awareness materials on both the ballast water and hull fouling issues.
o Running a series of awareness and training workshops for all stakeholders throughout the

region.
r lncluding [vIP issues in various regional newsletters and print media.
o Including IMP issues in relevant courses at the University of the South Pacific (uSP).
o lncluding [vIP issues in the maritime training curriculum that is coordinated by the SPC

RMP.
r lncluding IMP issues in presentations at various seminars, workshops, conferences and

meetings in the region, on an opportunistic basis.
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The development of SRIMP-PAC awareness materials will benefit from the excellent global
products available from IMO-GloBallast and those developed by some Pacific-Rim countries.

10.2 Rtsk assessment

No invasive marine pests risk assessment has been carried out for the Pacific islands region or for
any country or port within the region. These need to be carried out to provide a baseline in order
to guide required interventions and against which to measure the effectiveness of SRIMP-PAC
activities.

1 0.2.1 Overall risk assess/nenf

Risk assessment is a basic first-step for any country contemplating a formal system to prevent,
control and manage IMPs. In order to assess the risk of introductions and begin to design a

management regime for any given port, it is necessary to first understand the nature of the problem,
and define basic parameters such as the volumes of ballast water received and exported, the

frequency ofballast discharge and uptake events, the types and frequency offouled-vessel arrivals,
and the locations where ballast water and fouled vessels are received from (source ports) and

exported to (destination ports).

Fortunately, standard ballast water risk assessment methods have been developed and successfully
applied by the MO-GloBallast Programme, and NTWA in New Zealand has developed a risk'
based predictive tool for assessing the risks posed by hull fouling (Floerl et al 2005). Such
standard and readily available methods can be used by SRIMP-PAC to undertake a

comprehensive, overall MP risk assessment for the region and each major port in the region.

10.2.2 Vesse/ / voyage-specific risk assessment

ln determining the nature and extent of their IMP management measures, port States may wish to
assess the relative risk posed by particular trading routes/and or vessels. A risk-based 'selective '
approach could be attractive to PICTs that may not have sufficient resources to target every single
vessel calling at its ports, and which therefore need to prioritise their regulatory efforts. Under the
BW Convention, risk assessment may be used to determine if a ship can be exempt from
requirements. This requires some sort of a Decision Support System (DSS), and would benefit
from the overall risk profiles and supporting data generated by the overall risk assessment referred
to above.

Australia has developed a DSS that allows the ballast water risks posed by an individual ship on a
specific voyage, to be assessed before that ship arrives in Australia, and the Cawthron Institute in
New Zealand has a similar tool available (SHIPPING EXPLORER). The Canadian government is
currently evaluating these, to develop its own ballast water DSS. The risk-based predictive tool for
hull fouling developed by NTWA referred to above, can also be used for vessel I voyage specific
risk assessment.

Ultimately, these may be linked with each other and with other regional initiatives, to provide a

harmonized, Pacific-wide IMP risk assessment DSS, covering both the Pacific-Rim and the Pacific
islands region.
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10.3 Surueys & monitoring

The presence and distribution of introduced, non-native marine species in the Pacific Islands
region is poorly understood and apart from the US territories, no detailed studies or surveys have
been conducted in any port or on any open coastline in the region.

In order to solve any problem, it is first necessary to understand the problem, and researching and
documenting the patterns of biological invasions in coastal waters is fundamental to gaining this
understanding. It is not possible to prevent and control IMPs unless you know 'what they are' and
'where they are', and these cannot be achieved without an organised survey, monitoring and
surveillance effort.

Port surveys and monitoring programmes are needed to assist port States to meet their obligations
under the IMO BW Convention, to alert shipping and other interested parties to 'outbreaks' of
harmful aquatic organisms, to assist in prevanting their uptake, and to detect invasions as early as
possible, thereby increasing the chances of successful response, control and mitigation actions.

Surveys and monitoring are also needed to assess the effectiveness of management responses,
including the MO ballast water Convention, by providing data on changes in the rates and patterns
of invasion over time. Establishing a comprehensive, regional network of IMP survey and
monitoring programmes, is an essential part of the broader efforts to reduce the spread of IMPs
through all vectors. These surveys also bring huge benefits to science and the general
understanding of aquatic biodiversity and ecology.

ln recent years, initiatives by a number of countries and organizations have seen the development
of an extensive global network of a large number of sites where surv€ys and monitoring for IMPs
have been carried out.

Australia, through its Commonwealth Scientific and lndustrial Research Organization Centre for
Research on Introduced Marine Pests (CSIRO-CRIMP), pioneered the development of standard
protocols for surveys and monitoring of introduced species in port areas (Hewitt & Martin 1996,
2001). In 1996 CRIMP together with other Australian marine science bodies, various State
agencies and port authorities commenced the Australian National Port Survey Progtamme, which
by the end of 2003 had completed surveys using the standard CRIMP protocols, in 36 ports around
the country.

The CRIMP protocols have been adopted, adapted and applied at many more ports around the
world, including through the IMO GloBallast hogramme, and at more than 13 sites in NZ.

The Bishop Museum in Hawaii has developed its own methodology to undertake surveys
throughout Hawaii, Johnston Atoll, Midway Is. and American Samoa. The Srnithsonian
Environmental Research Centre (SERC) in the USA has established passive seftling plates at a
number of sites on the US Pacific Coast, and the Califomia Lands Commission is undertaking
surveys in Californian ports.
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Clearly, the major data gap that exists throughout the Pacific islands needs to be plugged, and the
SRIMP-PAC Workplan and Budget includes provision for an IMP Survey and Monitoring
Programme, based on a combination of methods, as follows:

r Full-scale, comprehensive, CRMP-style surveys at 'high risk' ports / yacht congregation
areas in the region,

r Reduced-scale, less rigorous 'surveillance' surveys using Bishop Museum methods at
representative 'medium risk' ports / yacht congregation areas in the region,

o Establishment of SERC-style passive settling plates at representative 'low risk' ports /
yacht congregation areas in the region,

Development and implementation of the Pacific Islands IMP Survey and Monitoring Programme
will be coordinated by SPREP and undertaken by a cooperative consortium comprising the
regional experts on this issue from CSIRO, NIWA, Bishop Museum and SERC, with active
participation by (and training of) marine scientists and students from USP and the University of
Guam as well as staff from PICT marine resources/fisheries adminisffations and the SPC Marine
Resources Prognmme. This training and capacity building component to develop regional
expertise is a major feature of this programme, and will include establishment of a regional
voucher and reference collection and IMP information system at USP.

Limitations in taxonomic expertise will certainly be a constraining factor for this effort (as is the
case world-wide), and the programme therefore includes a specific Taxonomy Initiative.

Development of this programme should be initiated by a technical workshop involving the players
mentioned above, so as to define roles and responsibilities, agree firnding and resource sharing
arrangements, and to map-out an action plan to get the surveys up and running.

Ultimately, the long-term objective of this activity is to establish an effective IMP monitoring and
early-warning system, and IMP surveys and monitoring should be 'mainstreamed' into the routine
environmental management activities of all ports, harbours, marinas, aquaculture sites and marine
protected areas in the region; carried out as ongoing, long-term monitoring prograrnmes; and
linked into the regional and any global IMP information system.

10.4 Legislation and regulations

Ultimately, for any country to be able to effectively prevent and control IMPs, it rnust have
appropriate national legislation and regulations, and to enable the provisions of international
Conventions that it has become a Party. Apart from the application of US laws such as NISA and
the US Coast Guard ballast water regulations in American Samoa, Guam and the Northern
Mariana Islands, to date no PICTs have enacted specific legislation or regulations relating to [MPs.

As an initiative under the SPREP / IMO PACPOL programme SPREP and the SPC RMP
developed a Regional Model Marine Pollution Prevention Act - A Template for Pacific Island
Countries. This model legislation was last revised in 2003. The intent of this model legislation
was to provide Pacific Island Countries with a ready-to-use, all-in-one template by which they
could rapidly develop national legislation that was generally consistent with the IMO marine
environment protection Conventions, including MARPOL, OPRC, London Convention and the
CLC and Fund Conventions.
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This model legislation pre-dated adoption of the IMO BW Convention (Feb 2004), and was
developed in the absence of an intemational regulatory regime for the fouling vector (as is still the
case in March 2005). However with considerable foresight the model included 'embryonic'
sections dealing with these two vectors for shipping-related IMPs (see box).

Now that the IMO BW Convention has been adopted it provides the standard for national
legislation, Ideally, IMP legislation and regulations should address both the ballast water and
fouling vectors in a single Act. The current absence of an international regulatory regime for the
fouling vector means that SPREP Members will be pioneering legislative developments in this
area. However other countries such as Aushalia ands New Zealand are developing legislative
arrangements to address biofouling and these will provide guidance for our efforts.

A review of the regional model legislation to bring it up to date with current IMP legal
developments is a key activity of SRIMP-PAC. This activity willbe carried out in two phases:

Phase 1: Develop regional model shipping-related IMP legislation that is fully consistent
with the IMO BW Convention, LINCLOS and CBD and which also includes the fouling
vector, and incorporates practical management measures.

Phase 2: Provide technical assistance to PICTs to develop their national legislation and
regulations, consistent with the regional model.

Extract from:
Regional Model Marine Pollution Prevention Act:
A Template for Pacific Island Countries.

6, Discharge of ballast water

(l) No ballast water containing non-indigenous harmful aquatic organisms andl/or pathogens
shall be discharged from a vessel into (Country name) waters.

(2) If any ballast water containing non-indigenous harmfi.rl aquatic organisrns and/or
pathogens is discharged from any vessel into (Country name) waters, the owner and
master commit an offence and shall be liable upon conviction to a fine not exceeding
(82s0,000\.

(3) The Master of a vessel that discharges ballast water in (Country name) waters shall
comply with any voluntary or mandatory ballast water management requirements issued
by the lnternational Maritime Organization in force at the time of the discharge.

(4) The Master of a vessel that intends to discharge ballast water in (Country name) waters
shall, prior to such discharge, complete and submit to the (Minister/Secretary) a Ballast
Water Reporting Form in the form approved for that purpose.

(5) It shall be a defence to show that all reasonable measures to comply with any voluntary or
mandatory ballast water management requirements issued by the lnternational Maritime
Organization in force at the time were taken to ensure that no ballast water containing non-
indigenous harmful aquatic organisms or pathogens were discharged from a vessel into
(Country name) waters.
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7. HUII scraping and cleaning

(l) The scraping and cleaning of the hulls and other external surfaces of vessels in a manner
that may result in the introduction of non-indigenous harmful aquatic organisms or
pathogens into (Country name) waters is prohibited.

(2) Any person who breaches this section commits an offence and shall be liable upon
conviction to a fine not exceeding ($250,000).

10.5 Compliance and enforcement

Legislations and regulations are of limited value if compliance and enforcement is not effective. At
the intemational level, very little progress has been made in developing compliance rnonitoring
and enforcement systems and procedures in relation to IMP regulatory arrangernents. hr
September 2004, the IMO GloBallast Programme held an international workshop in han to review
the current global state-of-play in relation to ballast water CME systems, and found that this is a
very embryonic but rapidly developing field. The report on this workshop is available at
http://qloballast.imo.org/publications .

Because it will be some years before PICTs will have enforceable IMPs legislation, and because
CME systems and methods will develop rapidly in this time, and considering the rnany other
'baseline' activities that PICTs need to complete under SRIMP-PAC in order to begin to address
IMPs, CME activities are not immediately included in the SRIMP-PAC Workplan (section 13),
although Projects LAI to LA3 and Project PSCI in Table Two (section 13) have relevapt
components. After two years from the commencement of SRIMP-PAC, we will review this and if
appropriate, develop a more detailed CME component for implementation in the region.

10.6 Technical training and capacity building

One of the underlying principles of SRIMP-PAC is that faining and capacity-building are core
requirements in order to address the current limitations on the capacity of PICTs to manage IMPs.
This is to be achieved in the SRIMP-PAC Strategy through:

o Including training and capacity building as an integral component of all SRIMP-PAC
activities (e.g. the IMP surveys and monitoring progranrme).

e Developing a purpose-made modular training course on shipping-related IMPs prevention
and control, targeting government officials and managers in the port and shipping industry,
for delivery at regional workshops and in each PICT. This will be based on the standard
GloBallast modular training package that is already available from MO, developed further
to include the fouling vector and to suit the Pacific islands region. It should be noted that
GISP and UNEP-CBD are developing standard modular training materials for non-ballast
marine vectors to complement the GloBallast training package, and this will be assessed
by SPREP for use in the SRIMP-PAC haining courses.
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maritime training curriculum that is

o Including IMP issues in relevant courses at USP.

10.7 lnformation management

ln order for the Strategy to be effective, it is important that good information management supports
IMP prevention and control efforts. SRMP-PAC proposes the establishment of a Pacific MP
lnformation System (PAC-IMPIS). Ideally, such a system should be compatible with and linked to
other similar systems, such as the Australian National Introduced Marine Pests krformation
System (NIMPIS - www.marine.csiro.ar:/crimp/nimpis) and the US National Exotic Marine and

Estuarine Species Information System (NEMESIS - www.serc.si.edu/nemesis). The technical
specifications for PAC-IMPIS should therefore be derived directly from NIMPIS and NEMESIS
(which are themselves compatible). These databases contain information on the distribution,
biology, ecology and impacts of invasive aquatic species, and in the case of PAC-IMPIS would be

populated by data from the surveys and monitoring described in section 10.3.

To be complete and comprehensive PAC-IMPIS should also hold and manage information on
vessel movements and ballast water and hull fouling management issues (which are not included in
systems such as NMPIS and NEMISIS). The US National Ballast Information Clearing House
(www.serc.si.edu/nbic) provides a potential model for this module of PAC-IMPIS. Data derived
from the risk assessments described under section 10.2 and collected by PICT Port State Control
authorities such as from IMO Ballast Watsr Reporting Forms (Section 11.2) would assist in
populating this database.

PAC-IMPIS would need to be housed at a relevant and suitable regional institution such as USP or
SPC.

10.8 Cooperation with Pacific-Rim countries

Most ships, yachts and other vessels that voyage to and through the Pacific Islands originate from
Pacific-Rim countries. It is important that activities under SRIMP-PAC are coordinated with these

countries, in particular devising strategies to prevent the uptake and carriage of potentially invasive
species at Pacific-Rim source ports, with the aim of preventing their spread to the islands, and vice
versa. Coordinating and integrating SRIMP-PAC with the IMP shategies and activities of
Pacific-Rim countries, including through APEC, will provide a more holistic, 'whole of the

Pacific' or'Total Ocean-Basin' approach to IMP management.

It is therefore important that SPREP should liase with relevant authorities in these counffies to
identify opportunities for integration, coordination and synergies as well as co-financing of
common activities, and to endeavour to ensure uniform application of harmonized management
measures in the region, including the MO BW Convention.

A review has been carried out to provide an overview of relevant activities of the Pacific-
Rim countries that are most active on IMP issues, along with recommendations for. It is
recornmended that SPREP to seek cooperation with these countries individually or through
APEC, this will be done in part through inviting APEC and Pacific-Rim countries to be

members of the SRIMP-PAC Ad-hoc Technical Advisory Groups or to attend relevant
regional meetings.

I
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Practical Management Measures

As outlined in section 8 the SRIMP-PAC Stratery is based on the principle of "layered defence",
with management measures organized into three layers as follows:

o Pre-border (incursion prevention)
o At-border (incursion interdiction)
o Post-border (incursion response, control and mitigation)

Each of these three layers is in turn divided into general arrangements which apply irrespective of
the vector, followed by a hull fouling and ballast water component which outlines the management
measures that apply specifrcally to these vectors, in each layer.

11.1 Pre-border (incursion prevention)

1 1.1.1 General pre-border measures

"The most effective shategy for biosecurity conffol is to focus on minimising the arrival of new
non-native species - prevention is better than cure. At-border and post-border controls will not be
as effective as pre-border measures due to difficulties in detecting and eradicating introductions.
This is especially difficult in the marine environment as the technology to inspect vectors is only in
the developmental phase and organisms can rapidly disperse over a wide area by currents and
tides." (MAF-NZ 2004).

Two general measures are recommended under SRIMP-PAC as part of pre-border incursion
prevention efforts; risk assessment and communication and awareness campaigns at Pacific-Rim
source ports.

Risk assessment: The first ganeral pre-border incursion prevottion measure is to
undertake an overall rjsk assessment for the region (addressing both the fouling and ballast
vectors), as outlined in section 10.2 and included in the SRIMP-PAC Workplan.

To support such risk assessments, under SRMP-PAC, SPREP Members should work
through the RTF, through regional groups like APEC, and through direct bilateral linl$
with Pacific-Rim countries, to ensure that IMP suwey and monitoring programmes are
extended to all major Pacific-Rim ports, especially those in Asia and South America where
there are currently major survey and monitoring gaps (see section 10.3).

Communication and awareness: In order to help prevent foreign marine species entering
the Pacific islands region a comprehensive communications and awareness strategy as
outlined in Section l0.l and included in the SRIMP-PAC Workplan (section 13) is
required. High priority source ports targeted for this communication and awareness effort
will be determined by the outcomes of the risk assessment, and may include the Panama
Canal and Pacific eoast departure ports in Canada, USA, Mexico, Chile, New Zealand,
Australia, China and Japan (in relevant languages).
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11 .1.2 Pre-border fouling management measures

The most effective way to prevent IMPs being introduced to the Pacific islands region through
vessel fouling, is for PICTs to work with relevant authorities in Pacific-Rim countries, to ensure
that best-practice fouling prevention and control measures are applied in Pacific-Rim ports. Taylor
& Rigby (2002) provide a comprehensive synopsis of best-practice fouling nurnagement measures,
and these are summarised in the Generic Fouling Management Template in Appendix t.

Such an approach would involve developing a system, in cooperation with Pacific-Rim countries,
to ensure that all vessels that depart ports in these countries on voyages destined for PICTs are free
of fouling before they depart. This would involve vessels being inspected for fouling, and should
fouling be observed, having it removed before the vessel is authorised to leave port (NB. Ideally,
appropriate conffols and facilities would need to be available in these ports for such a cleaning
operations, so as to ensure that marine pests are not left in the ports after cleaning).

Taylor & Rigby (2002) describe methods for undertaking vessel fouling inspections, including:
o On-board assessment by vessels' crew
o Hull inspection from dockside
. Hull inspection from small boat
o Hull inspection underwater (diver and remote cameras)

Floerl et al (2005), Coutts at al (2003) and Coutts & Taylor (2002) also describe methods for
assessing fouling on vessels.

In addition to the hull, high-risk fouling areas including sea-chest grills, areas around the propeller
and rudder, and also anchors, anchor chains and anchor lockers, require inspection. Fishing
vessels also require inspection of fishing nets, ropes, traps, floats and other gear that may host
fouling species.

An example of such an approach (albeit a domestic one implemented within a single country's
jurisdiction), can be found in NZ, where a Biosecurity Code of Practice for Vessels Operating
Around the Sub-Antarctic Islands (MFish 2005) has been developed. This code establishes
guidelines to reduce the risk of hull fouling introductions to the Sub-Antarctic islands; and in
particular the highly invasive Norlhem Pacific seaweed Undaria pinnatafida, which is has been
introduced to mainland NZ. While the above Code of Practice is a domestic one there is nothing
to prevent PICTs putting in place a regional one. There is a long history of regional co-operation
that should assist this approach. Consideration should be given to extension of this into pacific-rim
countries though in the absence of an international regulatory regime for the fouling vector, such
international cooperation with Pacific-Rim countries may well be difficult to achieve.

It is therefore recornmended that under SRIMP-PAC, SPREP Members should work through
regional groups like APEC, and through direct bilateral links with Pacific-Rim countries, to
ensure that effective fouling prevention and control measures are put in place at Pacific-Rim ports,
so as to prevent the spread of fouling species from these ports into the Pacific islands region.
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One high-priority target area for this approach could be the Pacific end of the Panama Canal.
Because this concentrates a large number of vessels, from merchant vessels to small private yachts,
in one clearly defined area before they head into the Pacific, it may be feasible to require vessels to
undergo a fouling inspection here before they are authorised to enter the Pacific. This would
capture a considerable percentage of vessels that voyage to PICTs, and potentially prevent a

significant number of marine bio-invasions (e.9. the introduction of the Black Striped mussel from
the Gulf of Mexico / Caribbean). SPREP and SPREP mernbers, in coordination with IMO, should
seek to work with the Govemment of Panama towards establishing such a system.

To demonstrate our commitment to Pacific-Rim countries, PICTs should work to implement
fouling prevention and conkol measures in their own ports, to prevent the spread of IMPs from our
own ports to Pacific-Rim ports. To improve the impetus for all countries to implement such
measures, PICTs should work through IMO, to initiate and accelerate the developrnent of an
intemational regulatory regime for the fouling vector, which complements the IMO BW
Convention.

1 1.1.3 Pre-border ballast management measures

One of the main objectives of SRIMP-PAC is to ensure rapid ratification and harmonized
implementation of the IMO BW Convention in PICTs, and all ballast management practices
outlined in SRMP-PAC are derived from and are intended to be consistent with the BW
Convention.

As with the fouling vector, one of the main thrusts of pre-border ballast management measures
under SRIMP-PAC is to prevent IMPs from being taken up by ships in Pacific-Rim ports, thereby
preventing their transfer into the Pacific islands region.

Under the Regulation C2 of the BW Convention, it is recommended that port Sates advise ships of
areas where there are known outbreaks of harmful aquatic organisms and pathogens (e.g.harmful
algae blooms), sewage outfalls and areas of poor tidal flushing, so that ships may avoid taking on
ballast in these areas, so as to prevent the uptake of potentially harmful aquatic orga:risms and
pathogens at the source port.

As described above for pre-border fouling management measures, this approach would involve a

high degree of international cooperation, in order to ensure that source ports around the Pacific-
Rim implement the necessary surveys, monitoring and reporting systems so as to be able detect
outbreaks of harmful aquatic organisms and pathogens, and communicate areas and times to be
avoided to the shipping industry.

It is therefore recornmended that under SRIMP-PAC, SPREP Members should work through
regional groups like APEC, and through direct bilateral links with Pacific-Rim countries, to
ensure that these measures are put in place at Pacific-Rim ports (see also sections 10.2 and 10.3).
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Once a ship commences its voyage, there are a number of pre-border ballast management
measures that can be applied during the voyage, in accordance with Regulation B-3 of the
Convention, including:

o Undertaking ballast water exchange at sea in accordance with Regulations B-3 and D-l of
the Convention.

r Undertaking shipboard teatment of ballast water en route to PICTs in accordance with
Regulation D-2 of the Convention.

lt should be noted that there are significant limitations on the practice of ballast water exchange at
sea, including the fact that it may be unsafe for some vessels during certain weather and sea
conditions, the fact that some voyages may not pass beyond 200Nm or even 50nm of the coast in
accordance with Regulation B-3 of the Convention, the fact that some voyages may be too short to
allow sufficient time to undertake complete exchange in compliance with Regulation D-l of the
Convention, and the fact that even when complete exchange is able to be undertaken in full
compliance with the Convention, species may still be transferred. The implementation of
requirements for arriving ships to undertake ballast water exchange at sea before discharging
ballast in PICT ports therefore constitutes a 'risk-reduction' measure only.

It should also be noted that in relation to shipboard treatment of ballast water, there are currently
no corrunercially viable and practically feasible technologies available that can meet Regulation D-
2 of the Convention, although there are a large number of R&D projects underway which promise
to deliver such technoloeies in the near future.

11.2 At-border (incursion interdiction)

11 .2.1 General at-border measures

For the purposes of SRIMP-PAC, the border of PICTs in relation to IMPs is the EEZ, although in
actual practice many at-border management measures can only be applied to vessels just prior to
port entry. At-border measures primarily involve an inspection regime to ensure that arriving
vessels have complied with pre-border incursion prevention requirements.

11.2.2 At-border fouling management measures

As a result of the Black Striped Mussel incursion in Darwin in 1999, Aushalia has developed a
National Border Bio-fouling Protocol for Apprehended and Small International Vessels. This
provides a possible model for PICTs to implement at-border fouling management measures.
Essentially, such meastres involve:

o Scrutiny of high risk vessels and other floating facilities before allowing their entry or
detention in, and movement from or between PICT ports;

o Inspection of international yachts and other pleasure craft at their first port of call to ensure
they are free of exotic organisms, and prompt action to remove these vessels from the
water for cleaning should exotics be detected; and
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. Promotion of good maintenance and antifouling practices to small boat owners, including
actions to ensure boats do not continue to operate, or move outside their home port when
the predicted life of the paint scheme has been exceeded or the antifouling has lost its
effectiveness.

r I ban on the scraping and cleaning of the hulls and other extemal surfaces of vessels in a
manner that may result in the introduction of IMPs into PICT waters (e.g. in-water
cleaning and scraping).

o { requirement that when hulls and other external surfaces of vessels are scraped and/or
cleaned in dry-dock / on slipways / when careened ashore, any organisms removed are
disposed of appropriately ashore.

Implementation of such measures requires adequate resourcing and training of port State
inspection and quarantine authorities in PICTs, and this is provided for in the SRIMP-PAC
Workplan.

11.2.3 At-border ballast management measures

The main at-border ballast management measure to be irnplemented by PICTs involves port State
control inspections to assess whether relevant ships have undertaken ballast water exchange at sea

or other ballast water management measures as required by the IMO BW Convention.

The simplest and most useful at-border tool that can be implemented by PICTs is to require all
arriving ships to submit Ballast Water Reporting Forms as per the MO ballast water Guidelines
(A.868 (20)). While the new BW Convention only requires ships to record, and not necessarily
report, ballast water information, experience gained at the six GloBallast Demonstration Sites
between 2000 and 2005, showed that the basic data generated by these forms, while often fraught
with errors and incompleteness, proved invaluable in allowing Port State authorities to begin to
assess and understand the nature and magnitude of the ballast watsr issue in their country. Until
such time as the BW Convention enters into force, the '4'.868 

(20) guidelines continue to apply.
Even after entry-into-force of the Convention, port States may continue to require ships to submit
Ballast Water Reporting Forms.

The collection of these forms is considered a fundamental starting point for any country beginning
to address the issue. Collection of these forms must be supported by the establishment of a

national information system to store, manage and assess the resulting data, and the data should be
provided to the regional information system established under SRMP-PAC (section 10.7).
Considering the resource limitations of PICTs, collection of these forms should be integrated with
the routine collection of other information from ships by PICT PSC agencies such as customs and
quarantine.

Under Article 9 of the BW Convention (Inspection of Ships) port State Control inspectors can
veriff that the ship has a valid certificate; inspect the Ballast Water Record Book; and/or sample
the ballast water. If there are concerns, then a detailed inspection may be carried out and "the Party
carrying out the inspection shall take such steps as will ensure that the ship shall not discharge
Ballast Water until it can do so without presenting a threat of harm to the environment, human
health, property or resources." A11 possible efforts shall be made to avoid a ship being unduly
detained or delayed (Article 12 Undue Delay to Ships).
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Should such inspections indicate that a ship has not undertaken ballast water exchange at sea, or
applied altemative ballast water management measures as outlined in the BW Convention,
contingency arrangements are required, whereby the ship may be requested to steam offshore into
deep oceanic waters to undertake exchange prior to ballast discharge in port. In the case of PICTs,
which in most cases have water deeper than 200m relatively close to shore, such a requirement
may not be particularly onerous.

Implementation of such an inspection capability requires adequate resourcing and training of port
State inspection and quarantine authorities in PICTs, and this is provided for in the SRIMP-PAC
Workplan.

11.2.4 Ballast tank sediments

Another important at-border ballast management measure relates to preventing the disposal of
ballast tank sediments in PICT ports. Under Article 5 Sediment Reception Facilities, Parties
undertake to ensure that ports and terminals where cleaning or repair of ballast tanks occurs have

adequate reception facilities for the reception of sediments. The SRIMP-PAC therefore includes
an activity to identify and assess those ports in the region where cleaning or repair of ballast tanls
occurs, and to develop a ballast tank sediment management plan for each.

11.3 Post-border (incursion response, control & mitigation)

Once a foreign marine species establishes in a new environment, efforts need to undertaken to
respond to the incursion, including in order to control its further spread and mitigate its impacts,
and if possible to eliminate it from the invaded environment.

It should be noted that in the vast majority of cases, once a marine bio-invasion is discovered, very
little could be done to stop its spread. One notable exception is the incursion of the Black Striped
Mussel in a Darwin marina in 1999, where the incursion was successfully eliminated. Following
from the Darwin experience, the Australian National System for the Prevention and Management
of Introduced Marine Pests, includes an ongoing management and control element coordinated by
the Department of Environment and Heritage. This element aims to contain and conhol any
introduced marine pests that have established viable populations within Ausffalia and are having,
or are expected to have a significant impact on the marine environment, industry or hurnan health,
through nationally agreed Control Plans. National Control Plans are currently being developed for
11 species that have been identified as having a potential or actual significant impact on the marine
environment or industry. Also in Australia the CSIRO has published a tool-kit outlining control
options for various IMP species (www.marine.csiro.ar:/crimp/nimpislcontrols.htm).

New Zealand is also active in this area, including the development of a confol plan for the
northern Pacific seaweed Undaria pinnatifida.

While the primary focus of SRIMP-PAC is the prevention of marine bio-invasions through the pre-
and at-border measures outlined above, in anticipation that such measures do sometimes fail, it is
necessary for PICTs to develop regional and national IMP incursion response, control and
mitigation plans, and the SRIMP-PAC Workplan provides for this. The incursion response,
control and mitigation efforts being undertaken in Australia and NZ as outlined above provide
models and templates for this activity.

I

I

I
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12. Transit Shipping

Transit shipping is shipping that travels through our region but does not call at any of our regional
ports. As clearly evident on Figure 2, the Pacific Islands play unwitting host to transit ships trading
between the major economies of the Pacific-Rim, passing through their Exclusive Economic Zones
(EEZ).

In terms of ballast water and IMPs, this creates a potential (and as yet un-assessed) problem for
Pacific Island marine environments. Transit ships en-route from Japan to Australia, Singapore to
South America or New Zealand to California, for example, may pass through PICT waters. In
order to comply with the ballast water management requirements of Pacific-Rim ports, such ships
may undertake ballast water exchange in the vicinity of small island States, and therefore
potentially (and inadvertently) threaten PICTs with these ballast water discharges. . In order to
assess and address the potential ballast water threat posed by hansit shipping, the SRIMP-PAC
Workplan includes a Transit Shipping Assessment project.

The MO BW Convention requires that ships that undertake ballast water exchange at sea should
do so at a distance of more than 200 NM from land and in waters with a depth greater than 200
metres. Reductions to 50 NM from land and in waters with a depth greater than 200 mefres or in
other areas designated for the purpose by Port States are provided for, where operational factors,
voyage route and/or safety considerations prevent the greater distance being complied with.

Through their National ballast water management regimes, Australia, Canada, Chile, NZ and the
USA require ships to record and in some cases report their mid-ocean ballast water exchange
locations. Several countries have plotted these on Geographic Information System (GIS) and
Australia and NZ have undertaken an evaluation of areas suitable for ballast water exchange at sea.
The Transit Shipping Assessment includes using this data to identi! and map the locations in the
Pacific where ships report undertaking mid-ocean ballast exchange. These will be assessed with
regard to proximity to Pacific island coastal and marine resources, prevailing oceanographic
conditions, and compliance with the distance from shore and depth requirements of the BW
Convention, to enable an enlightened assessment of the potential risks posed (or not posed) by
transit ballast exchange.

Without pre-empting the findings of this assessment, given the rapid increase in ocean depths and
the highly oceanic conditions that prevail close to most Pacific island coastlines (especially the
more isolated islands in eastern Polynesia and eastern Micronesia), the assessment may well find
that risks are not that high. However, simple distance from the coast and water depth may not be
the best indicators of risk. Biophysical oceanographic parameters including temperature gradients
and phytoplankton concentrations throughout the region will also be used in the assessment.

Again, without pre-empting the findings of the assessment, those PICTs that have coastal-tlpe
oceanographic conditions extending fwther seaward, and which are comprised of larger,
continental islands that are close together and which host larger numbers of ballasted hansit ships,
may well be at risk from these ships conducting ballast exchange at sea (e.g. the western
Melanesian islands of PNG and the Solomon Is.).
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Should the assessment indicate such high risk zones, it may be necessary to consider a process for
PICTs to require "additional measures' to be applied in these zones in accordance with Regulation
C-l of the IMO BW Convention, and also the possibility of designating these as Panicularly
Sensitive Sea Areas (PSSAs) through MO, thereby allowing the relevant PICT to implement more
stringent control measures in these areas.

Workplan & Budget

The SRIMP-PAC Workplan forms the 'backboneo of the Stratery, outlining the projects that need

to be implemented in order to reduce shipping-related IMPs in the region. The SRIMP-PAC
Workplan is to be undertaken over S-years. Projects are grouped into the following categories (in
no particular order ofpriority):

o lnstitutional Arrangements (lA)
r Communication and Awareness (CA)
r Risk Assessmant (RA)
o Surveys and Monitoring (SM)
r Legislation and Regulations (LA)
r Training & Capacity Building (TCB)
r Port State Control (PSC)
e Ballast Sediments Management (BSM)
r lncursion Response and Control (IRC)
r Transit Shipping (TA)
o lnformation management (IA)

The projects contained within the Workplan reflect the needs and priorities of PICTs, as identified
through consultations during the formulation of SRIMP-PAC.

In recognition that it is likely that no one donor will fund the entire programme individual projects

or group of projects will be developed into more detailed project proposals with their respective

implementation programrnes. The intent of the workplan and budget is to define indicafive
programme of activities and budget.
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Financing & Sustainability Plan

Any Regional Strategy is of limited use if it simply exists as a document and is not actually
implemented. This of-course requires adequate financing and resourcing to allow full and
effective implementation on an on-going, sustainable basis. Ideally, the implementation of
environmental protection and maritime regulatory regimes such as those proposed in SRIMP-PAC
should be self-sustaining and based on the 'user pays' principle.

Further development and finalisation of the'Workplan and Budget contained in section 13, and
especially Table 3, should include refined differentiation of initiation costs (e.g. conducting an
overall regional risk assessment) and ongoing/operational costs (e.g. maintaining a regional
information system), as well as refined differentiation of central/regional costs (e,g. for SPREP to
undertake its overall Strategy coordination role) from in-country costs (e.g. for Port State Control
activities). These differentiations will further assist the development of the financing and
sustainability plan.

In 2004 the IMO GloBallast Prograrnme undertook a Global Review of Self Financing
Mechanisms for Ballast lVater Management Regintes. This review identified three basic models
for funding and resourcing such regimes, as follows;

o Reliance on external donors through official development assistance.
o The taxpayer of the country pays through govemment funding.
. The user (shipping industry) pays through port fees, levies or duties.

The review identified a number of examples of 'user pays' systems, including the Californian
example where each visiting ship pays a set flat fee to a central ballast water managernent fund,
and an earlier Australian example where visiting ships paid a fee per tonne of cargo carried.

While these funding schemes have proven highly successful in their particular settings,
unfortunately, the relatively low volumes of shipping in Pacific island ports are unlikely to make
similar approaches viable in the Pacific islands context.

Similarly, given their extremely small, aid-dependant economies, very limited tax bases and
numerous competing development priorities, it is highly unlikely that PICT governments would be
able to fund IMP control and management programmes from their own government revenues.

This means that effective implementation of SRIMP-PAC is unavoidably dependant on the
provision of funding and support from extemal donorsn through bilateral official development
assistance (e.g. AusAID, NZAID, USAID, CIDA etc), and multi-lateral technical cooperation
programmes such as the MO-ITCP, GEF and World Bank and regional bodies such as APEC.

49April2006
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Full implementation of all SRMP-PAC projects as outlined in the Workplan in Section 13

requires a core total budget of US$3.9 million over five years. When considering that this applies
to 22 separate countries and territories spread over the world's largest ocean, this is not a

particularly large amount of money. The benefits that will accme in terms of increased protection
of coastal and marine resources that form the basis of the livelihoods of Pacific islands peoples
make such an investment highly worthwhile. Extension of an IMP management regime over such
a large area of the Pacific will also have major benefits for Pacific-Rim countries, in terms of
increased protection of their resources and ecosystems.

Given the extremely small economies of PICTs, the exhemely large economies of Pacific-Rim
countries (such as the USA, Japan, China, Canada, Australia and the Republic of Korea), and the
benefits that will accnre to Pacific-Rim countries from the effective implementation of SRIMP-
PAC, Pacific-Rim countries should be approached to fund the Strategy and implementation of its
Workplan.

It is also important to explore possible links with other multi-lateral funding initiatives, including
three relevant GEF proposals:

o The proposed GEF / SPREP project Pacific Invasive Species Management, I

o The proposed GEF / GISP project Building Capacity and Raising Awareness in Invasive
Alien Species Prevention and Management; and

o the proposed GEF / IMO project Building Regtonal Partnerships for Effective Ballast
Water Control and Management in Developing Countries (GloBallast Partnerships)

The GloBallast Partnerships proposal is of particular relevance, and SRMP-PAC provides an I

excellent framework for the implementation of GloBallast activities in the region, including
replication of the experiences gained at the GloBallast Demonstration Site in Dalian, China.

I

April2006 50



I TSlWOfficialsMP. 8.2. I /Att. I
Page 5 I

DRAFT ONLY

REFERENCES

Adams, T., Richards, A., Dalzell, P. & Bell, L. (1995). Research on Fisheries in the Pacific
Islands Region. ln South Pacific Commission and Forum Fisheries Aeency Workshop on the
Management of South Pacific lnshore Fisheries - Manuscript Collection of Country Statements
and Backeround Papers Vol 2. Integrated Coastal Fisheries Management Project Technical
Document No. 12. SPC Noumea.

AMOG Consulting (2002) Hull Foulinq as a Vector for the Translocation of Marine Organisms -
series of reports to Australian Department of Agriculture, Fisheries And Forestry.

Anderson, 8., Judson, B., Tu'itupou, S. & Thaman, B. (2003) Marine Pollution Risk Assessment
for the Pacific lslands Region (PACPOL Project Ral). SPREP, Samoa.

Carlton, J. T. (2001). Introduced soecies in US coastal waters - environmental irnpacts and
management priorities. Pew Oceans Commission, Arlington, Virginia.

Carlton, J.T. (1999a). The scale and ecoloeical consequences of biological invasions in the world's
oceans. ln Invasive Species and Biodiversity Management. O.T. Sunderland, P.J. Schei and A.
Viken, eds. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, Netherlands, 19 5 -212.

Carlton, J. T. ( 1999). The scale and ecolosical conseouences of biolosical invasions in the world's
oceans, pp. 195-212. in: Odd Terje Sandlund, Peter Johan Schei, and Auslaug Viken, editors,
Invasive Species and Biodiversity Managemmt. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 431 pp.

CIA (2001). Central lntellieence Agency World Factbook. www.cia.gov/cialpublications/factbooV

Clarke, C., Hilliard, R., Liuy, Y., Polglaze, J., Zhao, D., Xu, X. & Raaymakers, S. (2004). BallaSt
Water Risk Assessment. Port of Dalian. Peoples' Republic of China. November 2003: Final
Reoorl GloBallast Monograph Series No. 12. IMO London.

Chisholm, J (in prep). The Global Economic Impacts of Invasive Aquatic Species - an Initial
Scopins Study. Report to the GEF/LINDP/IMO Global Ballast Water Management Programme,
IMO London.

I Coles, S. L., Reath, P.R., Skelton, P.A.. Bonito, V., deFelice, R.C. & Basch, L. (2003).Inhoduced
Marine Species in Pago Pago Harbor. Faeatele Bay and the National Park Coast. American Samoa.
Final report prepared for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Fagetele Bay
Marine Sanctuary, National Park of American Samoa and American Samoa Departnent of Marine
and Natural Resources. Technical Report No 26 Bishop Museum, Honolulu.

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, and L. G. Eldredge. (2002a). Nonindieenous marine species
inhoductions in Kane'ohe Bay" O'ahu . Hawai'i. Tech. Rep. No. 24, Bishop Museum, Honolulu.

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, and L. G. Eldredge. (2002b). Nonindiqenous marine species
introductions at Waikiki and Hawai'i Kai. O'ahu. Hawai'i. Tech. Rep. No. 25, Bishop Museurn,
Honolulu.

April2006 51



1 TSlWOfficials/VVP. 8.2. I /Att. I
Page 52

DRAF"T ONLY

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, and D. Minton. (2001). Marine species survev of Johnston Atoll June
2000. Bishop Museum Tech. Rep. 19, U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Pacific Islands
Area Office, Honolulu.

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, L, G. Eldredge, and J. T. Carlton. (1999a). Historical and recent
inhoductions to non-indieenous marine species into Pearl Harbor. O'ahu. Hawaiian Islands. Mar.
Biol. 135:1247-1158.

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, and L. G. Eldredge. (1999b). Nonindisenous marine species
introductions in the harbors of the south and west shores of O'ahu. Hawai'i. Tech. Rep.No. 15,

Bishop Museum, Honolulu.

Coles, S. L., R. C. DeFelice, J. E. Smith, and L. G. Eldredge. (1998). Determination of baseline
conditions for introduced marine species in nearshore waters of the island of Kaho'olawe. Hawai'i.
Tech. Rep. No. 14, Bishop Museum, Honolulu.

Coles, S, L., Defelice, R. C., Eldredge, L. G. and Carlton, J. T. (1997). Biodiversity of marine
communities in Pearl Harbor. Oahu. Hawaii with observations on introduced exotic species.
Bishop Museum Tech. Rep. No. 10, Honolulu.

Coutts, A.D.M, Kirrily, A, Moore, M. and Hewitt, C.L (2003) Ships' Sea-Chests: An Overlooked
Transfer Mechanism for Non-lndisenous Marine Species? Marine Pollution Bulletin 46 (2003)
1504-1515

Coutts, A.D,M & Taylor, M.D (2004) Preliminary Investieation of Biosecurity Risks
A Preliminary Investigation of Biosecurity Risks Associated with Biofouling on Merchant Vessels
in New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine And Freshwater Research,2004, Vol. 38: 215-
229

Cranfield, H. J.; Gordon, D. J.; Willan, R. C.; Marshall, B. C.;Battershill, C.N.; Francis, M.P.;
Nelson, W. A.; Glasby, C. J.; Read, G. B. (1998) Adventive marine species in New Zealand.
NIWA Technical Report No. 34. 48 p.

DeFelice, R. C., Coles, S. L., Muir, D and Eldredge, L. G. (1998). Investigation of the marine
communities of Midwav Harbor and adiacent laeoon. Midwav Atoll. Northwestern Hawaiian
Islands. Final report to the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Pacific Islands Area Office, Honolulu.

Eldridge, L.G, (1994). Perspectives in Aquatic Exotic Species Management in the Pacifrc Islands -
Volume I: Introductions of Commercially Significant Aquatic Orsanisms to the Pacific Islands.
lnshore Fisheries Research Project Technical Document No. 7. SPC Noumea.

Eldredge, L. G., & Carlton, J. T. (2002). Hawaiian Marine Bioinvasions: A Preliminary
Assessment. Pacifi c Science 56:21 l -212.

Ferguson, R (2000). The Effectiveness Of Aushalia's Response To The Black Shiped Mussel
Incursion In Darwin. Ausfalia. A Report of the Marine Pest Incursion Management 'Workshop,

27-28 August, 1999. Community Information Unit, Department of Environment and Heritage,
Canberra, Australia.

t

April 2006 52



I TSlWOfficialsffiIP. 8. 2. I /Att. I
Page 53

DRAFT ONLY

Floerl, O., lnglis, G.J, and Hayden, B. J. (in prep). A Risk-Based Predictive Tool To Prevent
Accidental Introductions of Non-lndiqenous Marine Species.

Forsyth, D. and Sisto, N.P. (1999). Shipping in the Forum region. Report prepared for South
Pacific Forum. 42p.

Heathcote, P. (1996). Shipping in the reeime of oceans. Maritime Studies 1-9 (no. 89).
http ://law. uniserve.edu. au/law/pub/iclimStudies_8 9ms_shiopin g.html.

Hewitt, C.L. & Martin, R. B. (2001).Revised Protocols for Baseline Port Surveys for Inhoduced
Marine Species - Survev Design Sampling Protocols and Specimen Handling. Cenfte for
Research on Introduced Marine Pests Technical Report No. 22. CSIRO Marine Research Hobart.

Hewift, C.L. & Martin, R. B. (1996). Port Surveys for Introduced Marine Species - Background
Considerations and Sampling Protocols. Centre for Research on Introduced Marine Pests

Technical Report No. 4. CSIRO Marine Research Hobart.

International Maritime Organization, (1999). Alien invaders -puttins a stop to the ballast water
hitch-hikers. IMO News Number 41999.

Paulay, G., Kirkendale, L., lambert, G. and Mayer, C. (2002). Antropogenic biotic interchange in a

coral reef ecosystem: a case study from Guam. Pac. Sci. 56:403419.

Paulay, G., L. Kirkendale, G. Lambert, and J. Starmer. (Unpubl. Ms). The marine invertebrate
biodiversitv of Apra Harbor: significant areas and intoduced soecies. with focus on sponges

echinoderms and ascidians. Cooperative agreement N687 I I -97-LT-7000 1,

Naval Activities Guam, Aganao Guam.

Taylor, A.H. & Rigby, G (2002). The Idendification and Management of Vessel Biofouline Areas
as Pathways for the lntroduction of Unwanted Aquatic Organisms. Report to the Australian
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry.

Thresher, R. E.; Hewitt, C. L.; Campbell, M. L. (1999) Synthesis: introduced and cr.vptoeenic
species in Port Phillip Bay. .In: Hewit! C. L.; Campbell, M. L.; Thresher, R. E; Martin, R. B. ed.

Marine biological invasions of Port Phillip Bay, Victoria. Centre for Research on Infroduced
Marine P ests.Teclmical Report No. 2 0. Pp. 283-295.

LINEP (1996). Maritime transport in small island developine states. United Nations Environment
Programme, Commission on Sustainable Development Fourth Session, 18 April-3 May 1996.

United Nations Document E/CN.17/1996120lAdd.4 of 29 February 1996.
<http :/iwww.unep.ch/islands/d96-20a4.htm>

Veron, J. (1998) Corals of Australia and Indo-Pacific. Australian Institute of Marine Science,
Townsville.

April 2006 53



@
SPREP

1 TStvl/OfficialsAMP.8.2.2
Page I

SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC RECIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8,2.2 : Projects coming to a close: Capacity Building for the
Development of Adaptation Measures in Pacific lsland Countries (CBDA APIC)

Purpose of Paper

1. To inform the SPREP Meeting of the conclusion of the CBDAMPIC project and

follow-up programmes in place.

Background

2. The CBDAMPIC project was funded by the Canadian International Development
Agency (CIDA) and implemented by SPREP from January 2002 to March 2005. The
Project involved implementing pilot adaptation activities in four countries: Cook Islands,
Fiji, Samoa and Vanuatu. Through extensive community consultations, problems related
to climate change were identified and prioritised and adaptation measures forrnulated and

implemented. Core to all pilots was the participation, capacity building and establishment
of institutional networks to enable and empower local communities to deal with issues
arising from climate change, climate variability and associated risks.

Achievement of Outcomes and Outputs

3. The CBDAMPIC has successfully achieved its main purpose, which is to enhance
the adaptive capacity of 16 communities in four Pacific island countries to the adverse
effects of climate change. All the pilot communities and national governments have
expressed gratitude and appreciation for the adaptation funding support provided. A brief
description of the activities carried out in each country is set out below:

o ln the Cook Islands, the eight communities of Aitutaki were grateful for the
water tank support that they received which addressed in a considerable way
the water problems they are facing due to the high salinity of their
underground water supply. There were also management programmes that
have been put in place that will ensure effective undertaking of water issues in
the future for the whole of Aitutaki.
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r In Fiji support has been provided to two Fijian dominated communities (Bavu
and Tilivalevu) and an Indo-Fijian community (Volivoli) on their water
retention and supply capacity.

o ln Samoa, two communities (Lano and Saoluafata) were provided support for
sea defence and water retention capacity. Sea defence support was provided to
Saoluafata to minimise a major erosion problem they faced over the years.

Already four dwellings and a primary school had to be relocated due to the
severe erosion problem.

e ln the case of Vanuatu, support was also provided to three communities on

water retention support and relocation of a whole community.

Project Management

4. The CBDAMPIC exhibits several irurovative ways of project management
building on the foundation that the Pacific Islands Climate Change Assistance Programme
(PICCAP) put in place. Although it was regionally executed, the bulk of the

implementation was carried out at the national level. Resources were made available to
the national governments for their management and direct implementation of planned
activities. The regional coordinating mechanism of SPREP was therefore focused on
backstopping countries on technical capacity building, financial administration and other
support needed from time to time.

Implication on the development field

5. In the development field, this project was notable for its substantive consideration
of (longer-term) climate change risks in development and resource management planning,
and in efforts to improve adaptive capacities and enhance livelihoods The project was
also distinctive in the field of climate change impacts and adaptation, particularly in its:

r recogrrition of a wide range of risks associated with climate change, not just those
derived from climate change models/scenarios;

o focus on community-based (and hence community-relevant) vulnerability
assessment and community-based ("bottom-up") adaptation options;

o real community engagement in the processes of improving capacities to deal with
climate-related risks; and

o incorporating adaptation to climate-change risks and related vulnerabilities into
existing institutional and decision-making processes ("mainstreaming"), at both
the community level and the national planning level.
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International level

6. The project has directly and indirectly contributed to the direction that adaptation
work is now taking in the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
(LINFCCC) negotiations and funding through the Global Environment Facility (GEF). It
has contributed to the increase in awareness among policy makers in other Pacific island
govemments on the need to integrate climate change into mainstream government
planning and development.

7. The project has also developed and successfully demonstrated a framework of
action that fuses the top-down and bottom-up approach to climate change vulnerability
and adaptation assessments and action. This is an important development globally as

some adaptation projects only promote either of the approaches. From such approaches,
new models of action at the communify level emerge that are specifically useful to
particular cultural and geographical situations not only in the Pacific region but globally
as well.

Way Forward

8. tr a regional workshop that was held in Flji (2005) to discuss lessons leamt from
the CBDAMPIC project, CIDA and participating county representatives commended
SPREP on its execution of the project. Country representatives again requested SPREP to
develop CBDAMPIC tlpe projects that would involve more PICs. This call reinforced
similar requests made to the Secretariat at Annual SPREP Meetings and other meetings
since 2003.

9. In response, SPREP and UNDP have developed the Pacific Adaptation to Climate
Change (PACC) project that targets the Special Climate Change Fund of the GEF.
Currently, the GEF has approved the PACC PDF B that will be implemented from June
to December 2006 with the aim of developing a Full Size Project proposal for submisision
to the GEF in March 2007 . Eleven countries have provided their formal letters of support
and endorsement to SPREP and UNDP and requested to be part of the PACC regional
adaptation initiative. Other countries that chose not to be part of the regional initiative
have plans to submit national projects to the GEF.

Recommendation

10. The Meeting is invited to:

PACC project addressing climate change adaptation in the region.

2 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.2.3 : Projects coming to a close: Pacific lslands
Renewable Energy Project (PIREP)

Purpose of Paper

1. To advise the Meeting of the closure of the PIREP and the status of its follow-on
project, the Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through Renewable Energy Project
(PIGGAREP), and other PIREP-related parallel initiatives and plans.

Background

The Pacific Islands Climate Change Assistance Programme (PICCAP): 1997-20O1

2. The PICCAP project, funded by UNDP and GEF, was the Secretariat's first
regional project to build the capacity of the Pacific island countries (PICs) to deal with the

challenges of climate change. Under the PICCAP, a regional greenhouse gas (GHG)

mitigation study confirmed that the combustion of fossil fuel was and will continue to be

the major source of GHG emission and renewable energy, among others, offers excellent
opponunities for reducing GHG emissions and pursuing other sustainable development
aspirations of the PICs. PICs then requested the Secretariat to pursue a regional GHG
mitigation project focusing on renewable energy. The PIREP was initiated as a response

to this request.

The Pacific Islands Renewable Energlt Project (PIREP): 2003 - 2006

3. The GEF approved the funding of the PIREP in 2002 but the PIREP was not
operational until May 2003. The PIREP was a GEF Medium Size Project (MSP) tunded
jointly by GEF and UNDP. While it was a MSP it was still a project development
exercise. It covered the 14 PICs that have ratified the UNFCCC plus Tokelau. The

development goal of PIREP was the preparation of a regional approach to removing barriers

to the development and commercialisation of RE systems in the PICs that influences country
eflorts to reduce the long-term growth of GHG emissions from fossil fuel uses, especially
diesel.
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4. The development of the regional approach involved conducting GHG and
renewable energy assessment studies in the 15 participating PICTs, the conduct of a
Regional Project Design Workshop, various consultation meetings with PICs, regional and
international agencies, donors and co-financing partners and the dissemination within and
beyond the region of the lessons learnt, experiences gained and ouputs of the PIREP. The
activities of the PIREP culminated in the design of the regional approach to removing
barriers to renewable energy development, which is the PIGGAREP.

5. The PIREP was operationally closed after its Terminal Multipartite Review
meeting in August 2006.

The Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through Renewable Energy Project
(PIGGAREP): 2006 - 2011

6. The PIGGAREP is a regional GHG mitigation project involving 1l PICs. It
consists of various activities whose outputs will contribute to the removal of the major barriers
to the widespread utilization of RE technologies (RETs). The project is expected to bring
about in the PICs: (i) Increased number of successful commercial RE applications; (ii)
Expanded market for RET applications; (iii) Enhanced institutional capacity to design,
implement and monitor RE projects; (iv) Availability and accessibility of financing to existing
and new RE projects; (v) Strengthened legal and regulatory structures in the energy and
environmental sectors; and, (vi) Increased awareness and knowledge on RE and RETs among
key stakeholders.

7. In June 2005, the GEF Council approved the PIGGAREP hoject Brief with the GEF
providing US$5.225 million. The approved Project Brief was then converted into a Project
Document (ProDoc) and by June 2006, the PIGGAREP ProDoc was at the GEF Secretariat
awaiting final endorsement by its Chief Executive Officer. PIGGAREP is a five-year project
and is expected to get off the ground in late 2006. It is the PICs' only regional GHG
mitigation project in the International Renewable Energy Action Programme adopted in Bonn
in June 2004. US$0.500m in co-financing for the Project is being provided through the Pacific
Islands Energy Policy and Strategic Action Plan (PIEPSAP) project being managed by
SOPAC.

Parallel PIREP Initiatives and Plans

8. Besides the PIGGAREP, the PIREP's assessment reports and ouputs have
provided the most comprehensive and up-to-date GHG emission and energy sector data
and information fiom the PICs. These data and information have been used as key inputs
in the development of the following parallel and related projects and plans:

i) Actionfor the Development of Marshall Islands Renewable Energies (ADMIRE). This
is a GHG mitigation barrier removal project of the RMI with US$1 million
requested of the GEF. This MSP project has been submitted to the UNDP-GEF and
to the GEF Secretariat.

T
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ii) Sustainable Economic Development through Renewable Energt Applications
(SEDfuEA). This is Palau's GHG mitigation barrier removal project. This MSP
project has been submitted to the UNDP-GEF and to the GEF Secretariat.

iii) Sustainable Energt Financtng Project (SEFP) - (2007-2014). T\is World Bank and
.IFC sub-regional project for Fiji, Marshall Is, PNG, Solomon Is and Vanuatu was
tabled at the GEF Council meeting in June 2006. This project's direct objective is to
significantly increase the adoption of renewable energy and energy efficiency
measures in participating PICs by providing a package of incentives to encourage
local financial institutions to participate in sustainable energy financing of equipment
purchases. The GEF is expected to provide US$9.48 million to this project.

iv) Australia's consideration of a Renewable Energt Action Plan for the Pacific. The
PIREP Chief Technical Advisor was invited by the Australian Department of
Heritage and Environment to participate in a workshop to discuss the elements of
Australia's engagement in the Pacific on renewable energy with a view to
developing an Action Plan. PIREP data and information were used in the
background discussion paper of this workshop.

Recommendation

9. The Meeting is invited to:

PIREP-related parallel initiatives and p lans.

03 July 2006

I
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.2.4: Regional Strategy for the lmplementation of the
Montreal Protocol in the Pacific Region

Purpose of Paper

1 . To advise the Meeting of the final phase of the Regional Strategy to phase
out ozone depleting substances (ODS) and draw attention to outstanding
activities that need to be completed to achieve the objectives under the strategy.
The paper also describes potential future activities in relation to the control of
ozone depleting substances and in particular the phase out of HCFCs
( hyd roch I o rofl u oroca rbon s ).

Background

2. The project started n 2002 with funding from the Multilateral Fund Secretariat
(MLFS) of the Montreal Protocol together with the Govemment of Australia. The initial
aim of the Strategy was to phase out CFCs by 2005 in eight countries through the
following activities:

r Establishment of National Compliance Centres (NCC)
o National training for refrigeration technicians
o Development of regulations
. Training of customs officers forborder control on ODS

3. The Project is implemented by SPREP in cooperation with UNEP DTIE @ivision
of Technology Industry and Environment) and UNEP ROAP (Regional Office for Asia
and the Pacific). Funding is provided to SPREP and part of this is disbursed to countries
for in-country activities; and part is used by SPREP to provide regionaVtechnical support
and to facilitate training.

4. Three additional countries, Nauru, Niue and Cook Islands joined the Project in
2005. UNEP and the MLFS granted a one year time extension to allow for activities in the

three additional countries. The Project is due to conclude at the end of 2006.
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Curent status of Project

5. The project document sets out key milestones to be achieved in participating
countries, a srurunary of country progress towards these milestones is set out in Table I
below:

Table I - Summarv of activities implemented denoted by ticks
* 

[NB Regulations need to be in place before Customs training is undertaken]

6. Five countries have achieved zero consumption levels of CFCs in 2004. These

countries were Kiribati, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu, Cook Islands and Niue. (The usual
submission deadline for 2005 Article 7 data report is 30 September 2006) FSM was
reported to be in non-compliance with the phase out program, whereby their consumption
had exceeded the baseline level of 1.219 ODP tones. FSM has now returned to
compliance and the reported consumption to be at 0.38 ODP tones for 2005. The details
are provided in Table 2 below.

Countries Base Line 2002 2003 2004 2005
Cook ls 172 U.UT 0.0( 0.0c 0.0(
FSM 1.22 1.8[ 1.6E 1.4t 0.3r
Kiribati o.7c U.U{, 0.0c 0.0c N.F
Marshall ls 1.1e 0.1 0.1i 0.01 N.R

Nauru 0.54 U.Ut U.UJ U.vt N.R
Niue 0.05 U.UL 0.0c N.R
Palarr 162 U.U! 0.97 0.94 N.R
Solomon ls 2.04 0.48 0.82 1.1 0.9€

fonoa 1.3: U.UL v.32 U.UL N.F
fuvalu 0.3: u.uL U. UL O.UL N.R.
Vanrratu U.UL U.UL 0.0(. 0.0c 0.0t

Table 2 - Annex I (CFC) consumption data for each Country in ODP tonnes
N.R. - stands for not yet reported

t

I

Countrles Establishment of
Part time National

Compliance Centre
to implement NGAP

Approved National
Legislation to

control
consumption ODS

Assisted with
provision of training to
refrigeration and alr-

conditioning
technicians

'Assisted with
provislon of Gustoms
Tralnings and other
enforcement officers

FSM v Y

Kiribati rv

Palau \, .J

RMI { I
1,

Solomon lslands {
Tonoa v \i
Tuvalu ./

Vanuatu ./ ./

Cook lslands .,1

Nauru

Niue ./
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Comment on progress

7. As can be seen from Table 1, there is much work to be completed if the Project is
to meet its objectives. It is clear that:

i) implementing ozone regulations has proven much more difficult and time-
consuming than anticipated, meaning that phase out of ODS (CFC) across the
region will not be achieved before the end of the Project; and

ii) the costs of refrigeration training and consultant technical support has
exceeded that budgeted for the project

8. The combination of these two factors mean that the funding body, the MLFS is
becoming increasingly concerned about the delivery of outputs under this project. As a

consequence, it is considering withholding funding for the completion of the Project,
given the perceived lack ofprogress.

9. SPREP is continuing to work with I-INEP to maintain the support of the MLFS to
complete as much as possible of the work by the end of 2006. Countries can assist this
greatly by passing ODS regulations as soon as practicable and completing their reporting
requirements under the Strategy and the Montreal Protocol.

Regional Support beyond 2006

10. SPREP is working closely with UNEP, the Govemment of Australia and member
countries to develop proposals to continue support for this work at national and regional
level. A Regional Network proposal is being developed, which would provide regional
support for ozone officers and fund an annual regional network meeting. At the national
level, continued support is being sought from tlie MLFS for renewals of the existing
institutional strengthening projects (primarily funding of national ozone officers as well as

operations of the NCC).

Recommendation

11. The Meeting is invited to:

under the Regional Strategy;

to countries under the current Project until its conclusion at the end of 2006;

soon as practicable and complete their reporting requirements under the
Montreal Protocol; and

maintain ongoing support for conhoUphase-out of ozone depleting substances
beyond 2006.

8 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROCMMME

Seventeenth SPREP A{eeting
Nournea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.2.5 : Activities in relation to financing for regional environmental
projects from the Global Environment Facility (GEF)

Purpose ofthe Paper

L To advice the Meeting of activities related to financing for regional environmental
projects from the Global Environment Facility (GEF).

Background

2. The Secretariat has been playing a leading role in supporting countries and the region
in gaining access to funding, primarily through the GEF. This role is reinforced in the Pacific
Plan, which identifies SPREP as the Lead Agency for the following initiative:

5.6 Facililate international financing for sustainable development, biodiversity
and environmental protection and climate change in the Pacific including through the
Global Environment Facilin

GEF Activities for 2005106

Influencing GEF Processes

3. SPREP, along with other CROP agencies, facilitated regional input into the third
Overall Performance Review (OPS3) of the GEF early in 2005. This input led to the OPS3
report highlighting the fact that Small Island Developing States, particularly in the Pacific,
have had difficulty gaining access to GEF funding. PIC's input has had significant influence
on the design of GEF processes, and increased awareness within the GEF Secretariat of PIC's
special circumstances and needs. The GEF Secretariat has responded by:

e Creating a special programme to build and strengthen national GEF focal points
o Extending the Small Grants Programme (SGP) to all Pacific SIDs

4. Following up on the needs identified in OPS3, SPREP and the Forum Secretariat
negotiated agreement with AusAID and NZAID to fund a GEF officer to provide GEF
outreach services to Pacific countries; the position to be housed at SPREP. This position
should have been advertised by August 2006. This appointment will complement the
placement of a UNEP officer at SPREP, and the support provided to the region by the GEF
implementing agencies (UNDP, ADB, World Bank)

t

I

I

I
t
I

I
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Supporting Countries

5. SPREP and the Forum Secretariat have provided analysis and advice to support for
PICs in their dealings with the GEF. This occurs through two avenues:

o Supporting Pacific New York Missions working with the GEF Secretariat and

Implementing Agencies to support initiatives for the Pacific (in terms of
improving GEF processes, and lobbying in support of specific projects). A
summary of current GEF regional projects is attached as annex l.

r Supporting GEF Focal points in Constituency meetings and the GEF Assembly.

6. SPREP has appointed a Sustainable Development Adviser whose role includes
advocating on behalf of the region in GEF process, and in support of Pacific GEF Projects.

Ongoing GEF Issues

e Replenishment of funds: During 2006 donor countries agreed to comrnit funding
for a fourth replenishment of GEF funds to be allocated under GEF4. Funding is
expected to be at approximately the same level as GEF 3.

o Resource allocation framework: Under GEF 4 funding through the climate change
and biodiversity windows will be allocated under a Resource Allocation
Framework (RAF). This sets aside funding for countries subject to the submission
of sound projects. The RAF potentially limits the total funding available to
countries. The implementation of the RAF will require greater engagement of
countries in terms of in-country priority-setting. In addition SPREP and other
CROP agencies expect to contribute to identifuing regional priorities and
coordination.

European Development Fund - EDF 10

7. The European Union is in the process of developing strategies to guide the tenth
European Development Fund (EDF 10) setting out funding priorities over the period 2008 -
2012. The EU has put forward its view of regional priorities in terms of a proposed Green -
Blue concept. This identified the Pacific regional environment as a'global good' that the EU is
interested in supporting. The Green-Blue concept covers a full range of environmental issues
across the region (climate change, biodiversity, waste management, lands, forest, fisheries,
tourism, renewable energy, etc).

8. At the time of writing, a process was being put in place for regional organisations to
develop a regional strategy paper to guide regional funding under EDFl0

Recommendation

9, The Meeting is invited to:

organisations to support countries' and regional access to GEF funds; and

under the 10th EDF.
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Annex 1

o The implementation of the Pacific Islands Renewable Energy Project (PIREP) has lead to a
regional Pacific Islands Greenhouse Gas Abatement through Renewable Energy Project
(PIGGAREP) which is awaiting final endorsement by the GEF Secretariat's CEO. GEF
Grant US$5.225 million, Co-financing US$m 20.80, Total Project Cost US$m 26.025.
(SPREP)

o Renewable Energy Assessments conducted under the PIREP in 15 PICs have facilitated a

World Bank i IFC proposal for funding from the GEF to encourage local financial
institutions in Fiji, PNG, RMI, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu to participate in sustainable
energy financing of equipment purchases. GEF Grant US$9.48 million Sub-Total Co-
financing: US$21,600,000, Sub-Total Leveraged Resources: US$22,120,000 (Associated
Activities), Total Project Cost US$ 53,200,000.

o The PIREP has assisted RMI to develop a US$l million project proposal that has been
submitted to the GEF Secretariat CEO to be approved for funding.

o Pacific Invasive Species Management PDF-B (UNDP), with a GEF contribution of
$529,700 approved for PDF- B. A full sized project will be developed with budget- GEF
Grant of US$m 4.500, Co-financing Amount US$m 6.739, Total Project Cost US$m
rr.239 (SPREP).

o Implementing the Bonn Guidelines on ABS in the Pacific Island Countries a PDF-A
(US$48,000) being used to develop medium-sized project (US$948,250). (SPREP)

. Pacific Adaptation to Climate Change (PACC) (UNDP). This is one of the few projects
globally to access the Special Climate Change Fund of the GEF. The PACC PDF B has
been approved by the GEF and this phase of the project will be executed from June 2006 to
December 2006 to develop the full-sized project. SCCF/GEF: US$11.250m; co-financing
$70.8m;Total Project Costs US$82m. (SPREP)

o Implementing Sustainable Integrated Water Resource and Wastewater Management in the
Pacific Island Countries (UNDP). GEF Grant 12.723m in PDF B phase Co-financing
US$m 12.000 and Total Project Costs US$m 24.723. (SOPAC)

r Pacific Islands Oceanic Fisheries Management Project (LJNDP). GEF Grant |L.644 US$m,
co-financing US$m 79.092 Total project US$m 90.736 (FFA)

I
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROCMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, Neut Caledonia

11-1,5 September 2006

Agenda ltem 8.3 : Regional Collaboration: Greater Engagement of
Territories in SPREP Activities

Purpose of the Paper

1. To provide the Meeting with an update on activities undertaken by the Secretariat
since the SPREP Meeting last year to address opportunities and mechanisms that foster a
greater involvement and participation of territories in the work of the Secretariat as well as

enhance regional engagement and exchanges between island member countries and
territories

Background

2. During the SPREP Meeting of 2004, the Secretariat convened an informal
consultation with territories on increasing tleir involvement and integration into the work
programme of the Secretariat. The objective of the consultation was to identify ways to
achieve greater participation of the territories in the work of the Secretariat. At the
consultation, a number of gaps were identified that required more indepth consideration.

3. The Environment Ministers' Meeting that followed that SPREP Meeting
"requested the Secretariat to further its efforts to increase the involvement of the
Territories in the prograrnmes of SPREP and welcomed the Secretariat's initiative to hold
a workshop in 2005 addressing increased Territory participation and to report the
outcomes to the l6th SPREP meeting of Officials".

4. Accordingly, the Secretariat convened a meeting inviting all seven territories and
metropolitan countries at SPREP Headquarters, in June 2005 and its report was presente4
to last year's SPREP Meeting. In concluding discussion of the meeting report, the 16'n

SPREP Meeting urged the Secretariat to pursue efforts in promoting greater involvement
of Pacific island territories in the work programme of SPREP, ffid requested the
Secretariat to report to the next SPREP Meeting on the steps undertaken to address the
identified opportunities and mechanisms for greater involvement and participation of the
Pacific island territories into the work programme of SPREP.
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5. The 2005 meeting, identified a number of key mechanisms for strengthening
regional collaboration and engagement of territories in the Secretariat programmes
including increasing the visibility of SPREP in the territories, establishing better
communication and liaison between the Secretariat and the territories, as well as

mobilisation and sharing territories technical expertise with island countries.

6. The process of identification involved a rethinking of where the constraints lie and

developing ways and means to deal with them. This has been matched by the willingness
of territories to engage with both the Secretariat and other members in a range of activities
including the CMS MOUs on cetaceans and dugongs, the Roundtable for Nature
Conservation monitoring and evaluation (M&E) consultations, the Montreal Protocol
discussions, the CBD COP 8 meeting and other regional environment meetings. As
knowledge and information are exchanged and experiences shared, these relationships will
continue to develop and bear fruit.

7. A range of regional strategies and policy documents include territories as

stakeholders including the Pacific Islands Climate Change Framework which was

endorsed by Forum Leaders last year and involved American Samoa in its consultation
meeting. With the Action Strategy for Nafure Conservation, a number of territories were
visited and consulted as part of the M&E activity to show the outcomes achieved by that
Strategy. The feedback provided will assist the Secretariat in the ongoing implernentation
of regional priorities and in incorporating the efforts and experiences of territories in its
work.

8. The territories' political status often affect eligibility for project funding from
intergovernmental agencies and precludes them from participation in some very
worthwhile environment projects. h an effort to overcome the financing issue the
Secretariat has secured funding from Fond Pacifique to engage territories in a regional
UNDP/GEF invasive species activity as well as with NOAA on establishing a socio- I
economic monitoring network which will strengthen practical relationships between I
SPREP member countries and territories.

10. SPREP was invited to participate in a Worl<shop on Climate Variability and
Change in American Samoa: Challenges and Opportunities, organised by the East-West
Center in partnership with a range of American Samoan institutions. It included
representatives of the American Samoa government, businesses, academic institutions,
non-governmental organizations and communities. The focus was on discussion of the

impacts of year-to-year climate variability associated with El Niflo and long-terrn climate
change for the communities, natural resources and businesses of American Samoa.
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11. The Regional Waste Management Strategy has provided a regional contex,;
contain both regional and Member specific actions. Recent work with Japan, France,
LINEP, AusAID and NZAid has resulted in a coordinated approach to the implernentation
of that regional strategy. Further work is required to bring other agencies such as the
ADB, the UNDP, the EU and the US into regular communication about projects and
priorities in waste management to capitalize on economies of scale and shared
methodologies.

12. The Secretariat made important steps to facilitate greater focus on regional
collaboration over the past year. The SPREP Director visited New Caledonia in August
2005 to follow up the relevant outcomes of the territories meeting and took part in the
Western Pacific Regional Fisheries Management Council meeting in American Samoa: the
Secretariat has also recruited a bilingual coral reef expert, who will also act as a focal
point for the French territories and SPREP staff have taken part in a range of meetings in
territories and relevant countries to identify opporfunities for technical and policy
exchange and dialogue, including at the US Coral Reef Taskforce meeting in Palau,
IFRECOR meeting in New Caledonia and others.

13. Territories have also been involved in the fust phase of the Pacific Invasives
Learning Network (PILN) which offers the opportunity for SPREP members to deal with a

significant issue affecting all countries and territories. American Samoa and Guam are in
the first phase of this activity and New Caledonia and French Polynesia will be involved in
the second phase.

Opportunities for strengthening regional collaboration

14. At the strategic level, the SPREP Meeting is the main mechanism for members
particularly through the work programme and budget and reporting processes as well as

the Ministerial Meeting, to highlight in-country activities and needs and to direct the work
of the Secretariat consistent with the SPREP Action Plan priorities. The focus on island
biodiversity in this year's Ministerial meeting offers an opportunity for territories to
outline their efforts and needs.

15. The Secretariat continues to look for resources to enable territories to be involved
in projects and activities. This is particularly relevant in the current discussions on the EU
EDF 10.

16. Learning networks, such as PILN, offer a significant opportunity as their focus is
more on the issues that are common between island members and provide a practical
means for these to be addressed and allow the sharing of expertise, technologies and
techniques between island countries and territories. PILN is a pilot of this type of approach
and the growing focus on this and the broadening of its focus will continue to enable
territories to be tangibly involved in the work of other member countries and the
Secretariat.
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X,7- There are al$o a range ofnetworks whieh eould also benefilfrom this approach by
bringing together existing initiativ.es in the territories aud Papific is.laod oountries suoh as

the Facific Island MPA Connunity GntrAC), thE Frdch Initiative for Coral Reefs
(IFRECOR) and the Iocally Managed Marine Areas Network.

Ilecommendation

18. The Meeting is invited to:

Seeretariat;

positive dialoguo and insrease taqgible actions on euvirornental issues,

.activities and projects of relevanee; and

e,xte,nd fi;urdiug for environment pnojects to include territories.

I Jnrly2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumea, New Caled.onia

11-15 September 2006

I Agenda ltem 8.4: Country Profiles as a Means for Members' National
Reporting under SPREP Action Ptan (2005 - 2009)

Purpose of Paper

1. To present to the Meeting a discussion paper on the draft Country Profile
template that SPREP Members could use to document relevant international, regional
and national instruments and actions that contribute to achieving the Outcomes of the
region's Action Plan for Managing the Environment and to seek its endorsement of the
draft Country Profile for immediate implementation.

Background

2. The concept of Country Profiles as a means to assist SPREP members and

Pacific island countries and territories, document all relevant intemational obligations
and national legislations, policies and frameworks, projects and actions contributing to
addressing the environment priorities of the region encapsulated in the Action Plan for
Managing the Environment of the Pacific Islands Region (2005 - 2009), was addressed

by senior environment officials and the Secretariat in a workshop in June 2004 that
reconilnended the draft Action Plan to the 15th SPREP Meeting (Tahiti, September
2004) for approval. They adopted the concept for inclusion in the Action Plan as a
Means for Implementation of the Action Plan (SectionT.2).

3. The Environment Minister's Meeting that met on 17 September 2004 in
Pape'ete, French Polynesia, in approving the Action Plan (2005 - 2009) 'hrged
members together with the Secretariat to undertake the necessary steps at the earliest to
implement the Action Plan taking into account the different approaches and
partnerships needed".

4. Under Countrv Profiles in the Action Plan it is stated:

"The Actior ,r* is a synthesis of Members' environmental and sustainable
development priorities. Successful implementation depends on progress within
each member country and territory. To effectively measure progress over time,
Pacific island Members' profiles will be developed. The profiles provide a

template for each member to indicate progress towards achieving the outcomes
of the Action Plan"
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5. At the SPREP Meeting last year, at the New Zealand delegation's initiative, the
Meeting again addressed the matter of the need for the Members' to complement the
reporting by the Secretariat of work undertaken in the region towards the outcomes of
the current Acting Plan to enable the Meeting to have a more complete picture of what
is taking place in the region to address the priorities of the Action Plan and how
successful or not these are in achieving the Action Plan outcomes.

6. The Meeting concluded the matter be further addressed at the 17th SPREP
Meeting. The full text of the discussion and decision of last year's Meeting on this is
annexed as Attachment 2.

Country Profiles

7. Subsequent to the adoption of the 2005 - 2009 Action Plan in 2004, the
Secretariat worked on developing a Country Profile template for Members'
consideration.

8. The Secretariat's obligation and contribution towards achieving the goal and

outcomes of the Action Plan is set out in its Strategic Prograrnmes (2004 -2013) which
is delivered incrementally over the period in its annual work programmes and budgets
approved yearly by the SPREP Meeting.

9. To enable the SPREP Meeting, as the gathering of all Members, to obtain a
more complete view of progress towards achieving its Action Plan outcomes would
require both information on what its Secretariat is doing as well as the substantial work
that is being undertaken nationally by countries and territories. The Country Profiles
would facilitate and assist members in this task that would have benefits for both the
region and members themselves.

10. For the region, particularly its annual gathering as the SPREP Meeting, it would
help provide a more complete picture and appreciation of how it is faring, at particular
points in time, in moving towards achieving its agreed outcomes for environmental
priorities. It would also facilitate the much desired but still limited sharing of
experiences and lessons leamed by PICTs in addressing, nationally and regionally, of
the environmental priorities of the Action Plan.

11. For the countries and territories themselves, they would have the benefit of a
national document that would include the various, intemational, regional and national
obligations, instruments, policies, frameworks, projects and actions addressing the
environmental priorities identified by the members as being of both national and
regional application.
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72- additiona,lly, the S,ecretariat is hopeffrl that with improvenent and finetrrning,as
the tenplafie evolves, the Counhry Profiles could also assistPaoific island counkies with
theirnational rqp-ofiing obligations:to thevarious internadonal and regional conventions
they, are Parties to.

13. The draft Coun@ Profile tenrplate that tras b,een developed by the S cretariat is
provided as Attachment l.

RccoDrnendation

14. The lvleeting is invited to:

implemmtation.
Profile temrplate for immediate

26 JuIy2006
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SPREP COUNTRY PROFILES

Obiectives of the Profiles:

1. To have a National Profile that relates the goals and outcomes of the SPREP
Action Plan to the unique context of each member Country and Territory.

2. A provide a mechanism to monitor the progress, at the National level over time,
towards achieving agreed outcomes in the SPREP Action Plan.

3. to have ability to monitor and guide the assistance of the Secretariat directly at the
National Level.

4. To document institutional memory at the National level, on the stafus of the
country against the SPREP Action Plan and other important environmental goals
and targets.

5. To provide a record of Country/Territory visits and assistance

6. To develop a Country Profile owned and vetted by the Country themselves instead
of having other agencies developing national profiles with data that is often
outdated or in-correct.

Responsibilitv to update:

1. SPREP Members have discussed the frequency for updating the Countr5r Profiles
and have agreed it is a National Decision but suggest updating perhaps at the
outset of the Action Plan, at its half way mark (2.5 Years) and again at its end in
2009.

2. The SPREP National Focal Point will have the editing responsibility of the
Country Profile.

3. The Secretariat will assist the National Focal Points where requested to update the
Country Profile, however will approach the NFP with suggested updates in
particular after in-country visits or important developments.

4. Initial baseline for 2005. Offer Secretariat's assistance to develop using past
National Assessments and other material, or through already planned country visits
over the next 6 months or so.
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I
COUNTRY PROFILE TEMPLATE

INTRODUCTION

Some brief information about the Country, listing the SPREP Focal Point and contact
details as well as the GEF Focal Point and contact details. Another other information
the member thinks relevant e.g. list National Plans, Polices or Stategies that this
profile should also act as a n'teans for reporting against.

I.O NATURAL RESOTJRCE MANAGEMENT

Relevant Instrumenfs.' List instruments that Member Country/Territory is a party to,
has developed or is using that is relevant to this area.

Status and Particular Issues of concern: List issues specific to the Member I
Country/Territory within the context of the narrative of the relevant section of the I
SPREP Action plan.

Agreed Outcomes in Action Plan:

1.1. The sustainable management and consewation of terrestrial, marine and
coastal resources, ecosystems and species improved, through the development
of programs for sustainable development.

2005 - Current status of the member C/T on the above and relevant programrnes and
partnerships assisting member at the time. lnclude suggestions for desired assistance
from Secretariat and other partners.

1.2 Significant reduction of the cunent rate of biodiversity loss by 2010.
2005 - Current status of member C/T, available data, systems or ability to rnonitor,
strategies or programs assisting the member to meet the outcome. Suggestions for
future assistance from Secretariat and other partners or direction for improved
capacity at the national level to contribute to this outcome.

1.3 Effective implementation of the ecosystem approach to natural resource
conservation.
2005 - Current system of approach in member C/T. Suggestions on how to move
towards ecosystems approach to natural resource conservation. Programmes and

partnerships assisting member C/T and suggesiions for further assistance by
Secretariat and other partners, or improved capacity at the National level.

'Provision 
for National specific outcomes-

I
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2.0 POLLUTION PREVENTION

Relevant fnstramenfs.' List instruments and policy that Member Country/Territory is
aparty to, has developed or is using that is relevant to this area.

Status and Particular Issues of concern' List issues specific to the Member
Country/Territory within the context of the narrative of the relevant section of the
SPREP Action plan.

3.0 CLIMATE CHANGE, CLIMATE VARIABILITY AND SEA LEVEL
RISE

Relevant fnsftumenfs: List instruments and policy that Member Country/Territory is
a party to, has developed or is using that is relevant to this area.

Status nnd Particular Issues of concern' List issues specific to the Member
Country/Territory within the context of the narrative of the relevant section of the
SPREP Action plan.

Agreed Outcomes in Action Plan

2.1 Effective management of pollution due to waste and other land based human
activities through the implementation of appropriate systems for waste disposal and
treatment.
2005 - Cunent status of management systems, desired improvements for more
effective systems. Current relevant programmes, partnerships, and polices that are
assisting the member C/T in this area and suggestions for improved assistance from
secretariat and other partners. Suggestions for National improvement in capacity to
facilitate this area.

2.2 PICT capabilities to manage and respond to tercestrial, atmospheric, marine
pollution, hazardous waste, solid waste, sewerage and other land-based
sources of pollution enhanced.

2005 - Status of member C/T in regard to the above in particular national policy and
response mechanisms. Current programmes, partnerships and policy assisting with
this area. Suggestions for improved assistance from the secretariat and other partners
and measures at the national level to improve the ability of the member to meet this
outcome.

2.3 Maximized reLtse, recycling and reduced waste generation.
2005 - Status of member C/T in regards to reuse, recycling and reduction, available
data, available monitoring systems. Programmes, partnerships and policy's assisting
the member in this area, and suggestions for improved assistance from secretariat and
other partners.

fProvision for National outcomes



Agreed Outcomes in Action Plan

3.1 PICTs responses to the htown and potential impacts of climate change
enhanced through the implementation of adaptation measures.

2005 - Status of adaptation measures for response to potential impacts of climate
change. Current programmes, parhrerships or policy that is assisting the member C/T
to improve its ability in this area. Suggestions for further assistance by secretariat and

other partners, including the member, to improve the ability of the member to meet
this outcome.

3.2 Alternative energy technologies and systems that are adequate, afordable,
fficient and environmentally sound, in particular renewable energy resources,
developed and used.

2005 Status of altemative energy used, its affordability and effectiveness.
Programmes, partnerships and policy assisting to improve the development and use of
renewable energy in the member C/T. Suggestions for improved assistance from
secretariat and other partners.

3.3 Meteorological and climatologically capacities of PICTs developed and
enhanced.

2005 - Status of climatological capacity of member C/T and desired improvements
over the next 5 years. Programmes, partnerships and policy assisting the member
achieve this. Suggestions for improved assistance from secretariat and other partners,
including irnproved capacity at the national level.

3.4 Improved accuracy of information, modeling and clearing house mechanisms
on the effects of climate change.

2005 - Current status of information accessible and used by the member C/T. Current
programmes, partnerships and policy assisting in this regard. Suggestions for
improved assistance from the secretariat and other partners including member C/T.

3.5 CFCs in PICTs banned by 2005
2005 - Status of use of CFC's in nrember state. Programmes, partnerships or policy
assisting with this objective.

[Provision for National specific outcomes/ta
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4.0 CROSS CUTTING ISSI]ES

4.I INTEGRATED POLICY. PLANNING AND PARTNERSHIPS

4.1.1 National sustainable development strategies/frameworl<s developed and
implemented.

2005 - Status of NSDS development and implementation. Stakeholders involved in
its development and implementation.
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4.1.2 Integrated planning and rnanagement mechanisms and tools for sustainable
development, enhanced.

2005 - Status of available and used tools for sustainable development. E.g. EIA
Suggestions for improving their use in Integrated Planning and management processes
in member C/T.

4.1.3 Collaboration and coordination, through national and regional partnerships,
improved.
2005 - Status of successful partnerships providing improved coordination amongst
relevant stakeholders at the national level. Status of regional partnerships currently
assisting the member, and suggestions for improvement of these partnerships.

4.2 EIWIROI\MENT MONITORING AIYD REPORTING

4.2.1 Means to monitor and report on environmental performance and socio-
economic pressures on the environment improved.

2005 - Status of monitoring and reporting on environmental perfonnance and socio-
economic pressures on the environment. E.g. State of the Environment Database's,
PRISM, other database's or indicators being used at the National Level. What
policy's, prograrnmes and parfnerships are assisting with this work, Suggested means
to improve through national changes or partners assistance.

4.2.2 Tools to improve the means to respond to pressures, emerging threats and
opportuntties developed.

2005 - Status of members ability to respond to pressures, emerging threats and
opportunities. E.g. GIS, land use planning, opportunity mapping, sustainable
development guidelines etc. What policy's, prograulmes and partnerships are
assisting with this work. Suggested means to improve through national changes or
partners assistance.

4.2.3 Integrated assessments and planning processes accessible and available.
2005 - Status of plaruring and assessment processes and partners involved in the
consultation and decision making process.

4.3 MULTILATERAL E}IYIROI\MENT AGREEMENTS AND
PROCESSES

4.3.1 Improved capacity of PICTs to manage multilateral environmental agreements
and relevant regional mechanisms.

4.3.2 PICTs capacity to meet the obligations under the Apia, SPREP, Waigani and
other multilateral envir onmental agreements enhanced.

2005 - List of MEAS ratified.
Institutional framework including the number of policies, human resources
developed for improved negotiation and management of MEAs. List establishrnent of
committees/councils/working groups/task forces for the management of MEAs.
Highlight success factors/problems or constraints in setting up/maintaining the
institutional framework.
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Legal Framework - List number of legal specialists based or involved in the
Department /Unit responsible for the implementation of MEAs. Different legislation
developed to implement MEA's. Any specific activities which took place to develop
capacities within agencies involved in the implementation of MEAs. Areas of
particular expertise that your country possesses or has strongly developed which
could be useful for others
Information management - List means put in place in relevant agencies for data

collection, storage, assessment and reporting under MEAs. Measures taken nationally
to disseminate information to increase/relevant stakeholders (NGOs, private sector..)
Public Awareness - List actions/initiative taken to increase public awareness on the
MEAs that have been ratified by your Country/Territory.
Participation and partnership - Measures to increase cooperation and partnership
with stakeholders (NGOs, privave sector, among agencies..)
Financing and resourcing- Accessibility to firnding sources for the managernent of
MEAs, Percentage of national financial commitments for the implementation of the
MEAs. Relative priority of the management of MEAs in the context of National
Development Plans or Strategies.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT AI\D TRAINING

4.4.1 PICTs capacity to manage and develop its human resources improved

t
I

4.4

2005 - Status of implementing the individual and
priority activities linked to Action Plan Outcomes
priorities.

4.5 PUBLIC AWARJNESS & EDUCATION

institutional capacity building
and identification of emerging

4.5.1 PICTs capacity to educate and raise awareness about environment and
sus tainable development improved.
2005 - Status of Education and Awareness personal in environment department/unit,
or the integration of environmental issues in current school curriculum.

4.6 KNOWLEDGE MANAGEMENT

4.6.1 PICTs capacity to manage lorcwledgefurther developed and strengthened.

4.6.2 Relevant national and regional clearinghouse mechanisms and environmental
databases are established, integrated and improved.

4,7 OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL GOALS

Possibly list here other National, Regional or Environmental Goals that are not
included in the SPREP outcomes, that are perhaps longer term than 5 years, but still
contribute significantly to the goals of the SPREP Action Plan, or National
Environmental Priorities.
E.g, MDG's Goal 7 and 8, relevant targets of the JPoI etc...
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Extract from the Record of the 16th SPREP Meeting

Agenda Item 10: Items Proposed by Members

Members' Reporting on National Activities under SPREP Action Plan (NZ)

406. The representative of New Zealand highlighted that last year's Meeting agreed to a

name change. He also noted that the Members supported the SPREP Action Plan and

highlighted the joint responsibility to undertake this work. He suggested that each year,

Mernbers report to the SPREP Meeting on their efforts to implement the SPREP Action Plan,

under an agreed theme. This would provide an opportunity to highlight the work being

undertaken by Members under the Action Plan. He said it was necessary for a mechanism to

be developed and asked for suggestions on how to undertake this process.

407. The Chair supported this proposal and stated that SPC has adopted a theme process

for reporting. He suggested that each Member prepare a short briefing on a selected theme.

408. The representative of Marshall Islands supported the idea if it was within the capacity

of countries to share information on national initiatives currently taking place and not in a

reporting manner.

409. The representative of Vanuatu endorsed the proposal. He said Members can take a

stronger lead in implementing the SPREP Action PIan and promoted collaboration and

parurerships. He expressed willingness to be involved in the process.

410. The representative of Tonga supported the proposal, Such an agenda itern to the

Meeting would give Members the opportunity to promote its expectations to the Secretariat.

4II. The representative of Samoa suggested the need to refine the process for sharing

information on issues, and a mechanism for sharing experiences. He suggested there was a

need for a forum for Members to share their work prograrnme to the other Members.



I

I

I
T

I 7SlWOffi oialslTt P .8,.1/AU.2
Page 2

4t2. The representatirre of France suppoxtd tle proposalo howe.rrer strass€d ftat the

Meinbers nat be laden with adminisfiative reporting requirernents. He suggested that thenoes

are dravnr frotn intenational agtrndas, that would result in a significant contribution to

regioual dialo-gues. He also stded that other,sueh re,ports generated ia this context could be

us€d as a b-asis for diseutsi@ at,the SPREP Meeting.

4I3. The. Obeir proposed &at tho nerxt SPREP Meeting would be a fonrm to discuss a

mec-hanistrl for develoSing md presenting lvflrombers' repgrts aad desidc on a theme for the

18d'SPREP Meeting.

414. The reioresen-btive of New Caledonia supported the proposal md suggested this

would be a good oppo i"gr to better integrate territsries into SPREp programno-s..

415. Ttre.Meedqgendorsed the proposal fbr the nextnreting
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Noumeo, Neut Caledonia

11-16 Septenber 2006

Agenda ltem 8.5: Consideration and Approval of the Proposed Work
Programme and Budget for 2O07 and Indicative Budgets for 2008 and 2009

Purpose ofPaper

1. To seek the Meeting's consideration and approval of the Secretariat's proposed
Work Programme and Budget for 2007 and to note the indicative budgets for 2O08 and
2009.

Recommendation

2. The Meeting is invited to:

and to note the indicative budgets for 2008 and 2009.

l0 July 2006

I
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGMMME

Seventeenth SPREP A{eeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 9,1 : Status of Ratifications of the
Agreement Establishing SPREP (AES)

Purpose of paper

1. To provide the Meeting with a brief report from the Depositary on the ratifications
so far to the AES and its status.

Background

2. Although SPREP had been in existence since the mid-1970s as a programme of
SPC and since 1982 as an autonomous entity within SPC, negotiations for the formal
intergovernmental Agreement Establishing SPREP was only initiated n 1992 after it
relocated to Apia, Samoa and concluded and signed at Apia on 16 June 1993. It entered
into force on 3l August 1995, after the tenth instrument of ratification was lodged with the
Depositary, the Government of Samoa.

3. Since 1995, three signatories (the Republic of Marshall Islands, the United States
of America and Vanuatu) and one former U.S, Trust Tenitory @alau) remain to ratiff or
accede to fully commit all States and Territories that established SPREP to the AES and its
institutions

4. The Secretariat with the help of the Depositary continued to work with the few
remaining members to complete their ratifications and accession to the AES.

5. The Secretariat is now delighted and proud to report that 2006 is a landmark year
in the life of SPREP when the remaining signatory to the AES, the Govemment of
Vanuatu lodged its Instrument of Ratification with the Government of Samo4 in January.

6. All member States and Territories are now full legal and participating members of
SPREP.

7. A brief report by the Depositary on the details is attached.

Recommendation

8. The Meeting is invited to:

SPREP.

I

09 July 2006
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AGREEMENT ESTABLISHING THE PACIFIC REGIONAL
ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME (SPREP)

Status of Ratification of the Agreement

The SPREP Agreement came intoforce on 31" August 1995 after the deposit of the

tenth Instrument of Ratification with the Government of Samoa as the Depositary of
the Agreement.

As of July 2006, eighteen (18) countries have become Parties to the Agreement,

having so ratified the Agreement, and that no reservations or declarations were
made by the signatories or Parties to the Agreement.

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade
Apia, 4 JulY 2006

*includes French Polynesia, New Caledonia, Wallis and Futuna
**includes Tokelau
***on behalf of Pitcairn Island which withdrew from SPREP effective 2002

't'F*:t'includes American Samoa, Guam, Northern Marianas Islands

Country Signature Ratification/
Accession (A)

Entrv into force

Australia 2l September 1993 17 October 1994 31 August 1995

Cook Islands 30 August 1995 (A) 30 Septernber 1995

Federated States of
Micronesia

l0 August 1993 19 January 1995 3l August 1995

Fui 16 June 1993 l2 October 1993 3l August 1995

France* l6 June 1993 I I July 1996 1l August 1996

Kiribati l6 June 1993 16 August 1994 31 August 1995

Marshall Islands 16 June 1993 4 February 2003 (A) 7 March 2003

Nauru l6 June 1993 16 March 1994 31 August 1995

New Zealand** 10 August 1993 l6 December 1993 31 August 1995

Niue l6 June 1993 31 July 1995 31 August 1995

Palau l8 August 2005 (A) l8 Septernber 2005

Papua New Guinea 29 September 1993 7 November 1994 31 August 1995

Samoa l6 June 1993 16 September 1993 3l August 1995

Solomon Islands 16 June 1993 7 March 1996 7 Apil 1996

Tonga 15 September 1995 (A) l6 October 1995

Tuvalu 16 June 1993 17 November 1994 3l August 1995

United Kingdom***

United States of
America**** l6 June 1993 14 July 2005 l4 August 2005

Vanuatu l6 June 1993 31 Januarv 2006 3 March 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROCMMME

Seventeenth SPREP l\ieeting
Noumea, New Caledonia

11-15 Septenber 2006

Agenda ltem 9.2: Performance Management and Development for
Post of Director

(A Paper by Austratia)

Purpose

1. This paper responds to the decision of the 16th SPREP Meeting of Officials (Item
8.2) to:

o To establish a working group facilitated through email by Australia and a core
group comprising Samoa" Tonga, FSM, French Polynesia and any other
interested members to allow consideration of a system for evaluating the
Director's performance and to report to the 17th SPREP meeting; and

r That on the second year of the Director's first term, the Members evaluate
hisftrer perfonnance and decide on whether to offer a second term or advertise
the post.

Policy Statement

2, The aim of any employee performance management and development process is to
develop, maintain and improve individual performance in order for an employee to meet
his or her individual potential and SPREP's business goals. It is a tool for rewarding,
encouraging, supporting and developing employees. It also encourages employees to
examine their careers within the context of their abilities, skills, values and performance
leading to effective career self-management.

3. SPREP recognises that different professional and occupational groups and work
units have different performance requirements, managers and supervisors are given
flexibility in implementing a relevant model within the boundaries of this policy.
However, all employees need to be informed about how their performance is to be
planned, assessed and recorded.
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Principles

4. 1. Responsibility for evaluating the Director's performance and development will be
taken by the Members on an annual basis. The Members may choose to delegate
this task to the Chair and Vice-Chair.

2. The principles of natural justice and procedural fairness will apply to all
p erformance management and development decisions.

3. Feedback will be constructive, with the aim being to recognise and support
individual di fferences and cultural sensitivities.

Appropriate levels of confidentiality will be maintained for all processes associated
with the performance and development scheme.

Appropriate levels of documentation will be maintained for each performance
assessment. This should clearly and concisely describe the grounds on which the
assessment is made.

6. It is the responsibility of the Director to ensure that the performance planning
process cascades down through other levels of the organisation, so that middle
managers effectively contribute to the gaols established between the Director and
the Members.

The Performance Development Cycle

5. The cycle outlined below is suitable for roles that involve performance of
structured and relative consistent work tasks throughout the performance development
cycle.

Step I Planning Meeting
6. A planning discussion with the Chair and Vice-Chair and the Director will define
the role, responsibilities, scope, goals and objectives of the positionn based on the Work
Programme and budget. The Director should document the performance indicators for
each key objective, ie what are the key elements he/she should achieve in the job, and the
way to measure achievement against this objective. This meeting should also identify any
training or development opportunities and discuss how these might be provided.

Step 2 Progress Meeting (or Mid-cycle Meeting)
7. This discussion involves evaluation of progress and results achieved to date,

measurement of work performance, identifying areas of success and areas that require
further development. The Director should identify and list achievements and list and
identifu any barriers that hindered progress in meeting agreed objectives. The meeting
should also identify any additional training requirements or ileas for development.

4.

5.
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Step 3 Achievement Meeting (within 12 months of planning meeting)
8. The achievements discussion occurs at the end of each performance and
development cycle to evaluate how well goals and achievements have been met and to
forward plan for the following cycle. This involves discussing achievements and any
barriers that hindered progress in meeting objectives. The discussion is a chance to review
the key objectives and assign a rating to each to indicate the degree to which they have
been achieved. It should also update development and training needs and note any
relevant activities that have occurred since the last meeting. This meeting is also the time
to agree on a development plan for the next cycle.

Performauce Rating

9. There are several ways of rating performance, but the overall objective is to assign
a value to the degree of success an employee has achieved in meeting his or her key
objectives. Each key objective commonly has a cluster of activities that underpin it. As
well as rating each of the objectives, it is not unusual, particularly at more senior levels, to
give a rating of overall performance.

10. A rating scale similar to the one below is widely used throughout public sector
agencies, although the descriptors and numerical values can vary.

RATING SCALE DESCRIPTION
3 Above

Expectations
Performance is consistently beyond expectations

2 Meets
Exnectations

Performance consistently fulfils expectations and at times exceeds
them

I Improvement
Needed

Performance does not consistently meet expectations

0 Unsatisfactory Performance is consistently below expectations. Deficiencies need
to be addressed.

At such a scaling, addition remuneration may only apply to the top two grades.

Performance Appraisal for Senior Executives

I l. For senior executive positions, such as the Director of SPREP, the same general
principles and procedures are involved, whereby key objectives are identified antd some
measure of success attributed to the executive's performance in meeting those.

12. The two main functions of perfonnance appraisal are:
o developmental
. evaluative

13. For the developmental function, the performance appraisal aims to help the
executive to recognise the areas where fuither development may be needed and ensuring a

strategy is put in place to meet those needs. In the case of the evaluative function, the
appraisal is undertaken so the appropriate level of (additional) remuneration and/or
promotion can be determined.



Developmental Evaluative
Focus On inprovement in future

nerformance
On past performance

Objective Improve performance through self-
leamine and srowth

Inprove performance by more effective
reward administration

Method Smaller, focussed steps such as

manasement bv obiectives
Variety of rating and ranking rnethods

Role of Supervisor To counsel. heln or euide To iudee. to evaluate

Role of subordinate Active involvement in learning Passive, reactive, often defensive ofself
and actions

r4.
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The major differences can be summarised thus:

15. Many senior executive appraisal schemes, particularly in the private sector, are

focussed on the evaluative (remuneration) function. Performance can be assessed by the
use of outside indices, such as staff turnover, meeting budget targets or new funding
attracted.

16. The difficulties of these approaches can be readily appreciated. Ilowever,
approaches where organisational performance is taken to reflect senior executive
performance does seemingly remove many of the personal elements from the evaluative
process. This approach can be justified on the basis that the senior executive group is in
place to take the organisation on a particular course (as charted in the Programme of Work
and Budget and the Strategic Prograrrrmes) and additional remuneration is justified by
measuring progress against the markers such plans provide,

17. Management of performance at very senior levels of public sector organisations
such as SPREP tends to be a customised mix of developmental and evaluative factors,
with an emphasis on the free flow of communication between the Director and the
Members, as well as considering if he or she has kept the organisation on track and

productive. There will always be a degree of subjectivity in these assessments. This is

inevitable whenever human beings interact.

Recommended Approach

18. That the members of SPREP agree:

annual basis;

above;

the Director and initiate the performance review process outlined above;

basis.

04 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC RECIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROGRAMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, New Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 9.3 : Report by the Director on Staff Appointments
Beyond Six Years

Purpose of Paper

1. To report to the Meefing that Mr Sefanaia Nawadra has been reappointed to the position
of Marine Pollution Adviser for another 3 year term after he had served at SPREP for 6 years.

Background

2. StaffRegulation 13 (0 and (g) on Appointment Procedure, require:

"(0 Subject to Regulation 13(g), a fixed term appointment of three years for
professional staff is renewable, based on the needs of SPREP, and the merit and
performance of the employee, for a further period not exceeding three years.

(g) When an aggregate period of six years has been seryed by professional staff it shall
be mandatory for that position to be re-advertised. The incumbent is eligible to
apply and should the Director decide to reappoint the incumbent on rnerit he/she
may do so provided a report is made to the next SPREP Meeting."

3. Mr Nawadra's second successive 3 year contract expired in September 2005. In
accordance with the provisions of the Staff Regulations the post was advertised about 5 months
before the expiry of his contract. Mr Nawadra reapplied to the post along with 19 other
applicants. The Secretariat constituted a selection panel comprising of the Corporate Services
Manager as Chair, 2 other senior professional staffand an independent member from outside the
Secretariat. The Panel successively narrowed down the number of eligible candidates to a short
list of 5 and then to 3 top candidates for face-to-face interviews. On being notified of the
interviews, one of the 3 candidates withdrew his application and the 4ft ranked was then invited
but he too declined the invitation citing change of plans. After a comprehensive interview
process (about I hour to I hour 45 minutes for each candidate) the 4 Panelists were unanimous
that Mr Sefanaia Nawadra was the best candidate for the post. Mr Nawadra was reappointed for
a further 3 year term

Recommendation

3. The Meeting is invited to:

04 July 2006
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SECRETARIAT OF THE PACIFIC REGIONAL ENVIRONMENT PROCMMME

Seventeenth SPREP Meeting
Nournea, Neu Caledonia

11-15 September 2006

Agenda ltem 9.4: Appointment of Auditor

Purpose of Paper

1. To seek the Meeting's approval of the appointment of Auditors to audit the accounts
of SPREP for the financial vears 2006 and 2007.

Background

2. Financial Regulation 29 requires the Meeting to "appoint biennially, one or more
Auditors in no way connected with the Secretariat on such terms as it sees fit".

3. The SPREP Meeting in 1998 decided that the audit tender be advertised locally and
regionally. Accordingly, the Secretariat advertised for tenders both locally and regionally for
the audit of its 2006 and2007 accounts.

4. Tender criteria required the firms to demonstrate that they have:

r substantial experience in the audit of international organisations or similar
regional organizations ;

. qualified personnel to undertake the audit assignment;
o demonstrated in its proposal that it would be able to conduct the audit in a

competent and professional manner; and
o a competitive quote for the conduct of the assignment

5. Three tender proposals were received, all from Samoa. Two of the three tenders fully
satisfied the required criteria regarding extensive audit experience with regional or similar
organisations, qualified personnel and demonshated ability to conduct the audit in a

competent and professional manner. The firms and their relevant backgrounds are as follows:

(a) Betham & Co. Originally operated under the name of Coopers & Lybrand and
maintain an audit reporting/working relationship with other international audit
firms. Had been the auditors for SPREP for 8 years. It had also conducted audits
for other similar regional organisations.

Betham and Co. quoted USD6,000 p.a. for each of 2006 and 2007 to do the audit.
It's quote is based on an audit assignment concentrating on controls over
disbursement of funds. The quote is also based on a total audit time of three
weeks divided into two visits - one prior to year end and a final visit after year
end. While the Secretariat is confident of the credentials of the Principal of the
Company, its quote did not speciff other professional staffto assist in the audit.
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(b) Lesa ma Penn. Maintains audit links with KPMG FUi, Price Waterhouse
Deloitts Coopers Pamell Kerr Forster and Arthur Anderson, some of the well-
known auditing firms and has conducted audits for the Government of Samoa;
multinational and regional organisations and has been the auditor for the
Secretariat for the last 4 years.

Lesa ma Penn's quote is USD7,225 for each of 2006 and2007. While rnarginally
higher than Betham and Co's quote, it is in fact lower than the current audit fee

for our 2005 accounts. Its fee quote is based on a continuation of the current
arrangement with the Secretariat where when needed they visit at any time of the
year for consultations and checks but no less than 3 times 

^year. 
In their quote

they have not only detailed the extensive credentials and experience of their
Principal Partner assigned to SPREP but also qualifications of the 18 professional
staffof the firm among whom three are chosen to assist the Principal in our audit.

6. Given the broader scope and demonstrated competence of Lesa ma Penn in their bid
for the SPREP audit and its fee being slightly reduced, the Secretariat recommends that Lesa

ma Penn be appointed to audit the Secretariat's accounts for 2006 and 2007.

Recommendation

7. The Meeting is invited to:

accounts for the financial vears 2006 and2007.

27 Ju,ly 2006



'Name of Tonderer

Betham & Co
Fees Fin. Audit
(including 1 5o/o VAGST)

lncidentals
Total

Lesa ma Penn
Fees Fin. Audit
(including 157o VAGST)

Incidentals
Total

AUDIT TENDER QUOTES

usD
,6,000

nil
6,000

USD
7,00:

225
7,225
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6,000

USD
7,00:

225re

2007
Currengy

usp
6,000

2006
Cunency


